
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
City Council Chambers, 33 East Broadway Avenue Meridian, Idaho 

Thursday, July 01, 2021 at 6:00 PM 

All materials presented at public meetings become property of the City of Meridian. Anyone desiring accommodation 
for disabilities should contact the City Clerk's Office at 208-888-4433 at least 48 hours prior to the public meeting. 

Agenda 
Scan the QR Code to 

sign up in advance to 
provide testimony. 

Public Hearing process: Land use development applications begin with 
presentation of the project and analysis of the application by Planning Staff. 
The applicant is then allowed up to 15 minutes to present the project. Then, 
members of the public are allowed up to 3 minutes each to address 
Commissioners regarding the application. Any citizen acting as a 
representative of a Homeowner’s Association may be allowed up to 10 
minutes to speak on behalf of represented homeowners consenting to yield 
their time to speak. After all public testimony, the applicant is allowed up 
to 10 minutes to respond to questions and comments. Commissioners may 
ask questions throughout the public hearing process. The public hearing is 
then closed, and no further public comment is heard. 

 

VIRTUAL MEETING INSTRUCTIONS 

To join the meeting online: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86868138292 

Or join by phone: 1-669-900-6833 
Webinar ID: 868 6813 8292 

ROLL-CALL ATTENDANCE 

____ Nate Wheeler        ____ Andrew Seal        ____ Bill Cassinelli    

____ Nick Grove        ____ Maria Lorcher         ____ Steven Yearsley 

        ____ Rhonda McCarvel, Chairperson 

ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 

1. Approve Minutes of the June 17, 2021 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting 

2. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Popeyes Drive-Through (H-2021-0030) by 
Erik Wylie of JRW Construction, LLC, Located at 6343 N. Linder Rd. 

3. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Topgolf (H-2021-0033) by Arco/Murray, 
Located at 948 S. Silverstone Way 

1



ITEMS MOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 

ACTION ITEMS 

4. Public Hearing for Orchard Park Pad C Drive-Through (H-2021-0039) by Mandi 
Brozo of CSHQA, Located at 1245 W. Chinden Blvd. 

A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a dual drive-through for a multi-tenant 
establishment within 300 feet of an existing drive-through on 1.47 acres of 
land in the C-C zoning district. 

5. Public Hearing for DaVinci Park Drive-Through (H-2021-0037) by NeuDesign 
Architecture, Located at 4744 N. Park Crossing Ave. 

A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment for a 
coffee kiosk within 300 feet of an existing residence and residential district on 
1.19 acres of land in the C-N zoning district. 

6. Public Hearing for TM Creek Apartments Phase 3 (H-2021-0035) by Brighton 
Corporation, Generally Located South of W. Franklin Rd. and East of S. Ten Mile Rd. 

A. Request: Rezone of 5.58 acres of land from the TN-C to the C-G zoning 
district.  

B. Request: A Conditional Use Permit for a multi-family development 
consisting of 238 apartment units (including 2 live/work units) on 7.83 acres 
of land in the C-G zoning district. 

7. Public Hearing Continued from June 3, 2021 for Woodcrest Townhomes (H-2021-
0015) by Blaine A. Womer Civil Engineering, Located at 1789 N. Hickory Way 

A. Request: Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map to 
change the future land use designation on 2+/- acres of land from the 
Commercial to the Medium High-Density Residential designation.  

B. Request: Rezone of 2.10 acres of land from the L-O (Limited Office) to the R-
15 (Medium High-Density Residential) zoning district. 

ADJOURNMENT 

2



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Approve Minutes of the June 17, 2021 Planning and Zoning Commission 
Meeting

3Item 1.



Meridian Planning and Zoning Meeting                                                 June 17, 2021. 

     

Meeting of the Meridian Planning and Zoning Commission of June 17, 2021, was called 

to order at 6:00 p.m. by Chairman Rhonda McCarvel. 

 

Members Present: Chairman Rhonda McCarvel, Commissioner Andrew Seal, 

Commissioner Nick Grove, Commissioner Maria Lorcher and Commissioner Nate 

Wheeler. 

 

Members Absent:  Commissioner Bill Cassinelli and Commissioner Steven Yearsley. 

 

Others Present:  Adrienne Weatherly, Ted Baird, Caleb Hood, Sonya Allen, Joe Dodson, 

and Dean Willis. 

 

ROLL-CALL ATTENDANCE  

  

 __X___ Nate Wheeler   ___X___ Maria Lorcher  

 __X___ Andrew Seal         ___X___ Nick Grove  

 ______ Steven Yearsley    _______ Bill Cassinelli        

     ___X____ Rhonda McCarvel - Chairman 
 
McCarvel:  Good evening and welcome to the Planning and Zoning Commission for June 
17th, 2021.  The Commissioners who are present this evening are at City Hall.  Period.  
We also have staff from the City Attorney and Clerk's Offices, as well as city Planning 
Department.  If you are joining us on Zoom this evening we can see that you are here.  
You may observe the meeting.  However, your ability to be seen on screen and talk will 
be muted.  During the public testimony portion of the meeting you will be unmuted and, 
then, be able to comment.  Please note that we cannot take questions until the public 
testimony portion.  If you have a process question during the meeting, please, e-mail 
cityclerk@meridiancity.org and they will be able to help you as soon as possible.  If you 
simply want to watch the meeting this evening, we encourage you to watch the streaming 
on the city's YouTube channel.  You can access it on meridiancity.org/live and with that 
let's begin with roll call.   
 
ADOPTION OF AGENDA  
 
McCarvel:  Thank you.  First item on the agenda is the adoption of the agenda.  Could I 
get a motion -- and we have everything on the agenda as presented.  Could I get a motion 
to adopt the agenda?   
 
Seal:  So moved.   
 
Grove:  Second.   
 

4Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 2 of 31 

 

McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to adopt the agenda.  All in favor say aye.  
Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  SIX AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item]  
 
 1.  Approve Minutes of the June 3, 2021 Planning and Zoning   
  Commission Meeting 
 
 2.  Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Gramercy Commons (H- 
  2021-0023) by Intermountain Pacific, LLC, Located at 1873, 1925, and  
  2069 S. Wells Ave. 
 
 3.  Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Meridian Middle School  
  Cafeteria Addition (H-2021-0032) by Lombard Conrad Architects,  
  Located at 1507 W. 8th St. 
 
McCarvel:  The Consent Agenda this evening, we have approve the minutes for the June 
3rd, 2021, Planning and Zoning Commission and Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law 
for Gramercy Commons, H-2021-2023 and Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for 
Meridian Middle School Cafeteria Addition, H-2021-0032.  Could I get a motion to accept 
the Consent Agenda?   
 
Seal:  So moved.   
 
Grove:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to accept the Consent Agenda.  All those in 
favor say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
ITEMS MOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 
 
McCarvel:  And so at this time we will briefly explain the public hearing process.  We will 
open each item individually and, then, begin with the staff report.  Staff will report their 
findings in how the item adheres to our Comprehensive Plan and Unified Development 
Code.  After staff has made their presentation the applicant will come forward and be 
present and -- to present their case and respond to staff comments.  They will have 15 
minutes to do so.  After the applicant has finished we will open the floor to public 
testimony.  Each person will be called on only once during public testimony.  The Clerk 
will call the names individually of those who have signed up on our website in advance to 
testify.  You will, then, be unmuted.  Please state your name and address for the record.  
You will have three minutes to address the Commission.  If you have previously sent 
pictures or a presentation for the meeting, it will be displayed on the screen and our Clerk 

5Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 3 of 31 

 

will run the presentation.  All those who have signed up in advance, once -- after all of 
those who have signed up in advance have spoken we will invite others who may wish to 
testify.  If you wish to speak on a topic you may press the raise hand button on the Zoom 
app or if you are listening on the phone, please, press star nine and wait for your name 
to be called.  If you are listening on multiple devices, a computer and a phone, for 
example, please, be sure to mute those extra devices so we do not experience feedback 
and can hear you clearly.  When you are finished, if the Commission does not have 
questions for you, you will be muted and no longer have the ability to speak.  Please 
remember we will not call on you a second time.  After all testimony has been heard, the 
applicant will be given another ten minutes to come back and respond.  When the 
applicant has finished responding to questions and concerns, we will close the public 
hearing and the Commissioners will have the opportunity to discuss and, hopefully, be 
able to make a final decision or recommendation to City Council as needed.  
 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
 4.  Public Hearing Continued from June 3, 2021 for Topgolf (H-2021-0033) 
  by Arco/Murray, Located at 948 S. Silverstone Way 
 
  A.  Request: Conditional Use Permit for an outdoor recreation facility on 
   11.56 acres of land in a C-G zoning district to include extended hours 
   of operation from 8:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m., seven days a week, abutting 
   a residential zoning   
 
McCarvel:  At this time we will -- the first item on the Action Items is continuing the public 
hearing for H-2021-0033, Topgolf, and we will begin with the staff report.   
 
Allen:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Give me just a moment here to get the presentation up.  
The first application before you tonight is a request for a conditional use permit.  This site 
consists of 11.56 acres of land.  It's zoned C-G.  Located at 948 South Silverstone Way.  
The Comprehensive Plan future land use map designation is mixed use regional.  A 
conditional use permit for an outdoor entertainment recreation facility with a 
nonpermanent outdoor stage and music venue on 11.56 acres of land in a C-G zoning 
district, to include extended hours of operation from 8:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m., seven days a 
week, abutting a residential zoning district.  Although the subject property abuts a 
residential zoning district to the east, the residential homes have been removed by the -- 
by the developer for future expansion of the mixed use development to the west, 
Rackham Subdivision.  Therefore, the extension on the hours of operation will not 
adversely affect abutting residential uses as there are none.  In fact, the closest residence 
is approximately 918 feet to the south of the driving range.  As you can see from the map 
here, you can see the site.  All of these properties to the east that are selected have been 
cleared of residential homes.  So, this is now vacant property that will eventually be part 
of this commercial development.  If you can see my pointer here, this is the nearest 
residential lot to the site.  The outdoor stage is proposed to be located in the patio space 
and that is the area here with the star on it, which will seat 71 people and will be fully 
enclosed by an eight foot tall fence.  During the summer months the stage is anticipated 

6Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 4 of 31 

 

to be used about once a week in the afternoons until the venue closes.  Performances 
will be limited to small musical acts and no additional sound equipment will be used for 
any performances.  All music will be channeled through the building's integrated sound 
system.  If an extension of the hours of operation is approved, the use is still subject to 
the city's noise ordinance.  Access is proposed from East Talons View Lane, a private 
street along the southern boundary of the site from, Silverstone Way, a collector street, 
from Overland Road.  East Talons View Lane ends approximately 200 feet west of the 
east property line and is not proposed to be extended at this time.  There is a public street, 
South Rolling Hill Drive, just off site from the subject property to the east that is 
constructed as a local rural street, with 24 feet of pavement, and does not have curb, 
gutter, sidewalk or streetlights.  That -- I will just go back to this.  That shows the street a 
little better.  This north-south street is what we are talking about here, Rolling Hill, and 
that comes out to Overland Road on the south end.  It provides access to the remaining 
homes in Rolling Hill Subdivision and dead ends in a cul-de-sac at the north end.  
Because South Rolling Hill Drive currently serves residences and is not improved to urban 
standards, i.e., there is no sidewalk, curb, gutter or streetlights, it has a narrow pavement 
width, staff recommends access be prohibited to the Topgolf site via South Rolling Hill 
Drive, until such time as improvements are made that are deemed appropriate by ACHD 
and the city.  All vehicular access, including construction access, should be taken by the 
private street, Street A, from South Silverstone Way until such time.  Parking is proposed 
in excess of UDC standards.  A minimum of 74 spaces are required.  A total of 275 spaces 
are proposed.  Conceptual building elevations were submitted as shown for the proposed 
structure.  Building materials consist of EFIS and metal in a variety of colors, glazing, and 
composite paneling.  Final design is required to comply with the design standards in the 
architectural standards manual.  Written testimony has been received from Amy Wattles 
and Michael Bowers.  They are both against any access to the site from Rolling Hill Drive.  
Again there is no access proposed to the site from Rolling Hill Drive and the staff report 
does prohibit access until improvements are made to the street Rolling Hill that are 
acceptable by the city and ACHD.  So, that's a non-issue.  Written testimony was also 
received from Paul Straits, Arco/Murray.  He is the applicant and he is in agreement with 
the conditions in the staff report.  Staff will stand for any questions.   
 
McCarvel:  We will go ahead and move on to the applicant.  If they would like to come 
forward.   
 
Allen:  They are on the phone.   
 
McCarvel:  On Zoom?   
 
Allen:  Yes.   
 
Straits:  I'm Paul Straits with Acro/Murray.   
 
McCarvel:  Please state -- name and address for the record and the floor is yours.   
 

7Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 5 of 31 

 

Straits:  My name is Paul Straits and I'm at 3201 North Seminary Avenue, No. 211, in 
Chicago, Illinois.  60657.  And so, as I said, I'm Paul Straits, I'm with Arco/Murray and we 
are a Topgolf partner in development in general contracting and on behalf of Topgolf I 
would like to thank you all for the opportunity to discuss this project with you tonight and 
express how excited we are to be entering Boise -- in the Boise market here in Meridian.  
Honestly, Boise is one of the top most requested markets that Topgolf gets from all of its 
fans, so we are glad to finally be here and we are excited to share this with you.  A little 
bit of background.  Topgolf started in the UK and -- oh, I apologize.  Am I able to share 
my -- my -- my screen with you?   
 
McCarvel:  Yes.  Our clerk will fix it here for you.  There you go.   
 
Straits:  Got it.  Okay.  Apologize.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  Paul, we can see your screen.   
 
Straits:  Wonderful.  Thanks for that confirmation.  So, Topgolf started in the UK back in 
2000 with a simple idea of being able to track your golf ball with an implanted microchip 
and/or 20 years later it has become a go to for families and friends to socialize around an 
active outdoor game all year round.  Topgolf technology allows technology -- in the way 
that it's constructed it allows the game to be played all year long, rain or shine, and so 
anytime you have a craving to hit some balls, Topgolf is going to be open for you.  It's self 
driven, as you know, and there are various different games that you can play beyond just 
hitting balls to the target to keep kids and everybody entertained all day.  So, Topgolf 
provides -- prides itself, excuse me, on being -- on establishing itself with a -- as a local 
in the community with many community forward -- forward initiatives, such as free access 
to high school golf teams during the day, themed spirit nights for families, discounts and 
specials for military heroes and partnerships with -- with charities, like Make -- Make A 
Wish, Hope of Honor and more.  Economically Topgolf is also excited to bring 200 -- 
approximately 200 positions to Meridian once the venue is open and about 150 
construction jobs while the venue is being constructed.  Beyond that it expects to bring 
about a hundred -- up to a hundred million in economic output over the first ten years of 
the venue being open in Meridian as well.  Been ranked as one of the top workplaces 
nationally and it is a -- an absolute magnet for other businesses in the area.  So, we are 
excited to be a part of this BVA development here.  As you -- as you saw earlier, the site 
plan looks like this.  We have parking for up to 275 vehicles and the building here is 
comprised of the -- the back of house area and the dining and bar area here.  A patio 
space to the front and, then, along this curve we have all of the -- what will be called the 
tee line, all of the golf bays.  Out here, obviously, is the outfield with all of the targets that 
you aim for, as well as a couple of screens out in the outfield that shows some Topgolf 
specific imagery and are angled directly towards the building and are not particularly 
visible from -- from anywhere else outside of the outfield.  Additionally, we have a lighting 
system that is integrated into the building itself and shines only into the outfield from the 
building.  There is no outfield lighting that -- that lights up from beyond the building, which 
we will take a look at in a second, as well as the sound system was mentioned to be only 
from the building itself.  So, it's fully integrated.  Any bands or musical artists that come 

8Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 6 of 31 

 

in and have their small concerts on the patio are channeled through the building and that 
is all designed to be contained within the building itself.  Also saw this a little bit earlier 
and this shows a little bit about what these net poles look like.  They have been designed 
to withstand various degrees of wind and can be taken down in the event of emergency.  
If ever winds get too heavy, as well as being designed to be as transparent as possible, 
so they are really not going to be as noticeable as a -- as a -- as a big white net that you 
would expect.  Here is a quick look at the floor plan.  Probably a little too small to tell, but, 
as I said, this is your bar and dining area.  Back of house areas with kitchen and, then, 
the tee line here with some VIP bays at the end.  Second level similar.  Back of house, 
office spaces, and tee line there.  As I mentioned, this lighting system is very specific and 
has been honed over the years of the Topgolf development and we always strive to meet 
every condition that the community puts forward and the lighting is designed specifically 
to each -- each venue to reduce the glare and the spill off of the site.  This image here 
shows how large these LED lights are.  There are about four or five of them at this venue.  
So, it would not be -- we don't -- like I said, we are not using metal halide lights out in the 
outfield like it would be -- like a high school football field.  It's very specific and channeled 
just to see as far as you need to.  Similarly, here is a map of what the noise looks like 
coming from the venue.  Again, very concentrated just to this area and beyond the net 
poles is -- is really not at all discernible.  No -- no more so than -- than typical city -- city 
sounds.  And, of course, we always comply with local ordinances and requirements and 
the sound levels are always able to be controlled at all times by -- by venue management.  
Then beyond that, alcohol safety is a big -- a big thing for Topgolf.  The -- the associates 
are all trained to deal with any customers that have overserved themselves and are 
trained to refuse service to anyone that has been and they also provide plenty of security 
services during the peak times as well.  So, everything is -- is controlled very -- very 
closely and -- and everyone is trained to be very -- very attentive to all of the hitting bays 
and anybody that's been served.  So, that's a quick rundown of the Topgolf concept and 
project that we are excited to bring here to Meridian.  At this point I think Sonya has 
covered much of the specifics here.  We are looking to have our business hours extended 
to 2:00 a.m.  That's typical for all Topgolf and allows a variety of different customers to 
visit throughout the day and really keep the entertainment going and give a place for -- 
for community members to come and -- and have that act of socializing, you know, later 
at night versus going to a nightclub or -- or the like.  And as well as the -- you know, the 
noise ordinance and all of those things, we are, again, butting up to a residential district, 
but those will all be rezoned here in the future with BVA developments to add to their -- 
their subdivision development here.  So, we expect to not be in anyone's way in any way, 
shape, or form.  So, I appreciate the time today and I would love to entertain any questions 
that you may have.   
 
McCarvel:  Do -- do we have any questions for staff or the applicant at this time?   
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 

9Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 7 of 31 

 

Seal:  Just real quick.  The light pattern in there is -- it seems like it's directed towards the 
freeway.  Is that something that staff took a look at or is that something that -- I mean I 
know they have a system that's supposed to mitigate that, but it seems like it's kind of 
pointing right at the freeway.   
 
Straits:  Yeah.  So, the -- the -- the lights are mounted on this curved tee line and shine 
out into this -- into the outfield here, but, really, as you can tell from that map they are only 
-- they are angled down towards the -- towards the ground and are only lighting up about 
this far into the outfield.  So, the lights -- obviously, you will see them from the freeway, 
but they are designed specifically for this venue and any venue that is along a roadway 
to reduce glare and, again, focus down towards the ground versus anywhere else.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  Our westbound traffic shouldn't have issue.   
 
Seal:  I hope not.   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  I'm -- I'm asking, I'm not -- 
 
Straits:  Oh, yeah.  No.  No.  Excuse me.  No.  Westbound traffic will have no issue.  
Again, the lights, of course, will be visible, you will see that the venue is lit up, but it is not 
shining anywhere outside of the venue.   
 
McCarvel:  Any other questions?  Okay.  At this time, then, we will take public testimony.  
Madam Clerk, do we have anybody signed up to testify on this application?   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, we have a couple people signed in.  Lynette Adsitt.   
 
McCarvel:  If -- you will -- you will need to come to the microphone to -- yeah.  You can 
certainly ask questions.  You can -- but you need to come to the microphone.  And state 
your name and address for the record.   
 
Adsitt:  Hi.  I am Lynette Adsitt.  Live at 1360 South Topaz Avenue.  I did have a couple 
questions.  They mentioned that the music is only going to be once a week.  Is that for 
how long?  I mean that's, obviously, probably going to change.  Have an answer on that.  
And also what is the capacity.  How many people?   
 
McCarvel:  We will let the applicant address questions.  Is that all you have?   
 
Adsitt:  For now.   
 
McCarvel:  Well, you can't come back, so --  
 
Adsitt:  I think so.  I did have a question -- well, on the noise ordinance.  So, what -- can 
you enlighten me on what -- is it 10:00 o'clock at night?   

10Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 8 of 31 

 

McCarvel:  We will let staff address that in a minute, too.   
 
Adsitt:  And does that mean -- does that mean the music's got to stop?   
 
McCarvel:  She will address it after you are done.  Yeah.  So, you have three minutes to 
ask or say whatever you want to say.  That's it?   Okay.   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, the same with Donna McDonald.  You had a question mark, 
too.   
 
McCarvel:  All right.   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, that's all we had signed in.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  If that's everybody that signed in, is there anybody else in the room or 
on Zoom that would -- that did not sign in that would like to testify on this application?  
Certainly.  Some forward.  State your name and address for the record, please.   
 
Blowers:  My name is Michael Blowers.  I live at 1285 South Rolling Hill.  I don't want to 
misquote anything.  I do find it a little insulting that -- that it's an irrelevant issue that Rolling 
Hill is not part of this plan.  I think -- hopefully everyone here is aware that the development 
-- the future use is that Rolling Hill will connect to the development, which will, obviously, 
then, connect to Topgolf and it becomes extremely relevant for us, because we will be 
dealing with 2:00 a.m. liquor license traffic coming in front of our house, along with, you 
know, reduced easement -- well, the easement will be taken over.  So, I mean as close 
as 30 feet to our front door to aim traffic.  That's very relevant to me and the other people 
on Rolling Hill.  So, I would like to know -- I mean I'm glad Topgolf is coming.  I will 
probably be their number one customer and I'm excited for it, but what I'm hoping for is 
some answers as to why can we not make Rolling Hill an emergency access only.  Are 
there any other solutions available for this?  Is there anything that we can do to mitigate 
speed?  I don't know if anyone's been on Rolling Hill Drive.  It's a third of a mile 
straightaway with zero mitigation and while it may not be relevant right now, it is going to 
become an issue in the future when it does connect and I have lived there a year and I 
have seen people going in excess of 60 miles an hour down our street, especially people 
who are not aware of -- they are just not thinking.  They -- they don't necessarily have, 
you know, ill intentions or anything.  I mean speed signs aren't, obviously, going to fix this,  
but I mean safety has already been mentioned once.  It's, obviously, an issue for us, as 
well as noise.  Is there any alternative?  This is a question for anyone.  An alternative for, 
you know, wasting city resources calling for speed traps every single day, because I 
guarantee that's going to happen.  We have already had to do it with the development 
that BVA has put forth.  We have all made several calls, both to the contractor and 
everything, and -- I mean just some other things to think about.  It's -- I know personally 
I'm raising four cows and it's an agriculture -- there is a goat farm across the way.  I mean 
trailers pulling in and out all the time.  It's a very odd entrance.  I know people don't seem 
to think that it will be used, but if you are coming east to west on Overland I can't imagine 

11Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 9 of 31 

 

that you wouldn't use Rolling Hill Drive quite a bit to access Topgolf once it's available.  
So, thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  And go ahead and start -- but I will have Sonya chime in on this, but my 
understanding is -- I don't think it meant to be insulting, I think it meant to be that Rolling 
Hill Drive will not be part of this until it is improved at such time -- I mean they wouldn't 
use it as anything -- even construction traffic while it's in the current state.  I will let Sonya 
address your questions.   
 
Allen:  Thank you, Chairman, Commissioners.  Yes, it's -- it's not a hard -- or it's not an 
access or construction access for this development.  However, when the property to the 
east comes in for development, then, that is the time when this discussion should take 
place.  More so.  Sir, we can't testify from the -- from the audience, but it's -- it's not a part 
of this application, so it's not something that we can deal with or condition with this 
application.  It will be with the next application.  So, please be a part of that process.  In 
response, if I could real quick, Madam Chair, to the hours of -- or the -- excuse me.  The 
hours of the noise ordinance -- the city's noise ordinance.   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.   
 
Allen:  That is between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m. and there are certain 
specifications within that ordinance that they have to comply with, just as -- as any 
business or any residence within the city.  So, it's not necessarily that they have to stop 
their music at 11:00, but it can't cause a disturbance as defined.   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, we have one person online.  A Tonn Petersen.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.   
 
Petersen:  Yeah.  Hi.  Thank you, Madam Commissioner.  Tonn Petersen with BVA 
Development at 2775 West Navigator Drive in Meridian, Idaho.  Just wanted to express 
our support, of course, from BVA and, actually, Sonya really just -- I raised my hand 
virtually and, then, Sonya really just addressed what I had intended to -- to testify.  As far 
as Eagleview Landing, phase two, which is the -- the houses -- the 13 most northern 
houses that were previously part of Rolling Hill Avenue, those have been purchased and, 
then, demolished by BVA and phase two will be coming through on a separate application 
for annexation and rezone and as part of that process right now we are conducting the 
traffic study, which, of course, will be submitted and -- to ACHD and -- and the ingress 
and egress issues that were raised by the -- the gentleman there, those -- those are all 
being worked through ACHD now and we will be -- we will be happy to bring that 
application in to the city I think within -- well, certainly within 30 days.  So, I had raised my 
hand to provide that commentary and we are certainly in support of Topgolf's application 
here today.   
 
McCarvel:  Thank you.  Any other question -- or anybody else wish to testify on this 
application?   

12Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 10 of 31 

 

Seal:  Madam Chair, just a quick question for the applicant that he's talking about, when 
that's noticed that will be noticed directly on Rolling Hill Drive?  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  With that would the applicant like to come back and address the questions 
that have been raised -- or back -- or on Zoom.   
 
Straits:  Yep.  Yeah.  Thank you for all of the questions and comments.  In terms of the 
music venue stage on the patio, the intention is that it would be used likely once a week, 
maybe a couple times more than that when the weather is good, but I would like to point 
out that the -- the patio area has seating for roughly 70 people and there is no intention 
to increase that.  So, the -- so, you know, that's sort of just to give you an example, that 
this patio area and the -- the stage will be very small and will host very small acts that will 
not be creating very large scenes and very large performance and, again, all of that music 
is -- is channeled through the -- through the building system itself, which is designed to 
be very contained within the property, so you are not going to have anybody -- any of 
these crazy rockers bringing in any sort of amps or anything of their own.  It will be very 
contained no matter -- no matter what's playing.  So, I think -- I don't remember there 
being any other questions and Sonya answered the noise ordinance and that is 
something that, obviously, we will take very seriously, as Topgolf does at all of their 
venues, any -- any reports and complaints are handled as -- as is needed and, you know, 
the music will continue beyond that 11:00 o'clock hour and being next to the freeway and 
fairly -- fairly far away from -- from anything else at this point I anticipate that it will be 
fairly agreeable for everybody when the time comes.   
 
McCarvel:  Thank you.   
 
Straits:  And I really appreciate your time and for allowing me to discuss this project with 
you and, as I said, we are very excited to be a part of the community and looking forward 
to working with you all very soon.   
 
McCarvel:  Paul, I think we had another question -- one of the questions brought up was 
about capacity.  I know you mentioned it for the patio, but if you could expand on the 
capacities a little bit.   
 
Straits:  Sure.  The capacity at this point is -- there are 16 hitting bays and we anticipate 
there being six people at each bay and so we have yet to have a full set of architectural 
drawings done for this -- let me do my quick math.  Likely about 500 people.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  And that's at the golfing tees, not in the restaurant, bar, patio areas; 
right?   
 
Straits:  No.  That's all.  I did math for -- for all of that.  So, that would be 360 at the tees.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  Any other questions for the applicant or staff from the Commission?  
Okay.  So, then, at this time could I get a motion to close the public hearing for item H- 
2021-0033?   

13Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 11 of 31 

 

Seal:  So moved.   
 
Grove:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to close the public hearing for H-2021-0033.  
All those in favor say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
McCarvel:  Who would like to open the comments on this one?  Who is going to be        
there --  
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  Go ahead, Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  Just looking at the plan and the concept and everything I really like it.  It's tucked 
in -- you know, in a place that's probably a good place for it.  A good placement of it 
anyway.  A little concerned on the lighting part of it.  I mean even though the lights aren't 
going to be shining out to the freeway, they are still visible, so it's probably more like a 
ballpark where you can see the lights, but they are not impacting any of the drive -- your 
driving conditions.  The -- I mean it seems like it's going to be a good venue.  I have been 
to a Topgolf before and they are -- it's -- it's pretty good entertainment for sure.  I know 
there is a lot of people that golf in our community.  To be able to do activities year around 
would probably be something that would be good for our community.  You know, again, 
it seems like it's in a place that's going to be good as far as not interrupting or, you know, 
displacing anything that's -- already hasn't been displaced.  As far as the Rolling Hill Drive, 
it's -- that's -- I understand that it's going to be brought up in a separate meeting, but it is 
-- you know, understand that that is a -- that is a road that's controlled by ACHD.  So, 
make sure to go to their hearings on it, so you can get more information on it, because 
they -- unfortunately, the City of Meridian doesn't control the roads, ACHD does.  So, we 
have to operate with them in partnership in order to make sure that the roads are designed 
in such a way to handle the traffic that's going to be going on them and by the time it gets 
to us it's -- they have often spoken, unfortunately, so -- but, again, as far as this application 
goes, I think it's going to be a good addition to our community.  I think there is a lot of 
people that definitely want to go there.  I will be one of them, if it does come in and it goes 
to fruition.  Other than that I have no other comments.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  Commissioner Wheeler, you had your --  
 
Wheeler:  Yes.  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a question for staff.  If we 
can go to that one slide that -- I think you said that it was 900 feet from the Topgolf to that 
corner.  I think that's what you said the distance was on that.   
 
Allen:  It's almost a thousand.  It's just a little under.   
 

14Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 12 of 31 

 

Wheeler:  Okay.  And it was to that --  
 
Allen:  To -- oh.   
 
Wheeler:  Somehow I can't see that.  Okay.   
 
Allen:  So, from this point right here is the nearest residence to -- right up around in here.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  What about the -- the residential houses off of Onyx that's just due south 
of that site?  Yes.  Are those --  
 
Allen:  It's about the same distance.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  And are those also occupied by -- have those been demolished or 
anything like that or -- 
 
Allen:  No, they are residential homes.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  Okay.  My only -- my only concern is the 2:00 a.m. time frame, especially 
next to where there is some rural residents and we could -- we could make a -- Paul, are 
you still there?  Or is this the time not to bring that in?  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  So, we could -- 
we could still do something along the line of approving this, but limiting the hours; correct?  
Is that correct, Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  We can make that recommendation -- well, it's a CUP, so that would be the     
-- yeah.  But I mean regardless of their hours they would still have to abide by the noise 
ordinance regardless of how long they are open.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  I'm just thinking more than, though, just the proximity to other rural and 
-- like one of the gentlemen here mentioned that there is -- he has got some cattle and 
there is a goat farm and things of that nature, just the -- just the noise coming up or just 
the activity there until through 2:00 a.m., so -- those are just my only thoughts.  But I'm 
also -- I'm also really concerned more about the fact that I live only a mile away from this 
site and that means that I'm probably going to be able to get there after dinner and spend 
a lot of hours there and I'm probably going to get your platinum membership and, then, I 
probably will get a better golf score, but I am just a little bit concerned on those aspects 
of it.   
 
McCarvel:  Any other question from the Commission?  Commissioner Grove?   
 
Grove:  I'm not as concerned with the time aspect.  I personally live a lot closer than 918 
feet to the nearest 2:00 a.m. place and I don't see issues with it.  I think that they have a 
good reputation of being able to handle the layout and should be able to adhere to what 
they have proposed.  I don't see anything in this that negates or necessitates changes.  
So, I'm in favor of moving forward with this.   
 

15Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 13 of 31 

 

McCarvel:  Okay.   
 
Grove:  If anybody else doesn't mind, I will just go and make a motion.  Is that okay?  All 
right.  After considering all staff, applicant, and public testimony, I move to approve file 
number H-2021-0033 as presented in the staff report for the hearing date of June 17th, 
2021, with no modifications.   
 
Seal:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to approve H-2021-0033.  All those in favor 
say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
 5.  Public Hearing Continued from June 3, 2021 for Popeyes Drive- 
  Through (H-2021-0030) by Erik Wylie of JRW Construction, LLC,  
  Located at 6343 N. Linder Rd. 
 
  A.  Request: Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment  
   within 300-feet of an existing drive-through on 1.0 acres of land in  
   the C-G zoning district. 
 
McCarvel:  Next item on the agenda -- we will continue with H-2021-0030, continued from 
June 3rd of 2021, Popeye's Drive-Through, and we will begin with the staff report.   
 
Dodson:  Sorry.  Give me a second to pull everything up, please.  There we go.  All right.  
Thank you.  The application before you is for a Popeye's drive-through.  It is for a 
conditional use permit request.  The site consists of one acre of land currently zoned         
C-G.  It's located at 6343 North Linder, which is the southwest corner of Chinden and 
Linder.  There is existing C-C zoning to the north and east.  A commercial development 
already exists to the north and the Winco exists to the east, not yet open.  Very close from 
my understanding, but -- the whole Orchard Park, also known as Linder Village project, 
is under construction to the east.  C-G zoning is to the south and the west and there is 
already existing buildings there, except for the lot directly to the west, which is under the 
same ownership as this property, but has not yet developed.  The proposed drive through 
is for a 2,325 square foot Popeye's Louisiana Kitchen Restaurant.  It is within 300 feet of 
a separate drive-through, which is to the south.  Therefore, requiring the conditional use 
permit.  It is also subject to the specific use standards 11-4-3-11 -- or dash four dash three 
dash 11.  The subject site is located within the mixed use community future land use, 
which contemplates generally at least three land uses for every project.  However, with a 
site that's only one acre in size it's generally not feasible.  Mixed use community also 
discusses looking beyond the site and within the whole mixed use community area in 
order to meet many of the policies as it is a mixed use designation.  So, when you look to 
the south, the west, across Chinden and Linder, there is plenty of uses within the area 
that are both existing and planned and with the proposed use of another restaurant staff 
does find that it meets the mixed use community future land use designation.  Originally 

16Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 14 of 31 

 

the site plan on the left was proposed.  Staff had some recommendations to change that 
and we did not initially support that.  Therefore, the applicant requested continuance so 
that we could discuss the revisions that was recommended and since, then, the applicant 
has revised the site plan as per the memo that was addressed to the Commission late 
last week.  The site plan has been revised as seen on the right.  With the revisions made 
staff does support the site plan and finds that the project and proposed drive-through 
meet the specific use standards.  In general, the -- the site plan was basically flipped 
north-south and east-west to make it as simple as possible, still keeping the double drive 
through and minimizing some of the conflicts that were shown on the original site plan.  
Largely the original site plan contemplated the north drive aisle, which is here, basically, 
and they will be constructing across the shared ownership lot here.  It contemplated this 
being as the main.  Staff finds that the southern one will likely be more utilized and, 
therefore, people will come in from the south and, then, around and utilize both this here 
as an escape lane and to the south as they pick up their food and getting it out, as noted 
here.  Like I said, essentially, the site was just flipped east-west and north-south.  There 
have been no written testimony for this and staff does recommend approval of the subject 
CUP and I will stand for any questions.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  At this time would the applicant like to make their presentation?   
 
Wylie:  My name is Eric Wylie.  I live at 3584 South Bear Claw Avenue in Meridian.  
Madam Chair, Members of the Commission, thank you for meeting with us tonight.  We 
are excited to bring this CUP project before you.  We think it's a good fit for the land.  
Good use of that hard corner at Chinden and Linder.  Not much I can say that Joe didn't 
say already.  We met with staff after our original plan and changed it to meet their 
conditions.  One thing I would like to add is that the lot is currently one acre.  The plan is 
shown at .8 acres.  So, given your approval we will do a lot line adjustment to make it that 
.8 acres and I stand for any questions.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  Any questions for staff or the applicant?  Okay.  Thank you.  Madam 
Clerk, do we have anybody signed up to testify on this application?   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, we do not.   
 
McCarvel:  With that being said, is there anybody in the room or on Zoom that has not 
signed in that would like to testify?  And I'm assuming, then, you have no more comments.  
Okay.  Therefore, could I get a motion to close the public hearing on H-2021-0030?   
 
Wheeler:  So moved.   
 
Seal:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to close the public hearing on H-2021-0030.  
All those in favor say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 

17Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 15 of 31 

 

McCarvel:  We get a straightforward one and I think -- since they have worked with staff 
and made the adjustments to better flow I think this is pretty straightforward and -- unless 
anybody has any other comments or objections, we would stand for a motion.   
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  After considering all staff, applicant, and public testimony, I move to approve file 
number H-2021-0030 as presented in the staff report for the hearing date of June 17th, 
2021, with no modifications.   
 
Grove:  It has been moved and seconded to approve H-2021-0030.  All those in favor say 
aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.  Congratulations.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
 6.  Public Hearing for ACHD Ustick Maintenance Facility (H-2021-0029) by 
  Engineering Solutions, LLP, Located at 3764 W. Ustick Rd. 
 
  A.  Request: Annexation and Zoning of 30.27 acres of land with a  
   request for the I-L zoning district for the purpose of constructing an  
   Ada County Highway District (ACHD) maintenance facility on 23.7  
   acres. 
 
McCarvel:  And now we get to open one.  We will open -- find out which one we are going 
to open here.  Item No. H-2021-0029, ACHD Ustick Maintenance Facility, and we will 
begin with the staff report.   
 
Dodson:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  This item before you tonight is for an annexation and 
zoning tied to the development plan.  The site consists of 23.7 acres of land, currently 
zoned RUT, located at 3764 West Ustick Road, which as you can see is approximately a 
half mile west Ten Mile on the north side of Ustick.  To the north is the Five Mile Creek 
and north of that and, more importantly, is the wastewater recovery facility, city owned, 
and is I-L zone.  To the east is a segment of Nine Mile Creek, which -- let me go ahead 
and just show you that one.  To the east is Nine Mile Creek, as well as a C-C zone -- or 
C-N zoned property, which is actually a city owned property, and is a future well and water 
site -- water tank site.  South -- to the south is Ustick Road and, then, obviously, the 
existing R-4 and single family detached residential.  To the west is RUT and county 
agriculture residential.  The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as mixed use 
nonresidential.  I would like to note out of the gate that the request for annexation and 
zoning is with the I-L zoning district.  It is for 30.27 acres, but as noted, this other site is 
only 23.7.  The applicant is doing the city of favor and annexing the irrigation area of the 
Nine Mile and Five Mile Creek, so that we do not have county enclaves in those areas.  
So, we do appreciate that.  The proposed use for this ACHD maintenance facility falls 
under the public utility major within our development code.  The project is proposed over 

18Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 16 of 31 

 

multiple phases from this year through 2028 and includes a number of different elements 
of the site, that just to be general, include a -- decant wash out area, broom shed, salt 
shed, truck washing scales, admin building, sleep building, and covered and uncovered 
storage areas.  Since the publication of the staff report the applicant has provided staff 
an updated phasing plan, consistent with the analysis within the staff report and 
discussions between staff and the applicant.  The major changes were moving the decant 
and washout area, which is noted here.  It was originally within the floodplain.  Moved it 
out of the floodplain, which is appreciated as well, and there is an existing home on site 
that was going to be used as a temporary office.  That is no longer the case.  No longer 
the plan.  Before I get into the site plan in more detail, I did want to talk about the future 
land use designation, because it's very important for this site.  Mixed use nonresidential 
is the future land use.  The purpose of this designation is to designate areas where new 
resident -- nonresidential.  Sorry.  Yeah.  New residential dwellings will not be permitted, 
as residential users are not compatible with the planned or existing uses in the area.  
Specifically for this site this mixed use nonresidential areas adjacent to the city's 
wastewater recovery facility as noted, which is a heavy industrial use and should be 
buffered from residential.  Appropriate uses in this designation would include employment 
centers, professional offices, flex buildings, warehousing, industry, storage facilities and 
retail and other appropriate nonresidential uses.  The proposed use of this maintenance 
facility falls into these nonresidential uses that are noted and are ideal for this future land 
use designation, because it will act as a buffer between the existing residential lot on the 
south side of Ustick and the wastewater recovery facility.  The applicant is proposing to 
install solid fencing and the required landscape buffers adjacent to Ustick and the existing 
county residents directly to the west, in addition to a new public collector street segment.  
If the property to the west develops in the future as a nonresidential use, which is called 
for on the future land use map, that also includes that property.  The buffer proposed for 
this application along the west boundary should act as an adequate transition between 
the uses.  Despite the problem with noise associated -- associated with a maintenance 
facility such as this, adequate landscaping and separation from existing residences by 
Ustick Road, as well as the landscape buffers, they do offer appropriate separation and 
should mitigate the noise from trucks and machinery.  In addition to the project itself, the 
hours of operation are an important factor in determining if it fits in this location.  The 
applicant has stated the plan uses -- or planned hours of operation are Monday through 
Friday, 7:00 a.m. to 5:30, like a normal site.  There will likely be occasional late nights 
during emergency situations.  During the summer the applicant has also stated that chip 
seal operations require some weekend hours, but should be within the normal daytime 
operating hours as well.  Staff, nor the applicant -- applicant can foresee emergency 
situations, so it is not feasible to mitigate every possibility associated with this use.  Due 
to the likely minimal late night operation staff believes the proposed development 
agreement provisions and screening methods will be sufficient in mitigating any noxious 
consequences of the proposed use.  Therefore, staff finds the proposed maintenance 
facility to be generally consistent with the comp plan.  There is an existing county 
residence on the property as noted.  The applicant -- and that is no longer occupied.  The 
applicant has noted that it is going to be sold and removed from the site, instead of being 
used as a temporary office.  Therefore, the existing driveway access to Ustick will be 
closed.  The proposed use is a permitted use within the requested I-L zoning district, but 

19Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 17 of 31 

 

it's also subject to specific use standards.  Staff's analysis finds that the proposal is 
consistent with the specific use standards, as well as the dimensional standards of the I-
L zoning district, except for one element and that is the street setback for I-L zoning 
districts to roadways.  It's 35 feet.  The admin building shown in the southwest corner is 
shown at the 25 foot setback, so they will have to shift that east ten feet.  Part of the 
screening methods used for this project is fencing.  The applicant is proposing fencing -- 
eight foot tall chain link fence -- chain link fencing along the north and east boundaries, 
with two feet of barbed wire above that along -- and this fencing is also proposed to be 
coated in a colored and rubberized material.  Along the west and south property 
boundaries the applicant is proposing an eight foot tall Trex fence, which is a solid fence.  
The proposed Trex fencing is being strategically proposed to offer the most screening 
and buffering to the existing residences to the south and to the west, for that matter.  Eight 
foot tall fencing is allowed within the I-L zoning district and per the height definition of 
fencing, barbed wire is not included in the height measurement and is also allowed within 
the I-L zoning district.  Access is proposed via construction of a new collector street that 
aligns the Naomi Avenue to the south, which is this here.  The applicant is proposing to 
construct that as a three lane 52 foot wide street section within 74 feet of right of way, 
with five foot detached sidewalk on the east side, which is their site of Naomi.  When the 
property to the west redevelops they will be expected and required to complete the street 
with sidewalk on their side.  The submitted plan show this new road to terminate about 
halfway into the site and terminate in a temporary hammerhead type turnaround.  ACHD 
has offered their approval of the proposed Naomi Avenue extension and termination on 
the north side of Ustick Road.  Off of Naomi Avenue the applicant is proposing two 
driveway accesses for access into the facility and they both will be gated.  Staff supports 
the proposed access and road improvements, which do include a deceleration lane along 
Ustick.  Lastly, utilities for this site should be discussed.  Sewer services are not currently 
available to the site.  Therefore, the applicant is also requesting a Council waiver to delay 
connection to city sewer.  Water is readily available.  It is not entirely clear at what point 
utilities will be available or needed for this site, but due to the phasing and lack of sewer 
availability at this time, the applicant has not submitted any utility plans at this time.  For 
future development the applicant will be required to submit these plans and continue 
coordinating with the city to connect to public utilities, including water, for irrigation 
purposes for the required landscape buffers.  The applicant is having ongoing discussions 
with the city engineer to make a decision and come to an agreement on the best path 
forward for the sewer needs and timeline of this project.  This is expected to be resolved 
prior to the City Council hearing.  Staff is -- and -- staff is less worried about handling it 
right now, because there is the expectation this will be handled prior to City Council.  The 
applicant and myself, we have had discussions with the city engineer, we just haven't 
quite made the final decision on what the alternatives will be at this time.  Also within the 
staff report I already have DA provisions that will help the city maintain our -- I guess you 
could say power in the utility -- providing utility to the site.  Therefore, staff does 
recommend approval of the requested annexation and zoning and the proposed use and 
I will stand for any questions.   
 
McCarvel:  At this time would the applicant to come forward.   
 

20Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 18 of 31 

 

McKay:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Commission.  I'm Becky McKay with 
Engineering Solutions.  Business address 1029 North Rosario in Meridian.  I'm here this 
evening representing Ada County Highway District and the application that's before you.  
Joe, do you want to cue up my --  
 
McCarvel:  It's up on our screens and it's up on --   
 
McKay:  Oh.  Nobody turned it on?  Okay.  That's cool.  I can go ahead.  As Joe indicated, 
Ada County Highway District has purchased this particular piece of property.  It's 
approximately 20.75 acres in size.  When we did pre-app with the city, as Joe indicated, 
there were a couple of enclaves, which encompassed the Five Mile Creek to the north 
and Nine Mile Creek, which had not been annexed into the city, so they asked us to do 
the city a favor, include that in this annexation request and within our exhibits and legal 
description.  So, that's why what you see before you is 30.27 acres.  The primary use for 
this particular project will be for an ACHD maintenance facility.  They will have 
administrative office, fleet maintenance, parts and weld shop, broom drainage, trucks 
storage buildings, salt and sand shed.  Truck scales, truck wash building, decant area, 
fuel tanks, which will be above ground, covered storage, magnesium tanks and employee 
parking and, then, some open material storage at the site.  Their plans for this particular 
site are eight phases, starting in 2021 and going until 2028.  We have submitted to your 
staff a phasing plan, so the staff could look and see what those phases would look like.  
One of the key things that the district wanted to do was, obviously, start establishing that 
perimeter landscaping along Ustick Road, which is a minor arterial and get that vegetation 
growing and -- and meet all the requirements for adequate arterial buffering.  North is 
your Meridian wastewater treatment plant.  This particular piece of property is within the 
influence area where you have the wastewater treatment overlay zone, so no residential 
uses or any uses that may have problems coexisting with your wastewater treatment plant 
are allowed.  So, ACHD looked at this particular site and said, you know, this -- this, 
obviously, is a good area for this type of use.  The city has purchased the land just to the 
east of us.  There will be a future water tank and well on that property and, then, in this 
particular area we have a mixture of uses, single family.  Wilkins Ranch, and Dakota 
Ridge are to the south.  I did both those subdivisions a long time ago.  They are on the 
south side of Ustick outside of that radius.  McNelis Sub is to the east of us.  I did that 
one.  That has a mixture of retail and it has a C-store and a variety of uses that can 
coexist.  There is mini storage in the area.  So, this is kind of a hodgepodge area, but 
north of Ustick everything needs to be compatible with that wastewater treatment plant.  
We did have a neighborhood meeting on this particular property.  We had three people in 
attendance.  All three of them were glad that this site's being utilized for this type of use.  
No one was opposed to the project.  Primary concerns were landscaping and as far as 
adequate buffering and, then, they wanted to know when Ustick would be improved and 
widened.  Here is the overall phasing plan that we provided to the staff.  Kind of shows 
you what the site looks like.  Obviously, we wanted to make sure that we oriented the 
building next to Ustick Road, consistent with your Comprehensive Plan and your 
commercial design guidelines, where it says, you know, put your -- put your buildings up 
next to the arterials, internalize your parking or -- and the uses that are more intensive 
are, obviously, further north into the site, closer to the treatment plant.  There are two 

21Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 19 of 31 

 

existing maintenance facilities that Ada County Highway District has in the valley right 
now.  One is, obviously, down on Garden -- at Garden City on Adams.  The other one is 
over at Cloverdale Road and -- what is it -- Emerald and so there is a definite need in this 
valley for something out in the western portion in the Meridian area with the -- with the 
rapid growth, to provide adequate services and maintenance for ACHD facilities.  As -- 
so, there is an aerial.  You can see the wastewater treatment plant is, obviously, the 
predominant use.  This kind of shows you -- it's turned on its side, so -- so north is to the 
left.  You can see that we kind of did a colored site plan.  That was to give the Commission 
and the staff kind of a better idea of this conceptual plan and I want to emphasize that 
this is a conceptual plan only for the benefit of this annexation.  Obviously, the highway 
district will hire an architect who will, then, obviously, come in, do the actual design of the 
structures and this site plan is, obviously, subject to change, but we wanted to give the 
Commission an idea of what it would look like, so you can see that we kind of have an L 
storage structure, the administration building, and, then, the parts and shop are kind of 
along that Ustick corridor.  We have two approaches.  The highway district will build 
Naomi, which is a collector roadway to the north.  It will terminate eventually.  It will go on 
to the west serving the adjoining property.  Right now the adjoining property on the west 
side is a residence.  An elderly woman lives there.  The district has talked to her, has 
talked to her son about the -- the use here.  That property cannot develop as residential, 
it would have to be some type of a compatible light industrial or commercial use also if it 
were to redevelop in the future.  Since that residential use does exist we were required 
by staff to provide a 25 foot landscaped buffer adjacent to Naomi and adjacent to that 
property to provide adequate buffering.  One of the things that we did with this particular 
site is everything in here as far as parking is concerned is a pull through to minimize the 
backup beepers.  This site, obviously, will operate, you know, kind of standard hours, 
starting around 7:00, 7:30 in the morning until 5:30.  However, during the winter months 
the crews do the snow and maintenance of our roadway network.  During the snowy 
season can be called out in the middle of the night to come and get these -- the -- the 
trucks, the plows, the -- the salt and -- and sand trucks and take them out and do their 
maintenance purposes.  Also as Joe indicated, in the summer months the chip seal crews 
may be out on the weekends getting things done.  One of the things that was brought up 
to us was your pathway committee indicated that they had retained TO Engineers to 
design a pedestrian multi-use pathway along Five Mile Creek.  So, we did get a CAD file 
from the city's consultant.  We did incorporate it into this site.  The staff report indicates 
that ACHD will construct the ten foot wide multi-use pathway adjacent to Five Mile Creek, 
but it would only be for their frontage and there was some discussion in there about -- 
they would also construct the bridge.  That is not the case.  The bridge is off site.  That's 
part of the city parks department project for making connection to the multi-use pathway 
that we designed and constructed in McNelis Subdivision and, then, connecting to this 
multi-use pathway.  We would have some type of more -- we talked to the pathway 
committee about installing some trees and fescue, because we don't want to have like a 
manicured type five foot buffer adjacent to that multi-use pathway.  We would have a 
chain link.  It would be coated and colored, so it doesn't look -- you know, so I guess steel 
looking like chain link does and, then, for the district's safety of their -- of their equipment 
and the public safety, that fence would be eight feet and, then, it would have like a barbed 
wire top.  We did provide some picture of some Trex fencing that would be built along the 

22Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 20 of 31 

 

western edge and, then, would be built along Ustick.  We utilized that fencing to buffer 
the site, but, however, since these -- some of these buildings -- buildings will be under the 
commercial design guidelines, we don't want -- if the building looks aesthetically great we 
don't want it, obviously, fenced off and not visible to -- to that Ustick corridor.  This -- this, 
like I said, is the phasing plan.  You can see the district's going to kind of take steps as 
they go along, as their budget allows, to start developing this site.  We broke it down into 
different sections, so they will be storing some materials on the northern boundary in 2021 
and, then, you see they -- on 2022 they come in and they established that landscape 
buffer.  They will be -- they are going to widen Ustick.  They will put a 300 foot turn lane 
and, then, build the Naomi collector.  Naomi to the south is also a collector.  When I did 
those subdivisions there is an elementary school.  So, it is anticipated that that will be a 
signalized intersection.  ACHD will signalize that intersection.  There are two approaches 
to Naomi.  They have no direct lot access to Ustick.  Those will be gated.  We have 
enough room where we have inset the gates a significant amount, so that a semi truck or 
a large truck could pull in and they wouldn't block any traffic in Naomi when it finally 
connects and goes onward to the west.  You can see they will have a decant center.  They 
have -- as these different -- these colors change, those represent what they are going to 
be building, so they will have above ground fuel tanks.  We are in a flood way, in a 
floodplain, so we did locate any of the uses that would conflict with the floodplain or the 
floodway, they will be required to, obviously, get a floodplain permit from the City of 
Meridian and meet all the FEMA requirements.  So, this -- oops.  This kind of shows you 
what the finished site looks like.  One of the things that I wanted to address was the 
utilities.  Right now there is a 12 inch water main in Ustick Road.  In meeting with your 
staff they have indicated that there is adequate water supply to provide fire flow to this 
site.  Right now this is in the North Black Cat sewer trunk shed and that Black Cat sewer 
is in a subdivision approximately 2,600 feet to the northeast.  So, one of the -- the 
alternatives that we talked to the Public Works Department about -- I did chat with Warren 
Stewart about was the possibility -- there is sewer right down in Ustick at the intersection 
-- where is my pointer?  There is sewer down in Ustick here, but there is not enough depth 
to sewer this property.  So, one of the options that we have used -- that's the Ten Mile 
Trunk, so it goes over to the east to Ten Mile and, then, into the plant.  One of the 
alternatives that we have used in other instances where we have encountered this 
situation -- if, by chance, the highway district phasing accelerates and they need to build 
that administrative building or build the shop, they need -- obviously, need central sewer 
and restrooms.  We put in what we call a grinder pump with a small wet well.  Falls under 
the plumbing code.  And, then, we build a small pressure line and it runs back to the 
nearest manhole.  That would just be an interim alternative way of sewering back into 
Meridian, then, when that trunk becomes available, then, we will be able to make 
connection to it.  So, we are going to try to work out some of the details with Warren.  
Obviously, we don't have any civil engineering plans on the site at this time, since this is 
conceptual in nature only.  This is the existing home that's on the property.  Initially when 
we submitted application they were going to use it as a temporary interim administrative 
building.  That plan has since kind of gone by the wayside.  It's difficult to convert single 
family into commercial use where you have got to meet ADA and bring it up to the 
commercial codes.  So, my understanding is they will be selling the home and it will be 
moved off of the site.  You can see the Ustick corridor currently.  It's just two lanes.  There 

23Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 21 of 31 

 

is no curb, gutter, or sidewalk.  We will be installing a 35 foot landscape buffer -- or a 25 
foot landscape buffer.  The buildings will be set back 35 feet north and, then, a detached 
walk and, then, widening and a turn lane.  This is -- this is a view to the west.  The property 
-- the majority of it's in agricultural production.  There is a small house -- or the home they 
are on a small little bit that -- with lawn and trees.  This is the eastern boundary, the 
common boundary with the City of Meridian's property that they intend to put a water tank 
and a well.  So, we feel that -- that this is a compatible use.  It's consistent with your 
Comprehensive Plan.  It's a public use.  Will benefit the community of Meridian and ACHD 
is committed, like I said, with an eight year plan to start developing this site as their budget 
allows.  This is the Trex fencing that -- that we talked about using aesthetically and be 
very pleasing, be compatible with that adjoining residence to the west and we would use 
it if -- in between buildings to, obviously, secure the site and to create a visual barrier.  
Here is the -- kind of architectural color coded fencing.  They come in different colors, 
browns, greens.  The greens I like better, because they kind of blend in with landscaping.  
The district is here this evening.  I have three representatives, Heather, Lloyd and 
Jennifer, that if the Commission has any specific questions to ask of them they are here 
to answer those.   
 
McCarvel:  Any questions for staff or the applicant at this time?   
 
Wheeler:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Wheeler.   
 
Wheeler:  Thank you for your presentation.  I have one question.  If we can go back to 
the slide we were talking about the phasing.  If I saw that correctly, it looked like the decel 
lane off the road is not to happen until -- not scheduled to be phased in until 2024?   
 
McKay:  I think the rebuild of Ustick is scheduled for 2024 from Ten Mile to Linder.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.   
 
McKay:  So, they would be making those improvements at -- instead of going in and just 
doing an interim improvement and scabbing onto the existing payment, they would be 
going in and doing a rebuild in 2024.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  And, then, I'm also looking at the phasing on this.  If we go back to 
phase one it looks like it's just going to be lightly used up to that point.   
 
McKay:  Yes.   
 
Wheeler:  It's just got a gravel area there that's --  
 
McKay:  Quarter -- some three-quarter piles that they may use out in the Meridian area.   
 

24Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 22 of 31 

 

Wheeler:  Okay.  And, then, if we go to phase two -- I'm just trying to make sure -- so, you 
-- I hope we can kind of put the pieces together.  I'm just concerned that all of a sudden 
you are going to have larger trucks that are going to be blocking up a two way -- two lane 
country road that doesn't have a decel lane to get out of the way and, then, you are going 
to have problems with passing or even entering and stuff like that.  So, with that being 
phased in for another three years after the site's developed and ready to use, that's just   
the -- that's kind of the concern here.   
 
McKay:  Madam Chair, Commissioner Wheeler, the -- the district in this phasing has 
always indicated to me that this is their best guess and so, obviously, when -- when they 
start utilizing the site where they are going to need a lot -- generate a considerable amount 
of truck traffic, that's, obviously, going to have to coincide with some improvements out 
there.  I can have Lloyd -- Lloyd, do you want to address that?   
 
Carnegie:  Hello.  Commission.  Lloyd Carnegie.  Maintenance manager of ACHD.  Do I 
need to give my address?   
 
McCarvel:  Yes.  
 
Carnegie:  3775 Adams Street, Garden City.  83714.  So, the phasing strategy is the first 
couple phases is just kind of development of the site.  We won't be basing our operations 
out of that site at first, because we still have to phase in equipment, manpower, and that 
will be -- will be housing out of Cloverdale shop until this site's developed enough that we 
have to start moving our operations to that, which would be once the Ustick Road has 
been developed and the lane and the intersection.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  Madam Chair, while -- while he is up there --  
 
McCarvel:  Yes, Commissioner Seal.  Come on back.  
 
Seal:  I was -- I was going to say, it was mentioned 2024.  Just right from the ACHD report 
on this project it says 2026 to 2030 is when that road will be developed.   
 
Carnegie:  In the integrated five year plan --  
 
Seal:  And I -- and I live in this mess that is Ustick and Black Cat, so --  
 
Carnegie:  I believe that we are looking to accelerate it in our integrated five year work 
plan, which I believe is going to be going before our Commission, so our hopes is to get 
that accelerated, so that it would be designed in '22, with right of way in '23 and 
construction in '24.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I have -- share the similar -- and, again, I live right in this 
area, so I -- my son takes the bus on here.  He doesn't actually go to Ponderosa, but I 

25Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 23 of 31 

 

can tell you that it is -- it's -- it's a mess.  I mean -- but when you get buses and trucks and 
everything else in there it's -- it becomes kind of a nightmare.  So, just a question for staff 
is is there -- can we condition it in any shape -- way, shape, or form that --  
 
Dodson:  Madam Chair?   
 
Seal:  Because I'm concerned we have -- you know, we have heavy trucks that are going 
to be competing with buses and everything and -- I mean the section that you are building 
in Naomi is actually wider than Ustick is right now, so that's -- to me that's a huge concern.   
 
Dodson:  Madam Chair, Members of the Commission, Commissioner Seal, that -- you 
can recommend an additional condition or DA provision that limits -- I would say their -- I 
guess their initial build out when they can start utilizing the site.  I will say that within the 
DA provisions already I do have that they will construct the multi-use pathway segment 
on the north, the detached sidewalks along Ustick and Naomi, the five foot micro path on 
the west side and the landscape buffers with the first phase.  So, there is the expectation 
and a requirement for them to construction those improvements and buffering with the 
first phase.  But I did not say that they couldn't do the gravel and paved open storage until 
the road was widened.  So, if you -- Commission can recommend that, obviously, the 
applicant could, can, then ask Council to remove it or they may keep it, but Commission 
has the power to recommend an additional provision, yes.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  I guess if that's the direction we are going do you want to have a little more 
conversation about phasing and how -- the traffic in the initial phase?   
 
Seal:  Yeah.  Absolutely.  I mean at what phase do you see large trucks coming in and 
operating in that area?  I mean as far as -- and -- and -- yeah.  And, again, the concern is 
just the competition of traffic there.  It's already really crazy.  I mean it's -- it's just the -- 
the road is a parking lot at certain times of the day.  Most roads in our area are, but more 
-- you know, more so in this -- this particular area and with you sharing that, you know, 
the arterial street Naomi with -- you know, across the street, getting that signalized and 
getting that improved would definitely be something that I would want to see before any      
-- before we have competing traffic, especially with heavy trucks.   
 
Carnegie:  We take that account.  Definitely.  We wouldn't want our trucks having to try to 
get onto Ustick without that signalized intersection, because it would just be very difficult 
and unsafe.  I believe our initial plan, if all goes well, is phase four is when we would start 
basing some operations out there, once we actually have the drainage shed, our broom 
shed where equipment actually can be stored, materials could be stored and that's also 
in line with when Ustick hopefully will be widened in that intersection.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.  Appreciate that.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.   

26Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 24 of 31 

 

Carnegie:  Is that --  
 
Seal:  We want to make sure you get your steps in tonight, so --  
 
McCarvel:  Any other questions for staff?   
 
Grove:  Madam Chair, I don't know who would answer this, but was there consideration 
on using that Trex fencing along the northern boundary adjacent to the pathway?   
 
Dodson:  Commissioner Grove -- or Becky.   
 
McKay:  Madam Chair, Becky McKay.  We have to have non-sight obscuring fencing next 
to the pathway for safety purposes, so we have visibility on the multi-use pathway.  So, 
that's why they didn't want it.   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Wheeler? 
 
Wheeler:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Another question here for staff.  On the decel lane 
does it always have to be paved?  Is that something that's a requirement on that?   
 
Dodson:  That might be more of a question for ACHD, sir, but --  
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  I was curious what you might see.   
 
Dodson:  In general we -- it has to be able to hold -- usually a fire truck is what it's always 
rated, so we would want it paved, yes.  It's not something we would say, yeah, we are 
going to throw gravel on the shoulder and watch the trucks tip over.  It might be fun to 
watch, but not very fun to clean up.   
 
Wheeler:  Well, obviously, that's not what I'm wanting, but it's about to that level, so -- 
 
Dodson:  Yes, sir.  No, it should be paved, yes.  And graded correctly.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  And, then, how -- I have a question for the applicant here.  How high is 
that Trex fencing or the paneling going to be that's on the south side of the property?   
 
McKay:  Madam Chair, Commissioner Wheeler, it's eight feet.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.   
 
McKay:  That's -- that's the -- the tallest fence you can have in an industrial zone.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  I do have a question for you, Becky.  I'm almost sure of the answer, 
but I just want to double check.  You said there -- this is -- it could be revised after you 

27Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 25 of 31 

 

get the architects going, but the plan, obviously, would still be to have the buildings up by 
Ustick and the usage -- the storage usage in the back, obviously.   
 
McKay:  Yes.  Madam Chair, we spent -- I spent multiple -- multiple months with the district 
going back and forth touring their -- their existing sites and, then, giving them my 
recommendations based on the fact that -- that the city likes to have those buildings 
oriented up toward this -- towards the arterials, so -- so, I don't -- I don't see that changing.  
They bought off on that as, yes, that makes sense to us.  We want to have a -- our 
administrative building look good.  We want the Ustick corridor to -- to be attractive, so, 
yeah, they bought into that.  So, I don't -- I don't see that changing.  It would just kind of 
be -- you know, the internal things might shift a little bit.  But this -- this represented all of 
the uses they intend for the site.   
 
McCarvel:  Thanks.  I just wanted to clear that on the record.  Thanks.   
 
Dodson:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  Joe.   
 
Dodson:  Just to clarify that even further, the -- I did require in the DA that the -- because 
it's an I-L zone, have to go through design review for any non-residential uses; right?  I 
required that they have the -- meet the commercial standards, rather than the industrial, 
which will help with that on Ustick, which the applicant -- they are fine with that.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.   
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  Quick question for staff.  The -- the pathway they are constructing, it does need a 
bridge.  Is there an indication from parks when that bridge will be put in.  Are they going 
to do it at the same time or will that be coordinated?   
 
Dodson:  Commissioner Seal, Members of the Commission, I have not been told their 
timing on that, but my -- my assumption is that because we will have this little segment 
missing that they will want to do that as quickly as possible, because it will create a nice 
loop from Ustick all the way around the property through the McNelis Subdivision to get 
up to Ten Mile.  So, my assumption is that they will want to do that as soon as possible, 
as soon as this segment is in.  But I have not been told specifics, no.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McKay:  And, Madam Chair, Commissioner Seal, when -- when the district installs Naomi 
with the detached sidewalks here -- so, we will have detached walks along Ustick, 
detached walks along Naomi, then, I also included in our 25 foot buffer a five foot path -- 

28Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 26 of 31 

 

micro path that runs down and connects to that ten foot multi-use pathway.  So, we will, 
obviously -- when that is signalized, then, people south of Ustick can get safely to the 
multi-use pathway via the signalized intersection.   
 
McCarvel:  Okay.  Thank you.  Any other questions for staff or the applicant?  Okay.  
Madam Clerk, do we have anybody signed in to testify on this application?   
 
Weatherly:  Madam Chair, we do not.   
 
McCarvel:  That being said, is there anybody who does wish to testify, please, raise your 
hand.  With that, does the applicant have any further comment?  Okay.  Can I get a motion 
to close the public hearing on H-2021-0029?   
 
Seal:  So moved.   
 
Lorcher:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to closed the public hearing on H-2021-
0029.  All those in favor say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  I will start out.  I have already thrown my concerns out there.  I do think we should 
provision this somehow to make sure that we are not getting truck traffic before the road 
is widened.  It sounds like they want to accelerate that schedule, which I am more than 
happy to hear reported here, because it definitely means that -- that that region is -- that 
area road is -- is tough.  So, I think we should probably provision something in there to 
make sure that -- make sure that the phase four coincides with the road widening.  I am 
extremely happy that they are doing what they are doing with the pathways there.  As 
somebody that rides that path three times a week, as I go to work and back, can tell you 
that that is an amazing addition, especially when that gets signalized, because there is 
no safe way to cross Ustick there.  You have a -- it's a beautiful path that dead ends on 
one of the unsafest stretches of road imaginable.  I'm less concerned about the noise and 
operation of it.  I think enough people will understand -- and even if there is a little bit 
generated there, I think enough people -- myself included -- will understand, you know, 
what having that presence there means, you know, when we get inclement weather or 
snow -- we have another Snowmageddon, our road is going to be taken care of first.  So, 
that's a very nice thing, considering that we were kind of in one of those little squeeze 
alleys where I don't think anybody liked to drive that road, so very good to know that that's 
-- that's there and, you know, the maintenance is going to be there and the growth of the 
city is going to be -- you know, help with services like this that are going to be readily 
available within -- within the areas that are having explosive growth right now.  That is 

29Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 27 of 31 

 

about all I have.  Like said, I'm -- I'm happy to see this come in, so my only -- only 
hesitation on it is just needing the road to be widened before we really get some heavy 
truck traffic in there.   
 
McCarvel:  I would -- I would tend to agree with that and I do want to mention -- I do 
appreciate the comment on the thought that went into making this more of a pull through,  
so you don't have the backing up.  As much beeping.  So, yeah, I think it's a great use for 
the space in this area and a nice transition with the office areas at the front.  Any other 
thoughts?  Commissioner Grove.   
 
Grove:  I don't see any issues with how it's been presented and the discussion that we 
have had so far.  I think having that -- getting the landscaping there and kind of making, 
you know, something like this looks nice from the street as much as possible is great, but 
this is a good use of that space, especially if -- if you have toured the -- the wastewater 
treatment plant you don't want to be downwind of that too much, so I applaud you for 
taking that on.  But this is a good use of that space.   
 
Wheeler:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Wheeler.   
 
Wheeler:  Yes, I think this is a great use of this space here.  I like the way that it all has 
the drive aisles moving forward, keeping things moving in a good direction and it does 
help out -- one of our Commissioners commutes here with this road there, so -- no, just 
kidding with that.  But I do like the fact that there is not a lot of the backup and I like the 
way that it's phased, too.  But, still, there is going to have to -- the way that I'm kind of 
seeing this even on the phasing side is there is still going to be larger vehicles that are 
going to have to come by that's going to -- that are going to have to, you know, grade, 
excavate, move, pave, things of this nature still on a two lane road and I just think it's 
good to get them off of the main flow before, you know, something happens and I know 
that they can, you know, patch up the street if they need to or make it -- you know, seam 
it into the next extension on it, but that would be some sort of discussion or talk about 
how to have a decel lane there, either before, you know, operations open or during even 
the -- some of the more major construction side of things and I don't know exactly how to 
phase -- or phrase that in a motion on this of what we have the parameters to do.  Staff, 
do you have any input on that or --  
 
Dodson:  I'm thinking.  I might be able to give you something.  One thing Commissioners 
could use is you can just recommend that we work with the applicant on some verbiage, 
as well as, you know, applicable to the city as what we can and can't enforce.  That's 
really the key point there is we are able to condition something, but how do we really 
enforce it when it comes to the improvements.  They -- we don't do grading permits here,  
so for them to grade the site and move dirt around and start that, they are --  they can do 
that.  There is nothing to stop them.  Which, obviously, you get a grader out there, you 
are already going to have a truck -- going to have a big truck out there.  So, I understand 
your concern.  My point is just that it would have to be associated with something that 

30Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 28 of 31 

 

triggers a permit where, then, we can look at it, which I already have some discussion of 
that in my staff report within the provisions for when they have to do the first certificate of 
zoning compliance, which would be first site improvements, quote, unquote, which would 
be paving, that's an improvement.  Anytime they are going to pave the site is going to 
trigger a certificate of zoning compliance, which, then, now the city has the ability to 
condition things or check that previous conditions have been met.  So, the verbiage could 
-- could be worked out.  I would say -- I would ask that you just leave it a little open for 
staff to have our ability to work with the applicant, as well as other staff to figure that out.   
 
Wheeler:  Sure.  Okay.   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Lorcher?    
 
Lorcher:  I live in that area as well, Madam Chair, and we -- we actually have property at 
Ustick and McDermott.  There is hundreds of large trucks going by Ustick every day 
between Owyhee High School, all the subdivisions that are going out on McDermott and 
McMillan, and ACHD is putting a traffic light in at Black Cat and Ustick.  They are getting 
ready to put turn lanes in at Ustick and McDermott for anticipation of traffic for the high 
school.  So, the fact that there are already big trucks enjoying their Jake brakes all day 
long up and down Ustick and those of us who work and live over there are very used to 
that and you just -- it's just a work around, you know, for Commissioner Seal and his 
family, you just kind of figure it out.  I don't have a problem with the phasing in of the 
trucks.  ACHD is not going to bring their traffic in until they are ready to do so.  But to -- 
to expect that there is no big truck traffic on Ustick right now is -- it's there.  It's already 
here and -- and it's -- and, then, I -- and, then, 2022 is when ITD is going to be starting 
Highway 16, so there will be more.  So, this is just going to be part of this part of the 
community for the next eight years really.  So, they know the roads better than anyone 
and how to move their equipment around and I -- I have no problem with how this is being 
presented, without any modifications.  But I will support whatever you feel that you want 
to do.   
 
Wheeler:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  There has been several times that we have had people submit applications and we 
have had to say if only the roads were better.  So, now that we have ACHD submitting an 
application, I want to make sure that the roads are better before this goes in, because 
they are the deciding body on this.  So, that's -- personally that's why I would like to 
provision something in there to make sure that their phase four hinges on the widening of 
Ustick Road.  That's -- that's my personal opinion on it.  So, I'm -- you know, I'm having 
to wear two hats today.  As a commissioner -- you know, I mean I'm looking at this, I'm 
excited about it, there is a lot of things that are that are great about it.  I also share the 
concerns about traffic, but living in the area I also have to wear that hat, too, having kids 
running around in the area, I have to wear that hat, too.  So, there is a lot of really good 
things about it, but I just definitely want to make sure that the -- you know, the phase four 

31Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 29 of 31 

 

construction of this.  I don't want to slow it down.  I just want to make sure that the road's 
improvement piece of this hinges on their -- the phase -- phase four completion hinges 
on the widening of Ustick Road.   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  I think you make the recommendation on the phase four.  I think the -- 
the turnout -- I don't know.  The decel lane, you know, while they are doing those first 
couple of phases I don't think it's going to be utilized -- the facility is not going to be utilized 
until they get to phase four.  I mean in it's --  
 
Seal:  Absolutely.   
 
McCarvel:  -- work capacity, so --  
 
Seal:  And Commissioner Lorcher is right, I mean there -- there is -- there is trucks that      
-- I mean there is no getting away from construction any -- anywhere that we go, so I just 
-- again, we have the deciding body that can widen that road -- committing to widening 
the road.  So, I just want to make sure that we -- we do that.   
 
McCarvel:  Yeah.  Because how much are you still widening in --  
 
Seal:  Let's take that opportunity.  Yeah.  Because we have this discussion at every 
meeting, the traffic or the roads, so --  
 
Wheeler:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Wheeler.   
 
Wheeler:  Commissioner Seal, what do you think about something along the lines of not 
just conditional on phase four, because sometimes those parts that go into it can change, 
because this is just a comp, right, and just kind of a target area.  Maybe before operations 
start there or maybe it's being used or C of O -- I mean I don't know how you -- what -- 
what would be the trigger on this, but, you know, something like what staff was saying, 
something that could -- where they would also be able to work with the applicant and be 
able to have some latitude, too.  Maybe buy a permit -- a certain permit or something.   
 
Seal:  Madam Chair?   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  Question more for Joe, you know, just in -- and you are right, this is a proposed 
plan that we have here, so I mean -- and that's what I was looking at is, basically, the 
proposed phase four completion is how I had it written, but what is the trigger for phase 
four that we would recognize that -- that when that comes to the city staff that this is phase 
four, this is when the road needs to be widened, is it widened, is it not.  And I -- I struggle 
with that wording for a motion myself.   
 

32Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 30 of 31 

 

Dodson:  Understood.  Yes, sir.  Commissioner Seal, Commissioners, they are going to 
trigger a CZC before phase four anyways because of the landscaping.  At that point we 
would -- we could verify whether or not they have widened the road, but if you -- we will    
-- staff, as well as the city, we want the landscaping to be installed as close to the front of 
this as possible, so that the vegetation is at least close to maturity and growing by the 
time the actual use of the site gets done.  I don't necessarily want to delay that, but I see 
your points.  I do.  You could add a condition in there that says, you know, they can't get 
their first CZC until the road has widened, but, again, that slows all of it down.  So, I don't 
know if you necessarily want to do that.  But my understanding is that they really won't be 
utilizing much of the site until 2024 because of the signal already, so I don't know if we 
are allowed to do actual timing, but, again, timing changes, so I don't know if putting a 
year on it is probably not a good idea.  You could just say per the phasing they are not 
allowed to obtain a CZC for any building until the road is widened, because the phasing 
is showing that with the right turn lane they will also have additional buildings, which will 
require and be part of the CZC.   
 
Seal:  Is there something that triggers when that phase is complete or is it basically there 
is something in there that says, yes, you can start, but there is nothing in there that really 
says it's complete?   
 
Dodson:  The completeness part would be they are going to have to pull some kind of 
building permits for these.   
 
Seal:  Okay.   
 
Dodson:  So, whenever -- it won't be CO, because none of them have occupancy.  They 
are just storage things.  But there will be building permits and with -- to which we have to 
sign off.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  And I think that's -- I don't want to delay anything, but I definitely want to 
hinge this on there, you know, somehow and I mean everybody is here, I think everybody 
-- I don't want to belabor the point, but I just want to make sure that we get the right 
verbiage in there.  So, I think what I would propose is on their proposed phase four 
completion, that, you know, to include every -- the agency's heavy truck traffic will to be 
dependent on widening the Ustick Road and signalizing.  I mean I think that's probably 
enough to -- I think everybody will understand the intent.   
 
Dodson:  I think so.  I think that's safe.  I think that's what -- frankly, I think that's what 
ACHD is planning on doing anyways, so -- understood.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
McCarvel:  Commissioner Seal.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Madam Chair, after considering all staff, applicant, and public testimony, I 
move to recommend approval to the City Council of file number H-2021-0029 as 

33Item 1.



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
June 17, 2021 
Page 31 of 31 

 

presented in the staff report for the hearing date of June 17th, 2021, with the following 
modifications:  That the proposed -- proposed phase four completion to allow the agency's 
heavy truck traffic will be dependent upon widening Ustick Road and signalizing Naomi 
Avenue.   
 
Wheeler:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to recommend approval for H-2021-0029 
with modifications.  All those in favor say aye.  Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
MOTION CARRIED FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
McCarvel:  One more motion, please.   
 
Wheeler:  I move we adjourn.   
 
Seal:  Second.   
 
McCarvel:  It has been moved and seconded to adjourn the June 17th meeting Planning 
and Zoning Meeting.  All those in favor say aye.     
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FIVE AYES.  TWO ABSENT. 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:44 P.M. 
 
(AUDIO RECORDING ON FILE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS.) 
 
APPROVED 
 
_____________________________________   _____|_____|_____ 
RHONDA MCCARVEL - CHAIRMAN   DATE APPROVED 
 
ATTEST:   
 
_____________________________________ 
CHRIS JOHNSON - CITY CLERK 

34Item 1.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Popeyes Drive-Through (H-2021-
0030) by Erik Wylie of JRW Construction, LLC, Located at 6343 N. Linder Rd.

35Item 2.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 
CASE NO(S).  H-2021-0030 – Popeyes Drive-Through CUP   
  
 Page 1 

 
CITY OF MERIDIAN 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
AND 

DECISION & ORDER 

 

In the Matter of the Request for Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment within 
300-feet of an existing drive-through on 1.0 acres of land in the C-G zoning district for Popeyes 
Drive-Through, Located at 6343 N. Linder Road, by JRW Construction, LLC. 

Case No(s). H-2021-0030 

For the Planning & Zoning Commission Hearing Date of: June 17, 2021 (Findings on July 1, 2021) 
 
A. Findings of Fact 
 

1. Hearing Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by 
reference) 

 
2.   Process Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by 

reference) 
 
3.  Application and Property Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, 

incorporated by reference) 
 
4.  Required Findings per the Unified Development Code (see attached Staff Report for the hearing 

date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by reference) 
 

B.  Conclusions of Law 
 

1. The City of Meridian shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use 
Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503). 

 
2. The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission takes judicial notice of its Unified Development 

Code codified at Title 11 Meridian City Code, and all current zoning maps thereof. The City of 
Meridian has, by ordinance, established the Impact Area and the Amended Comprehensive Plan 
of the City of Meridian, which was adopted April 19, 2011, Resolution No. 11-784 and Maps. 

 
3. The conditions shall be reviewable by the City Council pursuant to Meridian City Code § 11-5A. 
 
4. Due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the governmental 

subdivisions providing services in the City of Meridian planning jurisdiction. 
 
5. It is found public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not impose 

expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed. 
 
6. That the City has granted an order of approval in accordance with this decision, which shall be 

signed by the Chairman of the Commission and City Clerk and then a copy served by the Clerk 
upon the applicant, the Planning Department, the Public Works Department and any affected 
party requesting notice.  

36Item 2.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 
CASE NO(S).  H-2021-0030 – Popeyes Drive-Through CUP   
  
 Page 2 

 
7. That this approval is subject to the conditions of approval in the attached staff report for the 

hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by reference. The conditions are concluded to be 
reasonable and the applicant shall meet such requirements as a condition of approval of the 
application. 

 
C.  Decision and Order   

 
Pursuant to the Planning & Zoning Commission’s authority as provided in Meridian City Code § 11-
5A and based upon the above and foregoing Findings of Fact which are herein adopted, it is hereby 
ordered that:  

 
1. The applicant’s request for Conditional Use Permit is hereby approved in accord with the 

conditions of approval in the staff report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, attached as Exhibit 
A. 

 
D.  Notice of Applicable Time Limits  

Notice of Two (2) Year Conditional Use Permit Duration  

Please take notice that the conditional use permit, when granted, shall be valid for a maximum 
period of two (2) years unless otherwise approved by the City in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.1. 
During this time, the applicant shall commence the use as permitted in accord with the 
conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of approval, and 
acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or structures on or 
in the ground.  For conditional use permits that also require platting, the final plat must be 
signed by the City Engineer within this two (2) year period in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.2. 

Upon written request and filed by the applicant prior to the termination of the period in accord 
with 11-5B-6.F.1, the Director may authorize a single extension of the time to commence the 
use not to exceed one (1) two (2) year period. Additional time extensions up to two (2) years as 
determined and approved by the Commission may be granted. With all extensions, the Director 
or Commission may require the conditional use comply with the current provisions of Meridian 
City Code Title 11.   

E. Notice of Final Action and Right to Regulatory Takings Analysis 

1. Please take notice that this is a final action of the governing body of the City of Meridian. 
When applicable and pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-6521, any affected person being a person 
who has an interest in real property which may be adversely affected by the final action of the 
governing board may within twenty-eight (28) days after the date of this decision and order 
seek a judicial review as provided by Chapter 52, Title 67, Idaho Code. 

F. Attached:  Staff report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021 

37Item 2.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 
CASE NO(S).  H-2021-0030 – Popeyes Drive-Through CUP   
  
 Page 3 

By action of the Planning & Zoning Commission at its regular meeting held on the ___________ day of 
________________, 2021. 

 
COMMISSIONER RHONDA MCCARVEL, CHAIRMAN  VOTED_______  

  

COMMISSIONER ANDREW SEAL, VICE CHAIRMAN  VOTED_______ 
    

   
  COMMISSIONER NATE WHEELER     VOTED_______ 
 

  COMMISSIONER STEVEN YEARSLEY     VOTED_______ 

  COMMISSIONER WILLIAM CASSINELLI    VOTED_______ 

  COMMISSIONER NICK GROVE     VOTED_______  
     

COMMISSIONER MARIA LORCHER      VOTED_______ 
 

 
     _____________________________ 
     Rhonda McCarvel, Chairman 

 
 
Attest: 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Chris Johnson, City Clerk 

 
 

    Copy served upon the Applicant, the Planning and Development Services divisions of the Community 
Development Department, the Public Works Department and the City Attorney. 
 
 

By:__________________________________   Dated:________________________ 
     City Clerk’s Office 

 

 
 

38Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 1  
  

HEARING 
DATE: 

6/3/2021 6/17/2021 
 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Joseph Dodson, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0030 
Popeye’s Drive-Through – CUP 

LOCATION: The site is located at 6343 N. Linder 
Road, the southwest corner of W. 
Chinden Boulevard/Hwy. 20/26 and N. 
Linder Road, in the NE ¼ of the NE ¼ of 
Section 26, Township 4N., Range 1W. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment within 300-feet of an existing drive-through 
on 1.0 acres of land in the C-G zoning district with concurrent Administrative Design Review for the 
proposed building elevations. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

STAFF REPORT  

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT  

Description Details Page 
Acreage 1.0-acre  
Future Land Use Designation Mixed-Use Community  
Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped  
Proposed Land Use(s) Restaurant with a dual drive-through  
Current Zoning General Retail and Service Commercial District (C-G)  
Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

None  

Neighborhood meeting date; # 
of attendees:  

April 5, 2021; no attendees (One phone call after 
meeting, see application materials online) 

 

History (previous approvals) AZ-06-006; PP-13-031; FP-14-020; MDA-13-019 
(DA Inst. #114014784). 

 

39Item 2.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=97632&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 2  
  

A. Project Area Maps 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Same as Owner 

B. Owner:  

Erik Wylie, JRW Construction, LLC – 1676 N. Clarendon Way, Eagle, ID 83616 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
 
 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

40Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 3  
  

C. Representative: 

Same as Owner 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 5/14/2021 

Radius notification mailed to 
properties within 500 feet 5/11/2021 

Site Posting Date 5/21/2021 

Next Door posting 5/12/2021 

V. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed drive-through is for a 2,325 square foot Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen restaurant that is 
within 300-feet of a separate drive-through to the south, which requires Conditional Use Permit 
approval (CUP) per UDC Table 11-2B-2 and the specific use standards, UDC 11-4-3-11. The 
submitted site plan shows a rectangular building situated relatively centered on the site with angled 
parking along the east and north boundaries. The site plan shows one-way drive aisles around the 
building that connects to a two-way drive aisle in the northwest corner of the site; this two-way drive 
aisle is off-site but the adjacent property shares the same ownership. The Applicant anticipates the 
north drive aisle to be the main point of access to the drive-through. 

The subject site is located within the Mixed-use Community (MU-C) future land use which 
contemplates a multitude of uses, residential, commercial, and otherwise. Due to the size of the site, 
this singular site cannot be expected to contain three distinct uses as discussed within the mixed-use 
sections of the Meridian Comprehensive Plan. Instead, those uses within the nearby radius should 
also be contemplated for compliance with this future land use. Staff finds the proposed use and the 
surrounding uses, both existing and planned, comply with the MU-C future land use designation.  

Specific Use Standards: The proposed drive-through establishment is subject to the specific use 
standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11, Drive-Through Establishment. A site plan is required to be 
submitted that demonstrates safe pedestrian and vehicular access and circulation on the site and 
between adjacent properties. At a minimum, the plan is required to demonstrate compliance with the 
following standards:  

In general, Staff does not support the proposed site design and is recommending revisions for the 
Commission to consider; Staff’s analysis of the specific use standards and any recommendations 
are in italics. 

1) Stacking lanes have sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways, drive aisles and 
the public right-of-way by patrons;  

The proposed site layout places a dual ordering drive-through along the south of the site and the 
pick-up window on the east side of the building. With this site design the proposed drive-through 
has a minimal stacking lane due to the overall site and building being relatively small. 
Furthermore, the site design is made for traffic to flow in a circular pattern around the building 
utilizing a portion of the drive aisle adjacent to the west side of the building as the stacking lane. 
Furthermore, the proposed site design with the anticipation of the extended north drive aisle as 

41Item 2.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 4  
  

the main entry point requires patrons who intend to park and utilize the dining room to go 
through the site along the west boundary, use the shared drive aisle along the south boundary to 
head east, and finally enter the site again to use the parking spaces. As proposed by the 
Applicant, Staff can envision patrons double stacking to order faster and block the one-way drive 
along the west boundary and effectively restricting patrons from using the parking spaces along 
the east boundary. Staff also envisions patrons blocking and/or utilizing the north drive aisle and 
obstructing both this anticipated exit and entry for the site with as few as seven (7) cars stacked 
along the west of the building (approximately 140’ from the ordering window to the north drive 
aisle).  

Therefore, Staff recommends multiple changes to the site design: 1) one drive-through instead 
of two should be utilized; 2) the ordering and pick-up areas be flipped on the site to have the 
pick-up window on the west side of the building and the menu boards located near the 
north/east side of the site; and 3) flip the parking from the east side of the site to the west side 
of the site. These changes will allow for adequate stacking with less potential of obstructing the 
existing drive aisle along the south boundary of the site and allow customers who want to 
utilize the dining room better access to parking which would be on the west side of the building 
instead of the east. Further analysis is below in the Access and Parking sections of this report.  

In addition, Staff does not agree with the Applicant that the northern drive aisle would be 
utilized as the main access point to the site and instead Staff believes the existing drive aisle 
along the south of the site will be utilized more for the drive-through component of the 
business. Because the site is designed to function as a one-way loop, the Applicant should 
provide more than adequate signage to ensure patrons utilize the traffic flow correctly.  

2) The stacking lane shall be a separate lane from the circulation lanes needed for access and 
parking, except stacking lanes may provide access to designed employee parking.  

Per the submitted site plan, the stacking lane(s) are along the west side of the site and are 
separated from the west drive aisle by striping despite having two drive-through menu 
boards/speakers. With two proposed drive-through speakers, Staff does not find the proposed 
separation to be sufficient. In fact, and as noted above, Staff believes patrons would utilize the 
drive west drive aisle as the second stacking lane and completely obstructing this drive aisle and 
site exit. Staff’s recommended changes above would help alleviate this issue by removing the dual 
drive-through speaker and placing the singular one along the north/east side of the site adjacent 
to the one-way drive aisle that is eight feet wider than the west drive aisle. Further analysis is 
below in the Access section of this report. 

3) The stacking lane shall not be located within ten (10) feet of any residential district or existing 
residence;  

The stacking lane is not located within 10’ of any residential district or residence. 

4) Any stacking lane greater than one hundred (100) feet in length shall provide for an escape 
lane; and  

The stacking lane exceeds 100’ in length but utilizes some of the one-way drive aisle as the 
stacking area so it is difficult to discern where the stacking lane starts. However, there is also no 
need for a designated escape lane because the site design does not close off the menu board and 
patrons can exit the drive-through by utilizing the drive aisle. The adjacent drive aisle is wide 
enough to function as the escape lane so Staff has no concern with the Applicant complying with 
this standard with the recommended changes noted above that allow for patrons to exit directly 
west through the new drive aisle along the north boundary or to the south adjacent to the pick-up 
window on the west side of the site should they decide they no longer wish to order. 

42Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 5  
  

5) The site should be designed so that the drive-through is visible from a public street for 
surveillance purposes.   

The proposed drive-through is located along the south and east side of the site and is visible from 
Linder Road. With Staff’s recommended changes, the menu boards would be located along the 
north side of the property with the pick-up window on the west side of the building and less 
visible than currently proposed. After discussions with Meridian Police, they are more concerned 
with the site circulation than they are regarding the pick-up window being less visible on the west 
side of the building. Locating the pick-up window on the west side of the building still allows it to 
be visible from Chinden Boulevard and from within the commercial subdivision.  

Staff’s specific recommendations can be found in Section VIII.A2 & A3. 

The proposed use of a Restaurant is subject to an additional specific use standard listed in UDC 11-4-
3-49 and notes that the minimum amount of parking shall be one (1) space for every 250 square feet 
of gross floor area. Based on the proposed building size of 2,325 square feet noted on the submitted 
site plan, a minimum of nine (9) parking spaces are required. The proposed site plan shows 19 
parking spaces, exceeding UDC minimums. At the time of the future Certificate of Zoning 
Compliance (CZC) application, the data table on the site plan should be corrected to reflect the 
correct minimum standards of a restaurant use instead of the general commercial ratio.  

Access: Access to the site is shown via two drive aisles: one along the south boundary which is 
currently existing, and; one abutting the site in the northwest corner that is proposed to be constructed 
with this project. The new proposed drive aisle would traverse an undeveloped lot and connect to a 
drive aisle that serves existing commercial buildings along Chinden (including an additional drive-
through). This drive aisle is the proposed main entry point to the site, according to the Applicant.  

The south drive aisle is existing and traverses through the entire commercial subdivision with an 
access to a private drive aisle intended to be an auxiliary ingress/egress point for the properties in this 
area. Because the south drive aisle does not have any parking that directly accesses this drive aisle 
and has access to an auxiliary ingress/egress point, Staff believes this drive aisle will be far more 
utilized than the new north drive aisle that starts much closer to the Chinden ingress/egress and is 
essentially a parking lot instead of a drive aisle.  

Therefore, with the potential access points and the concerns introduced above, Staff has 
recommended revisions to the site plan to help mitigate the concerns and increase the efficiency and 
safety of the site design. 

First, Staff recommends the drive-through contain only one (1) ordering speaker to help mitigate 
double stacking issues. Secondly, Staff recommends mirroring the site to have the menu board on 
either the east or north sides of the site therefore moving the pick-up window to the west side of the 
building. Staff does not know if the entire site needs to be flipped placing the main entrance facing 
south; this would not be preferred as the more architectural elevations would be facing internal 
rather than towards the adjacent busy roads. However, Staff assumes the internal portions of the 
building can be flipped to move the pick-up window to the west side of the building and maintain 
the patio space and building entry facing north along the entrwyway corridor. With these changes, 
the entire building can be shifted south and remove the need for any vehicle use area along the 
south side of the building. Additional landscaping or other features could be utilized in this area. 
Furthermore, the building shift to the south allows for the menu board to be placed near the north 
side or northeast corner of the building further away from the patio area—Staff envisions there 
would be adequate room along the north of the building site to include additional landscaping to 
screen and mitigate the additional noise generated by vehicles ordering while patrons utilize the 
patio space.  

In short, shifting the site south and flipping the location of the ordering and pick-up windows 

43Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 6  
  

opens up the site and allows for easier and more logical ingress and egress to the drive-through by 
allowing vehicles to enter the site in the southeast corner, stack along the east and northeast sides 
of the building, pick-up their order along the west side of the building, and then immediately exit 
via the southbound one-way drive aisle to the shared drive aisle along the south boundary. Staff’s 
recommended site design is based on the assumption that more traffic will utilize the drive aisle 
along the south boundary than the proposed drive aisle in the northwest corner.  

Parking: A minimum of one (1) parking space is required to be provided for every 250 square feet of 
gross floor area for the proposed restaurant use. The proposed building is shown as 2,325 square feet 
requiring a minimum of 9 (rounded down from 9.3) parking spaces; the submitted site plan shows 19 
proposed parking spaces exceeding UDC minimums. 

Consistent with Staff recommendations above, Staff recommends flipping the parking from the east 
side of the site to the west side of the site and face them south to further mitigate conflicts of stacking 
and parking. By placing the angled parking on the west side and facing them south instead of north, 
combined with Staff’s previous recommendations of flipping the order and pick-up areas, the building 
can be shifted east by approximately the width of the proposed 20’ drive aisle and the angled parking 
stalls. Therefore, the east drive aisle and south entrance could be used solely for ordering and 
stacking at the new location of the menu boards along the north end of the site. With the angled 
parking along the west side of the building, the one-way drive aisle must be at least 13 feet wide per 
UDC 11-3C-4 but Staff feels it should largely mirror what is currently proposed on the east side 
(approximately 20 feet wide) to allow for the drive aisle to function as the escape plan as discussed 
above. Furthermore, the flip of the site allows the escape lane and the drive-thru exit to pick-up their 
order and immediately exit to the south without impeding as many parking spaces. The Applicant 
could then designate the parking along the north drive aisle as employee parking to meet the drive-
through establishment specific use standard that states employee parking may be impeded by stacking 
lanes (the new order and stacking location along the east and north sides of the building could 
impede the parking along the north boundary). 

As noted, to make all of this work all of Staff’s recommendations should be utilized including the 
requirement of clear and visible signage noting the required traffic flow for the site.  

The existing Development Agreement requires cross-access through all of the commercial parcels 
within the Knighthill Center Subdivision. Staff does not have a copy of said cross-access agreement 
but with other applications, the Applicant has shown compliance with this requirement. Staff does not 
have concerns with the Applicant complying with the existing requirement. 

A minimum one (1) bicycle parking space is required to be provided for every 25 vehicle spaces or 
portion thereof per UDC 11-3C-6G; bicycle parking facilities are required to comply with the location 
and design standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C. Bicycle parking is shown on the submitted plans in 
compliance with code. 

Pedestrian Walkways: A striped pedestrian walkway is depicted on the site plan from the proposed 
building to the multi-use pathway along W. Chinden Blvd. as required by UDC 11-3A-19B.4a. It also 
appears there is a sidewalk proposed near the south boundary of the site as a connection to the 
sidewalk along Linder Rd. However, it is not clear by the submitted plans where the sidewalk is and 
appears to run into the proposed trash enclosure location. Staff’s recommended changes would allow 
the trash enclosure to be pushed further north enough to allow for an unobstructed sidewalk along 
the south boundary of the site. Because it is unclear if the Applicant is proposing a sidewalk along the 
south boundary, Staff recommends the Applicant make it clearly visible where the pedestrian facilities 
are when revising the site plan; this allows the Applicant to match what is existing along the south 
side of the drive aisle along the south boundary of the site. In addition, this pedestrian walkway to 
Linder has to traverse a drive aisle and should be distinguished from the driving surface. The 
Applicant should also make it clear where a pedestrian connection to the Linder sidewalk is 

44Item 2.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 7  
  

proposed. 

Furthermore, subsection B of this code section requires that the pedestrian walkway be distinguished 
from the driving surface by being constructed with pavers, brick, or scored/colored concrete. The 
proposed site plan appears to only show striping which does not comply with this code section. The 
Applicant should show compliance with this code section with a future CZC submittal. 

Landscaping: Parking lot landscaping is required to be provided in accord with the standards listed 
in UDC 11-3B-8C. Landscaping is depicted on the landscape plan in Section VII.B.  

A minimum 5-foot wide landscape buffer is required to be provided along the perimeter of the 
parking or other vehicular use areas as set forth in UDC 11-3B-8C.1. The proposed parking spaces 
align the perimeter of the site which allows the Applicant to utilize the existing street buffer 
landscaping as the required landscaping. Staff agrees with this design to maximize the site design. 
This code requirement is also applicable along the west boundary of the site where a 12-foot wide 
one-way drive is proposed heading south. The submitted plans do not show any perimeter 
landscaping along this boundary. Because the adjacent property is owned by the same property 
owner and the western drive aisle is intended to always function as a one-way drive aisle, Staff is 
amenable to placing the required 5-feet of landscaping on that property instead. With the CZC 
submittal, the landscape plan should be revised to show the required 5-foot wide landscape buffer 
adjacent to the drive west drive aisle. 

Street buffer landscaping, including sidewalks/multi-use pathway, along N. Linder Rd. and W. 
Chinden Blvd. were installed with development of the overall subdivision. The submitted landscape 
plans show the buffers remaining as it currently exists except for the new pedestrian connection to the 
multi-use pathway along Chinden. Proposed buffer landscaping complies with UDC requirements. 

Mechanical Equipment: All mechanical equipment adjacent to the building and outdoor service and 
equipment should be incorporated into the overall design of buildings and landscaping so that the 
visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully contained and out of view from adjacent 
properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 11-3A-12. If mechanical equipment is proposed to be 
roof-mount, all equipment should be screened and out of view as noted above. 

Building Elevations: The Applicant applied for Design Review concurrently with this CUP 
application and therefore provided building elevations to be reviewed. The building elevations were 
submitted as shown in Section VII.C and incorporate two main field materials, fiber cement siding 
and stone. The siding and stone are two contrasting colors (coal-like color and white, respectively) 
which adds to the overall modern design of the building. On the east and west elevations, the number 
of proposed windows can act as either an accent material or a third field material. The lack of 
modulation along the north and south elevations are of concern to Staff. In order to meet the 
modulation requirements for these two facades, a column of stone at least 6 inches in depth should be 
added to each façade, matching the overall aesthetic by placing them as evenly as possible on each 
façade.  

The detached drive-through canopy is shown with the same two field materials (fiber cement siding 
and stone) as the main building and meets all of the applicable design standards outlined in the 
Architectural Standards Manual. 

No elevations were submitted that show the proposed trash enclosure; this should be corrected with 
the future CZC submittal and should match the style of the proposed building. The submitted 
landscape plans do show adequate screening of the trash enclosure. 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance: A Certificate of Zoning Compliance application is required to be 
submitted for the proposed use prior to submittal of a building permit application to ensure 
consistency with the conditions in Section VIII and UDC standards. 

45Item 2.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 8  
  

VI. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed conditional use permit with the conditions included 
in Section VIII per the Findings in Section IX. The Director has approved the administrative 
design review request with conditions. 

 
B.  The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission heard this item on June 17, 2021. At the public 

hearing, the Commission moved to approve the subject Conditional Use Permit request. 
 1. Summary of the Commission public hearing: 
  a. In favor: Erik Wylie, Applicant 
  b. In opposition: None 
  c. Commenting: Erik Wylie. 
  d. Written testimony: None 
  e. Staff presenting application: Joseph Dodson, Associate Planner. 
  f. Other Staff commenting on application: None 
 2. Key issue(s) of public testimony: 
  a. None 
 3. Key issue(s) of discussion by Commission: 
  a. None 
 4. Commission change(s) to Staff recommendation: 
  a. Agreement with Staff’s memorandum and recommended changes based on revised site 

plan (see revised conditions in Section VIII below). 
 

46Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 9  
  

VII. EXHIBITS  

A. Proposed Revised Site Plan (dated: 4/15/2021 6/07/2021) NOT APPROVED 

 

 

  

47Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 10  
  

B. Proposed Landscape Plan (dated: 4/15/2021) NOT APPROVED 

 

  

48Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 11  
  

C. Proposed Building Elevations and Color Rendering 

49Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 12  
  

 

 

 

50Item 2.



EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 13  
  

VIII. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. PLANNING 

1. Future development of this site shall comply with the existing Development Agreement (DA 
Inst. #114014784), and associated conditions of approval (AZ-06-006; PP-13-031; FP-14-020; 
MDA-13-019). 

2. The Conditional Use Permit for the proposed Drive-Through Establishment is hereby 
approved with the following conditions of approval: 

a. No more than one (1) menu board/order speaker shall be permitted; 

b. The site shall be redesigned per the specific revisions noted below in VIII.A3 and A4 
below. 

c. The west drive-aisle shall be no less than 20 15 feet in width (not including the drive-
through lane) and the east drive aisle shall be no less than 12 feet in width. 

d. The parking spaces along the north boundary shall be restricted to shown as employee 
parking only on the revised site plan. 

e. Additional signage is required throughout the site to efficiently and adequately direct 
patrons to the menu boards and throughout the site with minimal conflict. 

f. The proposed off-site east-west drive aisle along Chinden Blvd. shown on the adjacent 
property (Parcel #R4995350100) shall be constructed prior to receiving Certificate of 
Occupancy, as proposed; 

g. Prior to receiving Certificate of Occupancy on the proposed building, a Property 
Boundary Adjustment shall be obtained by the Applicant to reflect the new location of 
the west property line, as shown on the submitted plans. 

3. The site plan submitted with the future Certificate of Zoning Compliance application shall be 
revised as follows: 

a. Depict the pick-up window on the west side of the building and the menu board/order 
speaker along the north/northeast side of the building;  

b. Depict the north facing angled parking to be on the west side of the site instead of the east 
side of the site and angle them southbound; 

c. Shift the proposed building to the east and to the south to allow for better utilization of 
the site along the north drive aisle with the option to incorporate more landscaping for 
screening; 

d. Designate the parking along the north boundary of the site as employee-only parking and 
move the handicap space to the new parking along the west boundary to place it closer to 
the building entrance; 

e. Depict pedestrian facilities along the south boundary of the site to match what is on the 
south side of this shared drive aisle; depict these pedestrian walkways and their 
connections clearly on revised site plans; 

f. Per UDC 11-3A-19B.4b, depict pedestrian walkways across driving surfaces to be 
constructed with bricks, pavers, and/or colored or scored concrete to clearly delineate the 
driving surface from the pedestrian walkway.  

51Item 2.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=97632&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=97632&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 14  
  

4. The landscape plan submitted with the future Certificate of Zoning Compliance application 
shall be revised as follows: 

a. Show compliance with UDC 11-3B-8C by constructing the required 5 feet of perimeter 
landscaping along the west boundary adjacent to the revised angled parking location; this 
shall be constructed with this application regardless of the property line location because 
there is common ownership between the two properties. 

5. The elevations submitted with the Administrative Design Review (DES) application are 
approved with the following revisions: 

a. Ensure the east and west elevations have qualifying modulation per standard 3.1A & 
3.1B in the Architectural Standards Manual. It is unclear based on the site plan whether 
the portions of the wall with the brick façade have the qualifying modulation. Any 
revisions to the elevations are required with the submittal of the certificate of zoning 
compliance application. 

6. Submit elevations of the trash enclosure that generally matches the proposed building design. 

7. Comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11 – Drive-Through Establishment is 
required. 

8. Comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-49 – Restaurant. 

9. A Certificate of Zoning Compliance application shall be submitted and approved for the 
proposed use prior to submittal of a building permit application.  

10. The conditional use permit is valid for a maximum period of two (2) years unless otherwise 
approved by the City. During this time, the Applicant shall commence the use as permitted in 
accord with the conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of 
approval, and acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or 
structures on or in the ground as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6. A time extension may be requested 
as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6F. 

B. PUBLIC WORKS  

1. There are no utilities shown with the plans submitted. Any changes to public water or sewer 
infrastructure must be reviewed by Public Works prior to approval. 

C. NAMPA & MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NMID) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229161&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity  

D. CENTRAL DISTRICT HEALTH (CDH) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228244&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity  

IX. FINDINGS 

Conditional Use (UDC 11-5B-6) 

Findings: The commission shall base its determination on the conditional use permit request upon the 
following: 

1. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional 
and development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

52Item 2.

https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-49RE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-6COUS
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229161&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229161&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228244&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228244&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


EXHIBIT A 

 

 Page 15  
  

Commission finds the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed development and meet 
all dimensional and development regulations of the C-G zoning district if Staff’s 
recommendations of approval are met. 

2. That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian comprehensive plan and in 
accord with the requirements of this title. 

Commission finds the proposed restaurant and drive-through will be harmonious with the 
Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with applicable UDC standards with the conditions noted 
in Section VIII of this report. 

3. That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other 
uses in the general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general 
vicinity and that such use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

With the conditions of approval in Section VIII, Commission finds the design, construction, 
operation and maintenance of the proposed use will be compatible with other uses in the general 
neighborhood, with the existing and intended character of the vicinity and will not adversely 
change the essential character of the area. 

4. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not 
adversely affect other property in the vicinity. 

Commission finds the proposed use will not adversely affect other properties in the vicinity if it 
complies with the conditions in Section VIII of this report. 

5. That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services 
such as highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, 
refuse disposal, water, and sewer. 

Commission finds the proposed use will be served by essential public facilities and services as 
required. 

6. That the proposed use will not create excessive additional costs for public facilities and 
services and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

Commission finds the proposed use will not create additional costs for public facilities and 
services and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7. That the proposed use will not involve activities or processes, materials, equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property or the general 
welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 

Commission finds the proposed use will not be detrimental to any persons, property or the 
general welfare by the reasons noted above. 

8. That the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a natural, scenic 
or historic feature considered to be of major importance. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-
15-2005) 

Commission finds the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of any such 
features. 

53Item 2.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Topgolf (H-2021-0033) by 
Arco/Murray, Located at 948 S. Silverstone Way

54Item 3.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S). H-2021-0033    

  Page 1 

 

CITY OF MERIDIAN 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

AND 

DECISION & ORDER 

 

In the Matter of the Request for Conditional Use Permit for an Outdoor Entertainment/Recreation 

Facility with a Non-Permanent Outdoor Stage/Music Venue on 11.56-Acres of Land in a C-G 

Zoning District to Include Extended Hours of Operation from 8:00 am to 2:00 am, Seven Days a 

Week, Abutting a Residential Zoning District, by Arco/Murray. 

Case No(s). H-2021-0033 

For the Planning & Zoning Commission Hearing Date of: June 17, 2021 (Findings on July 1, 2021) 

 

A. Findings of Fact 

 

1. Hearing Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by 

reference) 

 

2.   Process Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by 

reference) 

 

3.  Application and Property Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, 

incorporated by reference) 

 

4.  Required Findings per the Unified Development Code (see attached Staff Report for the hearing 

date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by reference) 

 

B.  Conclusions of Law 

 

1. The City of Meridian shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use 

Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503). 

 

2. The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission takes judicial notice of its Unified Development 

Code codified at Title 11 Meridian City Code, and all current zoning maps thereof. The City of 

Meridian has, by ordinance, established the Impact Area and the Amended Comprehensive Plan 

of the City of Meridian, which was adopted April 19, 2011, Resolution No. 11-784 and Maps. 

 

3. The conditions shall be reviewable by the City Council pursuant to Meridian City Code § 11-5A. 

 

4. Due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the governmental 

subdivisions providing services in the City of Meridian planning jurisdiction. 

 

5. It is found public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not impose 

expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed. 

 

6. That the City has granted an order of approval in accordance with this decision, which shall be 

signed by the Chairman of the Commission and City Clerk and then a copy served by the Clerk 

55Item 3.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S). H-2021-0033    

  Page 2 

upon the applicant, the Planning Department, the Public Works Department and any affected 

party requesting notice.  

 

7. That this approval is subject to the conditions of approval in the attached staff report for the 

hearing date of June 17, 2021, incorporated by reference. The conditions are concluded to be 

reasonable and the applicant shall meet such requirements as a condition of approval of the 

application. 

 

C.  Decision and Order   

 

Pursuant to the Planning & Zoning Commission’s authority as provided in Meridian City Code § 11-

5A and based upon the above and foregoing Findings of Fact which are herein adopted, it is hereby 

ordered that:  

 

1. The applicant’s request for conditional use permit is hereby approved in accord with the 

conditions of approval in the staff report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021, attached as Exhibit 

A. 

 

D.  Notice of Applicable Time Limits  

Notice of Two (2) Year Conditional Use Permit Duration  

Please take notice that the conditional use permit, when granted, shall be valid for a maximum 

period of two (2) years unless otherwise approved by the City in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.1. 

During this time, the applicant shall commence the use as permitted in accord with the 

conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of approval, and 

acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or structures on or 

in the ground.  For conditional use permits that also require platting, the final plat must be 

signed by the City Engineer within this two (2) year period in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.2. 

Upon written request and filed by the applicant prior to the termination of the period in accord 

with 11-5B-6.F.1, the Director may authorize a single extension of the time to commence the 

use not to exceed one (1) two (2) year period. Additional time extensions up to two (2) years as 

determined and approved by the Commission may be granted. With all extensions, the Director 

or Commission may require the conditional use comply with the current provisions of Meridian 

City Code Title 11.   

E. Notice of Final Action and Right to Regulatory Takings Analysis 

1. Please take notice that this is a final action of the governing body of the City of Meridian. 

When applicable and pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-6521, any affected person being a person 

who has an interest in real property which may be adversely affected by the final action of the 

governing board may within twenty-eight (28) days after the date of this decision and order 

seek a judicial review as provided by Chapter 52, Title 67, Idaho Code. 

F. Attached:  Staff report for the hearing date of June 17, 2021 

56Item 3.



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S). H-2021-0033    

  Page 3 

By action of the Planning & Zoning Commission at its regular meeting held on the ___________ day of 

________________, 2021. 

 
COMMISSIONER RHONDA MCCARVEL, CHAIRMAN  VOTED_______  

  

COMMISSIONER ANDREW SEAL, VICE CHAIRMAN  VOTED_______ 
    

   
  COMMISSIONER NATE WHEELER     VOTED_______ 
 

  COMMISSIONER STEVEN YEARSLEY     VOTED_______ 

  COMMISSIONER WILLIAM CASSINELLI    VOTED_______ 

  COMMISSIONER NICK GROVE     VOTED_______  
     

COMMISSIONER MARIA LORCHER      VOTED_______ 
 

 
     _____________________________ 
     Rhonda McCarvel, Chairman 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Chris Johnson, City Clerk 

 

 

    Copy served upon the Applicant, the Planning and Development Services divisions of the Community 

Development Department, the Public Works Department and the City Attorney. 

 

 

By:__________________________________   Dated:________________________ 

     City Clerk’s Office 

 

 

 

57Item 3.



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 

 
Page 1 

 
  

HEARING 

DATE: 
June 17, 2021 

Continued from: 6/3/2021 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 

208-884-5533 

Bruce Freckleton, Development 

Services Manager  

208-887-2211 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0033 

Topgolf 

LOCATION: 948 S. Silverstone Way 

SW ¼ of Section 16, T. 3N., R.1E. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Conditional use permit for an outdoor entertainment/recreation facility with a non-permanent outdoor 

stage/music venue on 11.56-acres of land in a C-G zoning district to include extended hours of 

operation from 8:00 am to 2:00 am, seven days a week, abutting a residential zoning district. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

Description Details Page 

Acreage 11.56-acres  

Future Land Use Designation Mixed Use – Regional (MU-R)  

Existing Land Use(s) Vacant/undeveloped land  

Proposed Land Use(s) Outdoor entertainment/recreation facility  

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 

attendees: 

March 30, 2021; one (1) attendee (neighbor)  

History (previous approvals) H-2018-0126 (PP); H-2019-0005 (MDA Inst. #2019-

0037825); H-2019-0081 (MDA Inst. #2019-088365); H-

2019-0128 (FP) – Rackham Subdivision (recorded) 

 

 

  

STAFF REPORT 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

58Item 3.



 

 
Page 2 

 
  

 

B. Community Metrics 

Description Details Page 

Ada County Highway District   

• Staff report (yes/no) Yes - letter stating no improvements are required to 

adjacent streets; a traffic impact fee is required to be paid.  

 

• Requires ACHD Commission 

Action (yes/no) 

No  

Access (Arterial/Collectors/State 

Hwy/Local)(Existing and Proposed) 

E. Overland Rd./Silverstone Way (existing)  

Existing Road Network Yes  

 

C. Project Area Maps 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

59Item 3.



 

 
Page 3 

 
  

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Paul Straits, Arco/Murray – 113 N. May St., Chicago, IL 60607 

B. Owner: 

Tonn Peterson, BVA Development, LLC – 2775 W. Navigator Dr., Ste. 220, Meridian, ID 83642 

C. Representative: 

Tanner Micheli, Topgolf International, Inc. – 8750 N. Central Expy, Ste. 1200, Dallas, TX 

75231  

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

City Council 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 5/14/2021   

Radius notification mailed to 

properties within 300 feet 5/11/2021   

Site Posting Date 6/3/2021   

NextDoor posting 5/12/2021   

V. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (Comp. Plan) 

This property is designated Mixed Use – Regional (MU-R) on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) in 

the Comprehensive Plan. 

The purpose of the MU-R designation is to provide a mix of employment, retail, and residential 

dwellings and public uses near major arterial intersections. The intent is to integrate a variety of 

uses together, including residential, and to avoid predominantly single use developments such as a 

regional retail center with only restaurants and other commercial uses. Developments should be 

anchored by uses that have a regional draw with the appropriate supporting uses. The 

developments are encouraged to be designed consistent with the conceptual MU-R plan depicted in 

Figure 3D (pg. 3-17). 

The Applicant proposes to develop an entertainment complex (i.e. Topgolf) on the site consisting 

of a multi-level golf driving range with a full-service restaurant and bar. The site is located in close 

proximity to a major intersection at S. Eagle Rd. and E. Overland Rd. and near the Eagle Rd./I-84 

interchange. This use will have a regional draw and will have supportive uses in the vicinity 

consistent with the MU-R designation. 

The following goals and policies in the Comprehensive Plan are supported by the proposed 

development: 

• “Plan for an appropriate mix of land uses that ensures connectivity, livability, and 

economic vitality.” (3.06.02) 

The proposed use will contribute to the mix of uses in this area that ensure livability and 

economic vitality of the community. 

• “Encourage and support mixed-use areas that provide the benefits of being able to live, 

shop, dine, play, and work in close proximity, thereby reducing vehicle trips, and 

enhancing overall livability and sustainability.” (3.06.02B) 

60Item 3.

https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/compplan/Adopted-Comp-Plan.pdf


 

 
Page 4 

 
  

The subject mixed-use area currently contains office uses and will eventually include other 

commercial and residential uses. The proposed entertainment center will offer 

opportunities for play and recreation in close proximity to employment and residential 

uses as desired. 

• “Require pedestrian circulation plans to ensure safety and convenient access across large 

commercial and mixed-use developments.” (3.07.02A). 

An 8-foot wide pathway is proposed within the buffer along the entire frontage of I-84 and 

along main driveways within the site for pedestrian connectivity and easy access within 

the mixed-use development. 

• “Minimize noise, lighting, and odor disturbances from commercial developments to 

residential dwellings by enforcing city code.” (5.01.01F) 

Operation of the proposed use should comply with City ordinances pertaining to noise, 

lighting, and odor disturbances. 

VI. UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE (UDC) 

The proposed use, an outdoor entertainment/recreation facility with a non-permanent outdoor 

stage/music venue, is listed as a conditional use in the C-G (General Retail and Service Commercial) 

zoning district per UDC Table 11-2B-2. Extended hours of operation are proposed from 8:00 am to 

2:00 am, seven days a week, abutting a residential zoning district, which also requires conditional use 

approval per UDC 11-2B-3B.  

VII. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed use is consistent with the MU-R FLUM designation in the Comprehensive Plan as 

discussed above in Section V. The proposed development is generally consistent with the conceptual 

development plan included in the Development Agreement (Inst. #2019-037825 & #2019-088365) 

for this site and complies with the conditions governing development of the subject property in the 

agreement. 

 The CUP is required for the outdoor stage/music venue that is proposed as a non-permanent 

component of the outdoor entertainment/recreation facility, which is a principal permitted use in the 

C-G zoning district. Although the subject property abuts a residential zoning district to the east, the 

residential homes have been removed by the developer who recently acquired these lots for future 

expansion of the mixed-use development to the west (i.e. Rackham Subdivision). Therefore, the 

extension on the hours of operation will not adversely affect abutting residential uses as there are 

none. In fact, the closest residence is approximately 918’ to the south of the driving range.  

 The outdoor stage is proposed to be located in the patio space which will seat 71 people and will be 

fully enclosed by an 8’ tall fence. During the summer months the stage is anticipated to be used about 

once a week in the afternoons until the venue closes. Performances will be limited to small musical 

acts and no additional sound equipment will be used for any performances – all music will be 

channeled through the building’s integrated sound system.  

 The proposed use is subject to the following UDC standards: 

Specific Use Standards (UDC 11-4-3-2) - Arts, Entertainment or Recreation Facility, Indoors 

and Outdoors: (Staff analysis in italics) 

A. General Standards: 

1. All outdoor recreation areas and structures that are not fully enclosed shall maintain a 

minimum setback of one hundred feet (100') from any abutting residential districts. The playing 

61Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?chapter_id=6513#1230415_id=6513


 

 
Page 5 

 
  

areas of golf courses, including golf tees, fairways, and greens, are an exception to this standard. 

(Ord. 07-1325, 7-10-2007). The outfield and targets for the proposed golf entertainment facility 

are located within 100’ of the shared property line with a County residential district (R1) to the 

east. However, as noted above, the homes on the adjacent lots have been removed and this area 

will be redeveloped and included in the subject mixed-use development. Further, this area could 

be deemed to qualify as the playing area/driving range of a golf course, which is exempt from this 

standard. 

2. No outdoor event or activity center shall be located within fifty feet (50') of any property line 

and shall operate only between the hours of six o'clock (6:00) A.M. and eleven o'clock (11:00) 

P.M. The activity center (i.e. outfield and targets) is not within 50’ of any property line. The 

Applicant is requesting an extension of the hours of operation from 8:00 am to 2:00 am, 7 days a 

week with the CUP application as allowed by UDC 11-2B-3B. See Hours of Operation below for 

analysis.  

3. Accessory uses including, but not limited to, retail, equipment rental, restaurant, and drinking 

establishments may be allowed if designed to serve patrons of the use only. Accessory uses 

consisting of a restaurant, bar, golf lessons and golf academies for kids should serve patrons of 

the use only. 

4. Outdoor speaker systems shall comply with section 11-3A-13, "Outdoor Speaker Systems", of 

this title. Applicant shall comply with this and all relevant code sections upon approval. 

B. Additional Standards for Swimming Pools: Any outdoor swimming pool shall be completely 

enclosed within a six foot (6') non-scalable fence that meets the requirements of the building code 

in accord with title 10, chapter 1, of this code. A swimming pool is not proposed with this project. 

C. Additional Standards for Outdoor Stage or Musical Venue: Any use with a capacity of one 

hundred (100) seats or more or within one thousand feet (1,000') of a residence or a residential 

district shall be subject to approval of a conditional use permit. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-

15-2005).  The outdoor stage area is proposed to be located in the patio space which is enclosed 

by an 8’ tall fence and will provide seating for 71 people. This area is more than 1,000’ from a 

residence but is within 1,000’ of a residential district which no longer has any homes. A CUP is 

requested as required for the outdoor stage/music venue. 

Dimensional Standards (UDC 11-2):  

Development of the site shall comply with the dimensional standards of the C-G zoning district in 

UDC Table 11-2B-3. Staff has reviewed the proposed plans and building elevations and they 

comply with the required standards.  

Hours of Operation (UDC 11-2B-3B): 

Business hours of operation in the C-G district are limited from 6:00 am to 11:00 pm when the 

property abuts a residential use or district; extended hours may be requested through a CUP per 

UDC 11-2B-3B. Additionally, the specific use standards associated with the use limit the hours of 

operation from 6:00 am to 11:00 pm per UDC 11-4-3-2A.2. 

A CUP is requested for extended hours of operation from 8:00 am to 2:00 am abutting a 

residential district. As discussed above, although the subject property abuts a residential zoning 

district to the east, the residential homes have been removed by the developer. Therefore, Staff 

believes the extended hours shouldn’t affect any nearby residences. Additionally, the closest 

residence from the driving range is approximately 918’ away to the south. For these reasons, Staff 

is supportive of the request.  

If extension of the hours of operation beyond 11:00 pm are approved, the use is subject to 

the City’s noise ordinance (MCC 6-3-6) which states noise may not create a public 

62Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT6PORE_CH3MIIN_6-3-6NOCRPUDI


 

 
Page 6 

 
  

disturbance as defined, between the hours of 11:00 pm and 6:00 am or at any time so as to 

unreasonably disturb or interfere with the peace, comfort or enjoyment of others.  

Access (UDC 11-3A-3): 

Access is proposed on the site plan from E. Talons View Ln., a private street along the southern 

boundary of the site, from S. Silverstone Way, a collector street, from E. Overland Rd., an arterial 

street to the south. No access is proposed or allowed via I-84. Two points of access are available 

for emergency access that meet Fire Dept. requirements – one via S. Rackham Way and one via 

S. Silverstone Way. 

E. Talons View Ln. ends approximately 200’ west of the east property line and is not proposed to 

extend to the east at this time. There is a public street, S. Rolling Hills Drive, just off-site from 

the subject parcel to the east. Rolling Hills Drive is constructed as a local, rural street with 24’ of 

pavement and does not have curb, gutter, sidewalk or streetlights. It provides access to the 

remaining homes in Rolling Hills Subdivision and dead-ends in a cul-de-sac at the north end.  

Because S. Rolling Hills Drive currently serves residences and is not improved to urban 

standards (i.e. – no sidewalk, curb, gutter or streetlights and has a narrow pavement width), 

Staff recommends access be prohibited to the Topgolf site via S. Rolling Hills Dr. until such 

time as improvements are made that are deemed appropriate by ACHD and the City. All 

vehicular access, including construction access, should be taken via the private street (Street 

A) from S. Silverstone Way until such time. See public record for comments from neighbors.  

 Parking (UDC 11-3C): 

A minimum of one (1) off-street parking space is required per 500 square feet (s.f.) of gross floor 

area. Based on 36,771 s.f., a minimum of 74 parking spaces are required. A total of 275 parking 

spaces are proposed, exceeding UDC standards. 

Landscaping (UDC 11-3B): 

Street buffer: The street buffer along I-84 was required to be constructed with the improvements 

for Rackham Subdivision. No other public streets abut this site. 

Buffer to residential uses: There are no residential uses abutting this site. The former residential 

homes to the east have been removed. 

Parking lot: Landscaping is required in the parking lot per the standards in UDC 11-3B-8C. No 

linear grouping of parking spaces may exceed 12 in a row without an internal planter island 

per UDC 11-3B-8C.2b; the row of parking directly south of the green space on the east end 

exceeds 12 spaces – the site/landscape plans should be revised to comply. All other 

landscaping appears to comply with UDC standards. 

Outdoor Lighting (UDC 11-3A-11):  

All outdoor lighting is required to comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-11C unless 

otherwise approved through alternative compliance. Light fixtures that have a maximum output 

of 1,800 lumens or more are required to have an opaque top to prevent up-lighting; the bulb shall 

not be visible and shall have a full cutoff shield in accord with Figure 1 in UDC 11-3A-11C.  

Details of the lighting proposed on the site that demonstrate compliance with the standards 

listed in UDC 11-3A-11 should be submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance 

application.  

Fencing (UDC 11-3A-7): 

No fencing is depicted on the site/landscape plan. Fencing is depicted on the elevations to the 

north and south sides of the storefront. Eight-foot tall cedar fencing is proposed to fully enclose 

the patio area. All fencing should be depicted on the plans submitted with the Certificate of 

Zoning Compliance application and comply with the standards in UDC 11-3A-7. 

63Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-3ACST
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/browse.aspx?id=228115&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-11OULI
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE


 

 
Page 7 

 
  

Net poles with a polyester barrier netting system ranging from 70’ to 156’ in height are proposed 

around the perimeter of the driving range to contain golf balls. This barrier does not meet the 

definition of a fence in UDC 11-1A-1 and therefore is not subject to the fencing standards in 

UDC 11-3A-7. 

 Building Elevations: 

Conceptual building elevations were submitted for the proposed structure as shown in Section 

IX.C. Building materials consist of EIFS and metal in a variety of colors, glazing and composite 

paneling. The elevations appear to generally comply with the standards in the Architectural 

Standards Manual; however, a detailed review will take place with the administrative Design 

Review application. 

 

 Certificate of Zoning Compliance (UDC 11-5B-1):  

 A Certificate of Zoning Compliance (CZC) is required to be submitted for the proposed use prior 

to submittal of a building permit application to ensure compliance with UDC standards and the 

conditions listed in Section X. 

Administrative Design Review (UDC 11-5B-8): 

 An application for administrative Design Review is required to be submitted concurrent with the 

CZC application. The design of the site and structures is required to comply with the standards 

listed in UDC 11-3A-19 and in the Architectural Standards Manual (ASM). 

VIII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed conditional use permit with the conditions in Section 

X per the Findings in Section XI. 

B.  The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission heard this item on June 17, 2021. At the public 

hearing, the Commission moved to approve the subject CUP request. 

 1. Summary of the Commission public hearing: 

  a. In favor: Paul Straits, Arco Murray; Tonn Peterson, BVA Development 

  b. In opposition: None 

  c. Commenting: Lynette Adsitt; Michael Blowers 

  d. Written testimony: Amy Wattles; Michael Blowers; Paul Straits, Arco Murray 

  e. Staff presenting application: Sonya Allen 

  f. Other Staff commenting on application: None 

 2. Key issue(s) of public testimony: 

  a. Against any access to the site from Rolling Hills Dr.; 

  b. Concern pertaining to future traffic and related safety issues on Rolling Hills Dr. from 

the commercial development. 

 3. Key issue(s) of discussion by Commission: 

  a. Proposed hours of operation; 

  b. The proximity of nearest residences in relation to the proposed use. 

 4. Commission change(s) to Staff recommendation: 

  a. None 

 

64Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-1CEZOCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-8ADDERE
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/Architectural%20Standards%20160802.pdf


 

 
Page 8 

 
  

IX. EXHIBITS 

A. Site Plan (date: 4/16/2021) 

 

  

65Item 3.



 

 
Page 9 

 
  

B. Landscape Plan (date: 4/28/2021) 

 

  

66Item 3.



 

 
Page 10 

 
  

C. Elevations (dated: 4/22/21) 

 

 

67Item 3.



 

 
Page 11 

 
  

 

 

68Item 3.



 

 
Page 12 

 
  

  

69Item 3.



 

 
Page 13 

 
  

X. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. Planning 

1. The Applicant shall comply with the specific use standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-2 – Arts, 

Entertainment or Recreation Facility, Indoors and Outdoors, including but not limited to the 

following: 

a.   Accessory uses including, but not limited to, retail, equipment rental, restaurant, and 

drinking establishments may be allowed if designed to serve patrons of the use only, and 

not the general public. 

b.   Any outdoor speaker systems shall comply with section 11-3A-13, "Outdoor Speaker 

Systems.” 

2. Any outdoor event shall only operate between the hours of eight o'clock (8:00) A.M. and two 

o'clock (2:00) A.M. as approved with the subject conditional use permit. 

3. Outdoor lighting shall comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-11. Lighting details 

shall be submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application that demonstrate 

compliance with these standards. 

4. The site/landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance shall be revised 

as follows: 

 a. The row of parking directly south of the green space on the east end exceeds 12 spaces in 

a row without an internal planter island; revise to comply with UDC 11-3B-8C.2b.  

 b. All proposed fencing shall be depicted on the plans and shall comply with the standards 

listed in UDC 11-3A-7. 

5. Access via S. Rolling Hills Dr. shall be prohibited to the site until such time as improvements 

are made that are deemed appropriate by ACHD and the City for public access to the 

Rackham mixed-use development. All access, including construction access, shall be taken 

via the private street (Street A) from S. Silverstone Way until such time. 

6.  Compliance with the City’s noise ordinance (MCC 6-3-6), which states noise may not create 

a public disturbance as defined, between the hours of 11:00 pm and 6:00 am or at any time so 

as to unreasonably disturb or interfere with the peace, comfort or enjoyment of others, is 

required. 

7. A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and administrative Design Review application is 

required to be submitted to the Planning Division and approved prior to submittal of a 

building permit application. 

B. Ada County Highway District (ACHD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228116&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity  

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229305&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity  

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was not required with this application as it was already included in 

the TIS for Silverstone (Eagle View Landing) Subdivision. 

70Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-13OUSPSY
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-11OULI
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT6PORE_CH3MIIN_6-3-6NOCRPUDI
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228116&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228116&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229305&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229305&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 14 

 
  

C. Nampa & Meridian Irrigation District (NMID) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229759&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity  

D. Boise Project Board of Control (BPBC) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228670&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity  

E. Police Department (PD) 

The Police Dept. has no comments at this time. 

F. Meridian Fire Department (MFD) 

The Fire Dept. has no access or fire flow issues with this development. The building will need a 

plan review by the Building Department. 

XI. FINDINGS 

A. Conditional Use Permit  

The Commission shall base its determination on the conditional use permit request upon the 

following: 

1.  That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional and 

development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

The site meets all the dimensional and development regulations of the C-G zoning district for the 

proposed use. Therefore, the Commission finds the site is large enough to accommodate the 

proposed use. 

2.  That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian comprehensive plan and in accord 

with the requirements of this title. 

The Commission finds the proposed use will be harmonious with the Comprehensive Plan in that 

it will provide an entertainment use which will contribute to the mix of uses desired in the MU-R 

designation.  

3.  That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other uses in 

the general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 

that such use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

The Commission finds the design, construction, operation and maintenance of the proposed use 

with the conditions imposed, should be compatible with the other commercial and residential 

uses existing and proposed in this area and will not adversely change the essential character of 

the area.  

4.  That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not 

adversely affect other property in the vicinity. 

If the proposed use complies with the conditions of approval in Section X as required, the 

Commission finds the proposed use should not adversely affect other properties in the vicinity. 

5.  That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as 

highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, 

water, and sewer. 

71Item 3.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229759&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229759&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228670&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228670&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 15 

 
  

The Commission finds the proposed use will be serviced adequately by all of the essential public 

facilities and services listed.  

6.  That the proposed use will not create excessive additional costs for public facilities and services 

and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

The Commission finds the proposed use should not create any additional costs for public 

facilities and services and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7.  That the proposed use will not involve activities or processes, materials, equipment and 

conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 

reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 

Although traffic will increase in this area due to the proposed use, it should not be excessive and 

the estimated traffic counts on adjacent roadways have been determined by ACHD to be 

acceptable. Noise will also increase but the closest residence is over 850’ away to the south 

which should mitigate any adverse impacts of the noise associated with the use. There shouldn’t 

be any smoke, fumes, glare or odors associated with the use. Therefore, the Commission finds the 

proposed use should not be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general welfare. 

8.  That the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a natural, scenic or 

historic feature considered to be of major importance. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-15-2005) 

The Commission finds the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a 

natural, scenic or historic feature considered to be of major importance.  

72Item 3.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing for Orchard Park Pad C Drive-Through (H-2021-0039) by 
Mandi Brozo of CSHQA, Located at 1245 W. Chinden Blvd.
A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a dual drive-through for a multi-tenant establishment 

within 300 feet of an existing drive-through on 1.47 acres of land in the C-C zoning district.

73Item 4.



 

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION  
 

Staff Contact: Joseph Dodson Meeting Date: July 1, 2021 

Topic: Public Hearing for Orchard Park Pad C Drive-Through (H-2021-0039) by Mandi 
Brozo of CSHQA, Located at 1245 W. Chinden Blvd. 

A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a dual drive-through for a multi-tenant 
establishment within 300 feet of an existing drive-through on 1.47 acres of 
land in the C-C zoning district. 

 

Information Resources: 

Click Here for Application Materials 

 

Click Here to Sign Up to Testify at the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing 

74Item 4.

http://bit.ly/H-2021-0039
https://apps.meridiancity.org/SIGNINPZ/


 

 Page 1  
  

HEARING 
DATE: 

7/1/2021 
 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Joseph Dodson, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0039 
Orchard Park Pad C Drive-Through – 
CUP 

LOCATION: The site is located at 1245 W. Chinden 
Boulevard, approximately ¼ mile east of 
Linder Road (Lot 8, Block 1, Linder 
Village Subdivision), in the NW ¼ of the 
NW ¼ of Section 25, Township 4N., 
Range 1W. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Conditional Use Permit for a dual drive-through for a multi-tenant establishment within 300-feet of 
an existing drive-through on 1.47 acres of land in the C-C zoning district. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

STAFF REPORT  

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT  

Description Details Page 
Acreage 1.47 acres  
Future Land Use Designation Mixed-Use Community  
Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped  
Proposed Land Use(s) Multi-tenant building with two crossing drive-

throughs 
 

Current Zoning Community Business District (C-C)  
Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

None  

Neighborhood meeting date; # 
of attendees:  

May 3, 2021; 2 attendees  

History (previous approvals) H-2017-0088 (AZ, CPAM, PP, VAR); FP-2020-0004; 
and H-2021-0034 (MDA, currently in process) 

 

75Item 4.



 

 Page 2  
  

A. Project Area Maps 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Mandie Brozo, CSHQA – 200 Broad Street, Boise, ID 83702 

B. Owner:  

High Desert Development Linder Village LLC – 2537 W State Street, Ste. 110, Boise, ID 83702 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
 
 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

76Item 4.



 

 Page 3  
  

C. Representative: 

Same as Applicant 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 6/11/2021 

Radius notification mailed to 
properties within 500 feet 6/8/2021 

Site Posting Date 6/18/2021 

Next Door posting 6/8/2021 

V. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed drive-through is for dual drive-throughs serving a multi-tenant building (three tenants) 
that is proposed as approximately 5,600 square feet. The submitted site plan shows both the northern 
most and the southernmost tenants as those utilizing a drive-through with the central tenant being a 
standard commercial tenant. These drive-throughs are within 300-feet of a separate multi-tenant 
building and drive-through to the west of this site and across the adjacent drive aisle. In addition, a 
nearly identical building as the one proposed in this application has already been approved at the 
administrative level via Certificate of Zoning Compliance (CZC) and Design Review (DES) and is 
located to the east of this site. These buildings and drive-throughs are also within 300 feet of one 
another and share a portion of its parking facilities between the two buildings. Therefore, Conditional 
Use Permit approval (CUP) per UDC Table 11-2B-2 is required due to its proximity to the other 
drive-throughs. Furthermore, this use is also subject to specific use standards, UDC 11-4-3-11, which 
are further analyzed below. 

The submitted site plan shows a rectangular building situated to the west portion of the buildable site 
area and is proposed with 36 new parking spaces—the shared parking area between the two multi-
tenant buildings will have at least 74 parking spaces; code requires a minimum of 44 spaces. The site 
plan shows two two-way drive aisles to the east of the building with parking adjacent to both drive 
aisles. These drive aisles connect to the east-west drive aisle closest to Chinden Boulevard that is the 
entrance to the proposed drive-throughs. Because the drive-throughs serve two separate tenants, the 
traffic patterns for each cross over one another midway through the site along the west side of the 
building.  

The Applicant provided a circulation plan that shows the intended traffic patterns and Staff agrees 
with the proposal but with some minor recommended revisions. The submitted plan shows Tenant 
“A,” the north tenant, as utilizing the yellow path which includes the southern drive-through at the 
north side of the building. Once a customer orders along the north side of the building they continue 
to the west side of the building and pick-up their order. They then stop at the determined drive-
through crossing and go from being the inside lane to the outside lane to exit the drive-through at the 
south end of the site. After this crossing point, the yellow lane (the outside lane) becomes the escape 
lane which is required for the length of the drive-through lanes. Tenant “B” utilizes the blue path 
according to the submitted site/circulation plan and essentially follows the opposite path of Tenant A. 
For Tenant B, the entrance along the north side of the building is the stacking lane and order position. 
Once customers for this tenant order and then stack at the determined crossing point, they would cross 

77Item 4.



 

 Page 4  
  

from the outside lane to the inside lane to pick-up their order. After pick-up, customers would 
continue south to turn east around the south side of the building and exit the drive-through. 

The proposed drive-through design is uncommon and complex with the added crossing point. Staff 
finds that with adequate signage and striping the proposed drive-through can work. Therefore, Staff is 
recommending not only striping on the pavement but also signage at the entrances and along the 
drive-through lanes to ensure customers know which business they are in line for. The proposed 
signage and striping should be submitted with the future CZC and DES applications for the building 
should it receive CUP approval for the drive-throughs. In addition, the north half of the proposed 
drive-throughs show a curbing of some kind that separates the two lanes. Staff understands the 
purpose of this but finds that a portion of it should be removed to allow for customers to use the 
outside lane as an escape lane earlier in the drive-through. See area noted below in red: 

 

The subject site is located within the Mixed-use Community (MU-C) future land use which 
contemplates a multitude of uses – residential, commercial, and otherwise. Due to the size of the site, 
this singular site cannot be expected to contain three distinct uses as discussed within the mixed-use 
sections of the Meridian Comprehensive Plan. Instead, those uses within the nearby radius should 
also be contemplated for compliance with this future land use. Staff finds the proposed use and the 
surrounding uses within the Orchard Park Development, both existing and planned, comply with the 
MU-C future land use designation.  

Specific Use Standards: The proposed drive-through establishment is subject to the specific use 
standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11, Drive-Through Establishment. A site plan is required to be 
submitted that demonstrates safe pedestrian and vehicular access and circulation on the site and 
between adjacent properties. At a minimum, the plan is required to demonstrate compliance with the 
following standards:  

In general, Staff supports the proposed site design; Staff’s analysis of the specific use standards 
and any recommendations are in italics. 

78Item 4.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES


 

 Page 5  
  

1) Stacking lanes have sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways, drive aisles and 
the public right-of-way by patrons;  

Per the submitted site plan, no public right-of-way has direct access to the site so there is no 
possibility for stacking to impede public ROW. The stacking lanes for each drive-through vary in 
length but both entrances are at the north end of the site and begin at the west end of the 
northernmost east-west drive aisle. Based on an exhibit (Exhibit VII.C) provided by the 
Applicant, the two ordering locations appear to be approximately 65 feet into the drive-through 
lanes. This should allow for 3-4 cars stacking prior to getting to the menu boards; if more cars 
stack in either lane, they will impede the east-west drive aisle along the north boundary of the 
site. Staff does not foresee the proposed businesses requiring extended stacking lanes like that of 
a Dutch Bros. or other solitary coffee shop. However, Staff recommends moving the menu boards 
further into the drive-through lanes to help alleviate the potential of this conflict. The north drive-
through can move the menu board and order speaker at least 10 feet to the west with no 
foreseeable issues. The internal drive-through lane does not have as much room but should be 
able to move them at least 5 feet further west; any additional distance is a benefit.  

Furthermore, there are multiple drive aisles that run north-south within the site and patrons 
would have multiple avenues of ingress and egress for the site especially when taking into 
account the only avenues to exit the site are to the south so there should not be much desire or 
need for patrons to exit the site by going north.  

Again, Staff does not foresee stacking for the proposed businesses being an existential crisis but 
understands the concern and has thus made minor recommendations to help with the potential 
problem. At a minimum, Staff is recommending the distance from the start of the drive-through to 
the order speakers shall be no less than 65 feet to ensure at least this distance is maintained.   

2) The stacking lane shall be a separate lane from the circulation lanes needed for access and 
parking, except stacking lanes may provide access to designed employee parking.  

The stacking lanes for each drive-through are separate from the circulation lanes for at least 65 
feet from the menu boards to the adjacent drive aisle. Staff finds this shows compliance with this 
requirement.  

3) The stacking lane shall not be located within ten (10) feet of any residential district or existing 
residence;  

The stacking lane is not located within 10’ of any residential district or residence. 

4) Any stacking lane greater than one hundred (100) feet in length shall provide for an escape 
lane; and  

The stacking lane for at least one of the proposed drive-through lanes appears to be greater than 
100 feet in length. As noted, Staff is unaware of where the ordering location is on the submitted 
site plan but it appears to be along the north end of the site for both lanes. With this assumption, 
the stacking lane for the overall drive-through is long enough to require an escape lane. As 
discussed previously, the outside lane is the escape lane following the crossing point of the two 
drive-throughs. Staff finds the proposed escape lane layout complies with this requirement. To 
ensure that the outside lane can be better utilized as an escape lane earlier in the drive-through 
process, Staff is recommending a section of curbing shown on the site plan at the north half of the 
site is removed (see exhibit above in previous section). 

5) The site should be designed so that the drive-through is visible from a public street for 
surveillance purposes.   

The proposed drive-throughs are located along the north, west, and south sides of the proposed 

79Item 4.



 

 Page 6  
  

building. With Chinden Boulevard and a multi-use pathway abutting the site along the north 
boundary, Staff finds the location of the drive-throughs are in appropriate locations for 
surveillance. In addition, the drive aisle abutting the drive-through to the west is intended to be 
one of the main commercial entrances to the overall Orchard Park Development which should 
offer additional surveillance opportunities. Meridian Police have also reviewed the site plan for 
compliance with this standard and have not brought any concerns to Staff.  

Staff’s specific recommendations can be found in Section VIII.A2 & A3. 

The proposed use of a Restaurant is subject to an additional specific use standard listed in UDC 11-4-
3-49 and notes that the minimum amount of parking shall be one (1) space for every 250 square feet 
of gross floor area. Based on the proposed building size of 5,600 square feet noted on the submitted 
site plan, a minimum of 22 parking spaces are required. The proposed site plan shows 36 parking 
spaces, exceeding UDC minimums. In addition, this building shares a larger parking area with an 
identical building to the east with an overall parking count of 74 spaces between the two sites, 
exceeding the minimum amount required by code by 30 spaces. At the time of the future Certificate of 
Zoning Compliance (CZC) application, the data table on the site plan should be corrected to reflect 
the correct minimum standards of a restaurant use instead of the general commercial ratio.  

Access: Access to the site is shown via multiple parking drive aisles along the south boundary of the 
site; these connect to a drive aisle that circumnavigates through the entire Orchard Park Development. 
Abutting the site to the west but with no direct lot access is a restricted entrance from Chinden 
Boulevard. In short, there are multiple access points to the subject site from Chinden, Linder, and 
other nearby public roads to the south and east. Staff does not find any issues with the proposed and 
existing access points in relation to the subject application. 

Parking: A minimum of one (1) parking space is required to be provided for every 250 square feet of 
gross floor area for the proposed restaurant use. The proposed building is shown as 5,600 square feet 
requiring a minimum of 22 parking spaces; the submitted site plan shows 36 proposed parking spaces 
in addition to other shared parking spaces to the east, exceeding UDC minimums. All proposed drive 
aisles and parking spaces also meet the required dimensional standards. 

The existing Development Agreement requires cross-access through all of the commercial parcels 
within the Orchard Park Development. Due to all of the shared drive aisles and parking areas, Staff 
does not have concerns with the Applicant complying with the existing requirement. 

A minimum one (1) bicycle parking space is required to be provided for every 25 vehicle spaces or 
portion thereof per UDC 11-3C-6G; bicycle parking facilities are required to comply with the location 
and design standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C. Bicycle parking is shown on the submitted plans in 
compliance with code (noted as callout number 14 on the site plan). 

Pedestrian Walkways: A pedestrian walkway is depicted on the site plan from the proposed building 
entrance sidewalk to the multi-use pathway along W. Chinden Blvd. as required by UDC 11-3A-
19B.4a. This walkway is depicted to traverse both entrances of the drive-through lanes which 
introduces a known conflict between pedestrians and vehicles. Therefore, Staff is recommending this 
walkway be distinguished from the driving surface by being constructed with pavers, brick, or 
scored/colored concrete, per subsection B of this code section. The proposed site plan appears to 
show a different material than the drive surface but its material is not called out. The Applicant 
should confirm compliance with this code section with a future CZC submittal and note the proposed 
material for this walkway. 

Landscaping: Parking lot landscaping is required to be provided in accord with the standards listed 
in UDC 11-3B-8C. Landscaping is depicted on the landscape plan in Section VII.B. The required 
landscape buffer adjacent to Chinden is already constructed or under construction with the 
subdivision approvals and is not part of this application.  

80Item 4.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP


 

 Page 7  
  

A minimum 5-foot wide landscape buffer is required to be provided along the perimeter of the 
parking or other vehicular use areas as set forth in UDC 11-3B-8C.1. The proposed parking drive 
aisles and drive-through around the perimeter of the subject site are proposed with landscaping at 
least 10 feet wide and vegetated with appropriate trees, shrubs, and other vegetative ground 
coverage. Staff finds these areas and proposed sidewalks meet and exceed the minimum landscape 
requirements. Furthermore, the submitted landscape plan shows all adjacent parking spaces with the 
required planter beds and landscaping. 

Mechanical Equipment: All mechanical equipment adjacent to the building and outdoor service and 
equipment should be incorporated into the overall design of buildings and landscaping so that the 
visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully contained and out of view from adjacent 
properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 11-3A-12. If mechanical equipment is proposed to be 
roof-mount, all equipment should be screened and out of view as noted above and should not be 
visible from the nearest right-of-way. 

Building Elevations: The Applicant did not apply for Design Review concurrently with this CUP 
application but has prematurely submitted for Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Administrative 
Design Review for the proposed building. These administrative applications will not be reviewed 
until after the CUP has been heard. Therefore, proposed building elevations have been provided to 
Staff but Staff has not done a detailed review of the elevations at this time. In general, the elevations 
show dark brick and white stucco with reveals as field materials; architectural metal siding and 
aluminum framed storefront windows on the north, east, and south elevations for accent materials; 
and a concrete banding along the base of the building to tie it to the ground elevation. Detailed review 
will occur with the Design Review application but Staff finds the proposed elevations to be 
substantially compliant with the Architectural Standards Manual. 

VI. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed conditional use permit with the conditions included 
in Section VIII per the Findings in Section IX. The Director has approved the administrative 
design review request with conditions. 

  

81Item 4.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR


 

 Page 8  
  

VII. EXHIBITS  

A. Proposed Site Plan (dated: 4/09/2021) 

 

 

82Item 4.



 

 Page 9  
  

B. Proposed Landscape Plan (dated: 4/08/2021) 

 

  

83Item 4.



 

 Page 10  
  

C. Proposed Menu Board and Order Speaker Locations 

 

84Item 4.



 

 Page 11  
  

D. Proposed Building Elevations (not a part of approvals) 

 

 

 

85Item 4.



 

 Page 12  
  

 

VIII. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. PLANNING 

1. Future development of this site shall comply with the existing Development Agreement (DA 
Inst. #2019-028376), and associated conditions of approval: H-2017-0088 (AZ, CPAM, PP, 
VAR); FP-2020-0004; Comply with amended DA approved with H-2021-0034 (MDA, DA is 
not yet recorded).  

2. The Conditional Use Permit for the proposed Drive-Through Establishment is hereby 
approved with the following conditions of approval: 

a. The proposed menu boards/order speakers shall be located no less than 65 feet from the 
near edge of curb at the drive-through entrances. Compliance shall be depicted with the 
Certificate of Zoning Compliance site plan. 

b. The Applicant/Owner shall include both pavement striping and signage throughout 
the site and within the drive-throughs to ensure traffic circulation pattern is clear to 
patrons; proposed signage AND striping locations shall be submitted and depicted 
on the site plan at the time of Certificate of Zoning Compliance application and 
include both directional and tenant signage to direct patrons to desired tenant drive-
through. 

c. Per UDC 11-3A-19B.4b, depict all pedestrian walkways traversing driving surfaces to be 
constructed with bricks, pavers, and/or colored or scored concrete to clearly delineate the 
driving surface from the pedestrian walkway.  

86Item 4.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=164926&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=164926&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 13  
  

3. The site plan submitted with the future Certificate of Zoning Compliance application shall be 
revised as follows: 

a. Per the exhibit within Section V above, remove a segment of curbing within the north 
half of the separated drive-throughs.  

b. Provide exhibits of and depict on the plans the striping and directional and tenant signage  

4. The submitted landscape plan is approved as submitted. Applicant shall maintain the required 
35-foot landscape buffer to Chinden Boulevard per City standards outlined in UDC 11-3B-7. 

5. Compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11 – Drive-Through Establishment is 
required in perpetuity. 

6. Comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-49 – Restaurant. 

7. A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Administrative Design Review application shall be 
submitted and approved for the proposed use prior to submittal of a building permit 
application. Future Commercial building shall comply with the standards outlined in the 
Architectural Standards Manual. 

8. The conditional use permit is valid for a maximum period of two (2) years unless otherwise 
approved by the City. During this time, the Applicant shall commence the use as permitted in 
accord with the conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of 
approval, and acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or 
structures on or in the ground as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6. A time extension may be requested 
as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6F. 

B. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230267&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity  

IX. FINDINGS 

Conditional Use (UDC 11-5B-6) 

Findings: The commission shall base its determination on the conditional use permit request upon the 
following: 

1. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional 
and development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

Staff finds the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed development and meet all 
dimensional and development regulations of the C-C zoning district. 

2. That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian comprehensive plan and in 
accord with the requirements of this title. 

Staff finds the proposed multi-tenant building and dual drive-throughs will be harmonious with 
the Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with applicable UDC standards with the conditions 
noted in Section VIII of this report. 

3. That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other 
uses in the general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general 
vicinity and that such use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

With the conditions of approval in Section VIII and the approved and existing uses in near 
proximity to the subject site, Staff finds the design, construction, operation and maintenance of 

87Item 4.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-49RE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-6COUS
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230267&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230267&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 14  
  

the proposed use will be compatible with other uses in the general neighborhood, be compatible 
with the existing and intended character of the vicinity, and will not adversely change the 
essential character of the area. 

4. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not 
adversely affect other property in the vicinity. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not adversely affect other properties in the vicinity if it complies 
with the conditions in Section VIII of this report. 

5. That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services 
such as highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, 
refuse disposal, water, and sewer. 

Staff finds the proposed use will be served by essential public facilities and services as required. 

6. That the proposed use will not create excessive additional costs for public facilities and 
services and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not create additional costs for public facilities and services and 
will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7. That the proposed use will not involve activities or processes, materials, equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property or the general 
welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not be detrimental to any persons, property or the general 
welfare by the reasons noted above. 

8. That the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a natural, scenic 
or historic feature considered to be of major importance. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-
15-2005) 

 Staff finds the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of any such features. 

88Item 4.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing for DaVinci Park Drive-Through (H-2021-0037) by NeuDesign 
Architecture, Located at 4744 N. Park Crossing Ave.
A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment for a coffee kiosk within 

300 feet of an existing residence and residential district on 1.19 acres of land in the C-N zoning 

district.

89Item 5.



 

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION  
 

Staff Contact: Sonya Allen Meeting Date: July 1, 2021 

Topic: Public Hearing for DaVinci Park Drive-Through (H-2021-0037) by NeuDesign 
Architecture, Located 4744 N. Park Crossing Ave. 

A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment for a 
coffee kiosk within 300 feet of an existing residence and residential district 
on 1.19 acres of land in the C-N zoning district. 

 

Information Resources: 

Click Here for Application Materials 

 

Click Here to Sign Up to Testify at the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing 

90Item 5.

http://bit.ly/H-2021-0037
https://apps.meridiancity.org/SIGNINPZ/


 

 
Page 1 

 
  

HEARING 

DATE: 
7/1/2021 

 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 

208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0037 

DaVinci Park Drive-Through – CUP 

LOCATION: 4744 N. Park Crossing Ave. (Lot 11, 

Block 3, Da Vinci Park Subdivision), in 

the NE ¼ of Section 31, Township 4N., 

Range 1E. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Conditional use permit (CUP) for a drive-through establishment for a coffee kiosk within 300-feet of 

an existing residence and residential district on 1.19-acres of land in the C-N zoning district. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

STAFF REPORT  

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT  

Description Details Page 

Acreage 1.19-acres  

Future Land Use Designation Mixed Use – Neighborhood (MU-N)  

Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped land  

Proposed Land Use(s) Restaurant (coffee shop) with a drive-through  

Current Zoning Neighborhood Business District (C-N)  

Physical Features (waterways, 

hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

None  

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 

attendees:  

5/4/21; no attendees other than the Applicant  

History (previous approvals) AZ-06-041 (DA #107005526, Harpe Sub.); PP-06-042 

(Harpe Sub. – expired); RZ-13-016; PP-13-036 (DaVinci 

Park); MDA-14-002 (DA #114034781); FP-14-013 

 

91Item 5.



 

 
Page 2 

 
  

A. Project Area Maps 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Marla Carson, NeuDesign Architecture – 725 E. 2nd Street, Meridian, ID 83642 

B. Owner:  

Cory Swain, CS2, LLC – 3363 E. Presidential Dr., Ste. 203, Meridian, ID 83642 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
 

 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

92Item 5.



 

 
Page 3 

 
  

C. Representative: 

Same as Applicant 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 6/11/2021 

Radius notification mailed to 

properties within 300 feet 
6/8/2021 

Site Posting Date 6/9/2021 

Next Door posting 6/8/2021 

  

V. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed drive-through is for a 620 square foot coffee shop (classified as a restaurant) within 

300-feet of an existing residence and residential district, which requires Conditional Use Permit 

approval (CUP) per UDC Table 11-2B-2 and 11-4-3-11A.1.  

The proposed development plan is in substantial conformance with the provisions in the existing 

Development Agreement (Inst. #114034781) and with the approved conceptual development plan 

included in the agreement.  

Specific Use Standards: The proposed drive-through establishment is subject to the specific use 

standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11, Drive-Through Establishment. A site plan is required to be 

submitted that demonstrates safe pedestrian and vehicular access and circulation on the site and 

between adjacent properties. At a minimum, the plan is required to demonstrate compliance with the 

following standards: Staff’s analysis is in italics. 

1) Stacking lanes have sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways, drive aisles and 

the public right-of-way by patrons;  

The width of the area proposed for the one-way drive aisle for access to the northern row of 

parking and stacking lane for the drive-through is too narrow to accommodate both travel 

lanes – vehicles in the stacking lane will encroach into the drive aisle. Staff recommends the 

northern row of parking is removed and a planter island is added to guide traffic to avoid 

conflicts. 

2) The stacking lane shall be a separate lane from the circulation lanes needed for access and 

parking, except stacking lanes may provide access to designated employee parking.  

The stacking lane and escape lane should be clearly delineated. The northern row of parking 

adjacent to the stacking lane should be removed. 

3) The stacking lane shall not be located within ten (10) feet of any residential district or existing 

residence;  

The stacking lane is not located within 10’ of any residential district or residence. 

93Item 5.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES


 

 
Page 4 

 
  

4) Any stacking lane greater than one hundred (100) feet in length shall provide for an escape 

lane; and  

The stacking lane exceeds 100’ in length and an escape lane is proposed that should be signed 

accordingly. 

5) The site should be designed so that the drive-through is visible from a public street for 

surveillance purposes.   

The drive-through is visible from E. McMillan Rd. and N. Park Crossing Ln., public streets along 

the north and west boundaries of the site, for surveillance purposes. 

Based on the above analysis, Staff deems the proposed drive-through in compliance with the 

specific use standards as required if the recommended revisions to the site plan are made. 

The proposed restaurant is subject to the specific use standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-49 Restaurant, 

which requires at a minimum, one (1) parking space to be provided for every 250 square feet of gross 

floor area. Upon any change of use for an existing building or tenant space, a detailed parking plan is 

required to be submitted that identifies the available parking for the overall site that complies with 

UDC standards. 

Hours of Operation: The hours of operation are restricted to 6:00 am to 10:00 pm in the C-N zoning 

district per UDC 11-2B-3B. The proposed hours of operation are 6:00 to 10:00 pm in accord with this 

standard. 

Dimensional Standards: Future development should be consistent with the dimensional standards 

listed in UDC Table 11-2B-3. 

Access: A full-access driveway exists to this site from the west via N. Park Crossing Ln. and a right-

out only driveway exists to N. Locust Grove Rd. on the east side of the lot. Direct access via E. 

McMillan Rd. is prohibited. 

Parking: A minimum of one (1) parking space is required to be provided for every 250 square feet of 

gross floor area for restaurant uses. The restaurant space is proposed to consist of 620 square feet; 

therefore, a minimum of two (2) spaces are required for the restaurant (i.e. coffee shop). A total of 42 

spaces exist and/or are proposed between the proposed use and the existing 9,500 square foot retail 

building on the east side of the site. The minimum number of parking spaces required for the retail 

use is 19 based on one space per 500 s.f. of gross floor area. The proposed number of spaces exceeds 

UDC standards by 21 spaces. However, with removal of the northern row of parking adjacent to the 

vehicle stacking lane for the drive-through, there will be 5 fewer spaces. Staff believes the remaining 

number of spaces is still sufficient to serve the use(s). 

A minimum one (1) bicycle parking space is required to be provided for every 25 vehicle spaces or 

portion thereof per UDC 11-3C-6G; bicycle parking facilities are required to comply with the location 

and design standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C. A bicycle rack exists on the eastern portion of the site 

by the retail building. A bicycle rack should also be provided with the proposed use, capable of 

holding a minimum of one bicycle. 

Pedestrian Walkways: A continuous internal pedestrian walkway that is a minimum of 5-feet in 

width is required to be provided from the perimeter sidewalk to the main building entrance per 

UDC 11-3A-19B.4. The pathway should be distinguished from the vehicular driving surface 

through the use of pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks. The walkway should have 

weather protection within 20’ of all customer entrances. The site plan submitted with the 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance application should reflect compliance with this standard. 

Landscaping: Parking lot landscaping is required to be provided in accord with the standards listed 

in UDC 11-3B-8C. Landscaping is required within all planter islands within the parking area as 

94Item 5.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-49RE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP


 

 
Page 5 

 
  

required. The landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application 

should reflect compliance with this standard. 

There is an existing street buffer and sidewalk along E. McMillan Rd. and N. Locust Grove Rd. that 

was installed with the subdivision improvements. 

Mechanical Equipment: All mechanical equipment on the back of the building and outdoor service 

and equipment should be incorporated into the overall design of buildings and landscaping so that the 

visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully contained and out of view from adjacent 

properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 11-3A-12.  

Building Elevations: Conceptual building elevations were submitted as shown in Section VII.C that 

incorporate a mix of materials consisting of hardiplank cement lap siding, accoya wood siding and 

glazing. Per the Development Agreement, some of the same design elements are required to be 

incorporated in the commercial portion of the development as in the residential portion.  

The proposed elevations are not approved with this application; final design shall be consistent 

with the design standards listed in the Architectural Standards Manual and with the 

Development Agreement.  

Certificate of Zoning Compliance & Design Review: A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and 

Design Review application is required to be submitted for the proposed use prior to submittal of a 

building permit application to ensure consistency with the conditions in Section VII, UDC standards 

and design standards. 

VI. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed conditional use permit with the conditions included 

in Section VIII per the Findings in Section IX. 

 

 

  

95Item 5.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards


 

 
Page 6 

 
  

VII. EXHIBITS  

A. Proposed Site Plan (dated: 11/20/2021)  

 

 

  

96Item 5.



 

 
Page 7 

 
  

B. Proposed Landscape Plan (dated: 4/14/2021)  

  

97Item 5.



 

 
Page 8 

 
  

C. Conceptual Building Elevations (dated: 4/14/21) 

 

 

 

 

 

  

98Item 5.



 

 
Page 9 

 
  

VIII. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. PLANNING 

1. Future development of this site shall comply with the previous conditions of approval and 

terms of the existing Development Agreement [Inst. #107005526 (AZ-06-041 Harpe Sub.), 

amended as Inst. #114034781 (MDA-13-021, MDA-14-002 DaVinci Park); PP-13-036 

(DaVinci Park); FP-14-013] and the conditions contained herein. 

2. The site plan and landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance 

application shall be revised as follows: 

a. The stacking lane, menu and speaker location(s), and window location shall be depicted 

in accord with UDC 11-4-3-11B.  

b. All mechanical equipment on the back of the building and outdoor service and equipment 

areas should be incorporated into the overall design of buildings and landscaping so that 

the visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully contained and out of view 

from adjacent properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 11-3A-12. 

c. A bicycle rack shall be provided on the site capable of holding a minimum of one 

bicycle; bicycle parking facilities are required to comply with the location and design 

standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C. 

d. Depict a continuous internal pedestrian walkway that is a minimum of 5-feet in width 

from the perimeter sidewalk to the main building entrance per UDC 11-3A-19B.4. The 

pathway shall be distinguished from the vehicular driving surface through the use of 

pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks and shall have weather protection within 20’ 

of all customer entrances. 

e. Depict landscaping within all planter islands within the parking area in accord with the 

standards listed in UDC 11-3B-8C. The planting area shall not be less than 5-feet in any 

dimension, measured inside curbs as set forth in UDC 11-3B-8C.2a. 

f. Remove the northern row of parking adjacent to the stacking lane and install signage for 

the escape lane. Depict a planter island along the northern side of the remaining row of 

parking to guide traffic, landscaped per the standards in UDC 11-3B-8C. 

g. Clearly delineate the vehicle stacking lane for the drive-through and the escape lane. 

3. Direct access via E. McMillan Rd. is prohibited. 

4. Compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11 – Drive-Through Establishment is 

required. 

5. Compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-49 – Restaurant is required. 

6. Parking for the overall site shall be provided in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-

3-49 for restaurants.  

7. A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Design Review application shall be submitted and 

approved for the proposed use prior to submittal of a building permit application. The design 

of the site and structure shall comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-19; the design 

standards listed in the Architectural Standards Manual and with the Development Agreement. 

The Development Agreement requires some of the same design elements to be incorporated in 

the commercial portion of the development as in the residential portion. 

8. The conditional use permit is valid for a maximum period of two (2) years unless otherwise 

99Item 5.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=38597&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=98504&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-49RE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards


 

 
Page 10 

 
  

approved by the City. During this time, the Applicant shall commence the use as permitted in 

accord with the conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of 

approval, and acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or 

structures on or in the ground as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6. A time extension may be requested 

as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6F. 

B. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD) 

Staff Report: 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230160&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity   

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) is not required for this project. 

C. NAMPA & MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NMID) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230615&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC

ity  

IX. FINDINGS 

Conditional Use (UDC 11-5B-6) 

Findings: The commission shall base its determination on the conditional use permit request upon the 

following: 

1. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional and 

development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

Staff finds the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed development and meet all 

dimensional and development regulations of the C-N zoning district. 

2. That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian comprehensive plan and in accord 

with the requirements of this title. 

Staff finds the proposed restaurant (coffee shop) with a drive-through will be harmonious with 

the Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with applicable UDC standards with the conditions 

noted in Section VIII of this report. 

3. That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other uses in 

the general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 

that such use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

Staff finds the design, construction, operation and maintenance of the proposed use will be 

compatible with other uses in the general neighborhood, with the existing and intended character 

of the vicinity and will not adversely change the essential character of the area. 

4. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not 

adversely affect other property in the vicinity. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not adversely affect other properties in the vicinity if it complies 

with the conditions in Section VIII of this report. 

5. That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as 

highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, 

water, and sewer. 

Staff finds the proposed use will be served by essential public facilities and services as required. 

100Item 5.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-6COUS
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230160&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230160&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230615&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230615&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 11 

 
  

6. That the proposed use will not create excessive additional costs for public facilities and services 

and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not create additional costs for public facilities and services and 

will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7. That the proposed use will not involve activities or processes, materials, equipment and 

conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 

reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 

Staff finds the proposed use will not be detrimental to any persons, property or the general 

welfare by the reasons noted above. 

8. That the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a natural, scenic or 

historic feature considered to be of major importance. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-15-2005) 

 Staff finds the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of any such features. 

9.  Additional findings for the alteration or extension of a nonconforming use: 

a.  That the proposed nonconforming use does not encourage or set a precedent for additional 

nonconforming uses within the area; and, 

 This finding is not applicable. 

b.  That the proposed nonconforming use is developed to a similar or greater level of conformity 

with the development standards as set forth in this title as compared to the level of 

development of the surrounding properties. 

 ` This finding is not applicable. 

101Item 5.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing for TM Creek Apartments Phase 3 (H-2021-0035) by Brighton 
Corporation, Generally Located South of W. Franklin Rd. and East of S. Ten Mile Rd.
A. Request: Rezone of 5.58 acres of land from the TN-C to the C-G zoning district.

B. Request: A Conditional Use Permit for a multi-family development consisting of 238 

apartment units (including 2 live/work units) on 7.83 acres of land in the C-G zoning district.

102Item 6.



 

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION  
 

Staff Contact: Sonya Allen Meeting Date: July 1, 2021 

Topic: Public Hearing for TM Creek Apartments Phase 3 (H-2021-0035) by Brighton 
Corporation, Generally Located South of W. Franklin Rd. and East of S. Ten Mile Rd. 

A. Request: Rezone of 5.58 acres of land from the TN-C to the C-G zoning district.  
B. Request: A Conditional Use Permit for a multi-family development consisting 

of 238 apartment units (including 2 live/work units) on 7.83 acres of land in 
the C-G zoning district. 

 

Information Resources: 

Click Here for Application Materials 

 

Click Here to Sign Up to Testify at the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing 

103Item 6.

http://bit.ly/H-2021-0035
https://apps.meridiancity.org/SIGNINPZ/


 
 

 
Page 1 

 
  

HEARING 

DATE: 
July 1, 2021 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 

208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0035 – TM Creek Apartments 

Phase 3  

LOCATION: South of W. Franklin Rd. and east of S. 

Ten Mile Rd., in the NW ¼ of Section 

14, Township 3N., Range 1W. (Parcel 

#R8483040240) 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Applicant has applied for a Rezone (RZ) of 5.58-acres of land from the TN-C to the C-G zoning district; 

and Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a multi-family development consisting of 238 apartment units, 

including 2 live/work units, on 7.83-acres of land in the C-G zoning district.  

Alternative Compliance (ALT) is requested to the following UDC standards: 

• UDC 11-3A-19B.3, which requires no more than 50% of the total off-street parking area for the site 

to be located between building facades and abutting streets; (Note: Staff determined this request is 

not necessary – see analysis in Section VI.) 

• UDC 11-4-3-27B.3, which requires a minimum of 80 square feet of private usable open space to be 

provided for each dwelling unit; and,  

• UDC Table 11-3C-6, which doesn’t include a requirement for parking for studio units, to allow the 

vertically integrated standard to apply. 

  

STAFF REPORT 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

104Item 6.



 

 
Page 2 

 
  

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Community Metrics 

Description Details Page 

Ada County Highway 

District 

  

• Staff report (yes/no) Yes  

• Requires ACHD 

Commission Action 

(yes/no) 

No  

Traffic Impact Study 

(yes/no) 

No  

Access 

(Arterial/Collectors/State 

Hwy/Local) (Existing 

and Proposed) 

One (1) private street access is proposed via Wayfinder, a collector street, along the 

west boundary of the site. 

 

Fire Service   

• Distance to Fire 

Station 

2.3 miles from Station #1  

• Fire Response Time Within 5-minute response time area goal  

Description Details Page 

Acreage 5.58-acres (RZ area); 7.83-acres (CUP area)  

Future Land Use Designation Mixed Use Commercial (MU-COM) & High Density 

Residential (HDR) 

 

Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped land   

Proposed Land Use(s) Future commercial (west of Wayfinder); multi-family 

development (east of Wayfinder) 

 

Current Zoning General Retail & Service Commercial (C-G) and Traditional 

Neighborhood Center (TN-C) 

 

Proposed Zoning General Retail & Service Commercial (C-G)  

Number of Residential Units (type 

of units) 

238-apartment units (studio, 1-bedroom, 2-bedroom and 

live/work) 

 

Density (gross & net) 30.4 units/acre (gross)/30.8 units/acre (net)  

Open Space (acres, total [%] / 

buffer / qualified) 

2.51-acres (32.1%)  

Amenities Clubhouse with fitness facilities, a bike repair room, pet 

grooming station and work rooms; outdoor swimming pool, 

grilling area, sports court (snookball) & ping pong and 

fireside seating.  

 

Physical Features (waterways, 

hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

The Ten Mile Creek runs off-site along the southern boundary 

of the site. 

 

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 

attendees:  

April 12, 2021; no attendees other than Applicant 

 

 

History (previous approvals) AZ-13-015/PP-13-030/H-2015-0018/H-2016-0067/H-2020-

0074 (DA Inst. #2021-089157) 

 

105Item 6.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230714&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 3 

 
  

Description Details Page 

• Resource Reliability 70% – does not meet targeted goal of 80% or greater  

• Risk Identification 4 – current resources would not be adequate to supply service to this project.  

• Accessibility Meets all required access, road widths and turnarounds once secondary access is 

completed. 

 

• Special/resource 

needs 

Will require an aerial device – can meet this need in the required time frame if a 

truck company is required. 

 

• Water Supply Requires 2,500 gallons per minute for 2 hours.  

• Other  See specific comments in Section IX.C.  

Police Service No comments were submitted.  

West Ada School District   

• Distance (elem, ms, hs) 

 

 

• Capacity of Schools  

• # of Students Enrolled  

• Predicted # of students 

generated from 

proposed development 

 24  

Wastewater   

Distance to Sewer Services Directly adjacent  

Sewer Shed South Black Cat Trunk Shed  

Estimated Project Sewer 

ERU’s 

See Application  

WRRF Declining Balance 14.15  

Project Consistent with WW 

Master Plan/Facility Plan 

Yes  

Impacts/Concerns • Sewer easements must be provided and be free of encroachments.  

• A sewer stub is required to the northern parcel S1214212580 

 

Water   

Distance to Water Services Directly adjacent   

Pressure Zone 2  

Estimated Project Water 

ERU’s 

See Application  

Water Quality None  

Project Consistent with Water 

Master Plan 

Yes  

Impacts/Concerns • Water easements must be provided and be free of encroachements. 

• Water must be extended to the east property line. 

• An easement must be provided to the southeast portion of the site for future 

water connection to the east.  

• The 6’’ water main on the east side of the property must be increased to 8’’ 

pipe to meet fire flow. 

 

106Item 6.



 

 
Page 4 

 
  

C. Project Maps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Kameron Nauahi, Brighton Corporation – 12601 W. Explorer, Boise, ID 83713 

B. Owner:  

Brighton Development – 2929 W. Navigator Dr., Meridian, ID 83642 

C. Representative: 

Mike Wardle, Brighton Corporation – 2929 W. Navigator Dr., Ste. 400, Meridian, ID 83642 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

107Item 6.



 

 
Page 5 

 
  

IV.  NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

City Council 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 6/11/2021   

Radius notification mailed to 

properties within 300 feet 6/8/2021   

Public hearing notice sign posted 

on site 6/17/2021   

Nextdoor posting 6/8/2021   

V. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (Comprehensive Plan and TMISAP) 

Land Use:  

The subject property is designated Mixed Use – Commercial (MUC-COM) and High Density 

Residential (HDR) on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) in the Comprehensive Plan. Development of 

the property is governed by the Ten Mile Interchange Specific Area Plan (TMISAP). 

The purpose of the MU-COM designation is to encourage the development of a mixture of office, retail, 

recreational, employment, and other miscellaneous uses, with supporting multi-family or single-family 

attached residential uses. While the focus of these areas is on commercial and employment uses, the 

horizontal and vertical integration of residential uses is essential to securing entitlements. As with all 

mixed-use areas, this designation requires developments to integrate the three major use categories – 

residential, commercial and employment. In MU-COM areas, three or more significant uses also tend to 

be larger scale projects. This designation is intended to provide flexibility and encourage developers to 

build innovative projects. 

HDR designated areas are multiple-family housing areas where relatively larger and taller apartment 

buildings are the recommended building type. HDR should include a mix of housing types that achieve 

an overall average density target of at least 16-25 dwelling units per gross acre. Most developments in 

this area should fall within or below this range, although smaller areas or higher or lower density may be 

included. Residential densities can be concentrated in multi-story projects with up to 50 dwelling units 

per acre allowed. 

Design: Traditional neighborhood design concepts with a strong pedestrian-oriented focus are essential 

in the MU-COM designation. The goal in these areas is to achieve a FAR of 1.00-1.25 or more. 

Development within these areas exhibit quality building and site design and an attractive pedestrian 

environment with a strong street character. The mix of residential uses may be achieved vertically within 

buildings; however, some horizontal mixes may be allowed. This land use designation calls for an 

overall target density of 8-12 dwelling units per acre, with higher densities allowed on individual 

projects. No more than 30% of the ground level development within the MU-COM designation should 

be used for residences. See the Application of the Design Elements matrix on pg. 3-49 of the TMISAP for 

design elements applicable to the proposed development.  

HDR designated areas are typically relatively compact located adjacent to or very close to larger MU-

COM and Employment areas, and other intensively developed lands. The design and orientation of new 

HDR buildings should be pedestrian-oriented and special streetscape improvements should be 

considered to create rich and enjoyable public spaces. A strong physical relationship between the 

commercial and residential components to adjacent employment or transit centers is critical. Housing 

types desired in HDR areas are apartment buildings, townhouses or row houses, and live-work units; 

however, the expectation is that most buildings will be relatively dense multi-family types. 

108Item 6.

https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/compplan/Adopted-Comp-Plan.pdf
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/10mile-191217-Full.pdf


 

 
Page 6 

 
  

Transportation: The Transportation System Map (TSM) in the TMISAP does not depict any local, 

collector or arterial streets across this site other than the existing S. Wayfinder Ave., a collector street, 

which lies along the west boundary of the proposed residential area. 

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was not required because this area was studied and included in the 

TMISAP.  

The streets in this vicinity (i.e. W. Franklin Rd., S. Ten Mile Rd. and S. Wayfinder Ave.) are fully built-

out.  

Proposed Use: A multi-family development containing 238 dwelling units consisting of apartments and 

live/work units is proposed to develop on the site. The proposed development lies within two different 

FLUM designations – MU-COM & HDR. Multi-family apartments and live/work units are desired uses 

in both designations.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICIES: 

Goals, Objectives, & Action Items: Staff finds the following Comprehensive Plan policies to be 

applicable to this application and apply to the proposed use of this property (staff analysis in italics): 

• “Encourage a variety of housing types that meet the needs, preferences, and financial capabilities of 

Meridian’s present and future residents.” (2.01.02D) 

 The proposed multi-family apartments will contribute to the variety of housing types and financial 

capabilities for such in the City as desired.  

• “Permit new development only where it can be adequately served by critical public facilities and 

urban services at the time of final approval, and in accord with any adopted levels of service for 

public facilities and services.” (3.03.03F) 

 City water and sewer services are available and can be extended by the developer with development 

in accord with UDC 11-3A-21.  

• “Locate higher density housing near corridors with existing or planned transit, Downtown, and in 

proximity to employment centers.” (2.01.01H) 

The proposed multi-family development is located in close proximity to S. Ten Mile Rd., a mobility 

arterial, providing access to I-84 and is within an employment center area.  

• “Avoid the concentration of any one housing type or lot size in any geographical area; provide for 

diverse housing types throughout the City.” (2.01.01G) 

The proposed multi-family apartments will contribute to the mix of housing types available in the 

City. There is currently a mix of housing types within a mile of this site consisting of single-family, 

townhomes and multi-family apartments.  

• “Encourage compatible uses and site design to minimize conflicts and maximize use of land.” 

(3.07.00) 

 The proposed multi-family apartments should be compatible with existing multi-family residential 

uses to the south and southwest and future commercial/retail uses in this area.  

• “Ensure development is connected to City of Meridian water and sanitary sewer systems and the 

extension to and through said developments are constructed in conformance with the City of Meridian 

Water and Sewer System Master Plans in effect at the time of development.” (3.03.03A) 

The proposed development will connect to City water and sewer systems; services are required to be 

109Item 6.



 

 
Page 7 

 
  

provided to and though this development in accord with current City plans. 

• “Encourage and support mixed-use areas that provide the benefits of being able to live, shop, dine, 

play, and work in close proximity, thereby reducing vehicle trips, and enhancing overall livability and 

sustainability.” (3.06.02B) 

The proposed residential uses will allow folks to live in close proximity to employment, retail and 

restaurant uses which will reduce vehicle trips and enhance livability. 

VI. STAFF ANALYSIS 

A. REZONE (RZ): 

A RZ of 5.58-acres of land is proposed from the TN-C to the C-G zoning district. As discussed above, 

the associated FLUM designation for the area proposed to be rezoned is mostly MU-COM with a narrow 

sliver along the eastern boundary designated as HDR. The proposed C-G zoning and multi-family 

residential and live/work (i.e. vertically integrated) uses are consistent with the FLUM designations for 

this property. 

A site plan and building elevations were submitted as shown in Sections VIII.B and D that show how the 

property is proposed to develop with multi-family residential and vertically integrated uses consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan and the TMISAP. The proposed density at 30.4 units per acre is also 

consistent with the density desired for this area, which is mostly designated HDR. 

A legal description and exhibit map for the area proposed to be rezoned is included in Section VIII.A. 

Because the subject property is already included within the area governed by a Development Agreement 

(DA) (Ten Mile Crossing H-2020-0074, Inst. #2021-089157) and the proposed development is 

consistent with the provisions in the agreement, Staff does not recommend a new DA or an amendment 

to the existing DA as a provision of the rezone. 

B. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (CUP) 

 A CUP is proposed for a multi-family development containing (3) 4-story structures with 238 apartment 

units consisting of (42) studio, (120) 1-bedroom, (74) 2-bedroom and (2) live/work (i.e. vertically 

integrated) units on 7.83-acres of land in the C-G zoning district. The size of each of the unit types 

proposed is as follows: 516 square feet (s.f.) for studio units; 685 s.f. for 1-bedroom units; 1,036 s.f. for 

2-bedroom units; 733 s.f. for small live/work unit; and 1,082 for large live/work unit.  The gross density 

of the development is 30.4 units per acre.  

A total of 1,815 square feet of non-residential uses are proposed in the vertically integrated residential 

structure, which is a principal permitted use in the C-G zoning district and will allow a variety of 

commercial uses. 

Specific Use Standards (UDC 11-4-3):  

The proposed use is subject to the following standards: (Staff’s analysis/comments in italic text) 

11-4-3-27: MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENT: 

Site Design: 

1. Buildings shall provide a minimum setback of ten feet (10') unless a greater setback is otherwise 

required by this title and/or title 10 of this Code. Building setbacks shall take into account 

windows, entrances, porches and patios, and how they impact adjacent properties. The proposed 

site plan complies with this standard. 

110Item 6.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230714&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
http://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/index.php?book_id=306&chapter_id=6513#s1348010
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?ft=1&find=10


 

 
Page 8 

 
  

2.  All on-site service areas, outdoor storage areas, waste storage, disposal facilities, and 

transformer and utility vaults shall be located in an area not visible from a public street, or shall 

be fully screened from view from a public street. The site plan depicts screened trash 

enclosures; all proposed transformer/utility vaults and other service areas shall comply with 

this requirement. 

3.  A minimum of eighty (80) square feet (s.f.) of private, usable open space shall be provided for 

each unit. This requirement can be satisfied through porches, patios, decks, and/or enclosed 

yards. Landscaping, entryway and other access ways shall not count toward this requirement. In 

circumstances where strict adherence to such standard would create inconsistency with the 

purpose statements of this section, the Director may consider an alternative design proposal 

through the alternative compliance provisions as set forth in section 11-5B-5 of this title. 

Alternative Compliance is requested to provide zero or a lesser amount of private open space 

than required, as follows: 0 for studio units; 79.58 s.f. for 1-bedroom units; 66.84 s.f. for 2-

bedroom units; 75.91 s.f. for 1-bedroom vertically integrated unit; and 67.8 s.f. for 2-bedroom 

vertically integrated unit.  

As an alternative, the Applicant proposes common open space and site amenities above the 

minimum requirements coupled with innovative new urban design with an emphasis on 

integrated internal open space, facilities and access to the Ten Mile Creek regional pathway 

system. Because the proposed design includes design features consistent with “new urbanism” 

and promotes walkable and mixed-use neighborhoods with access to the adjacent regional 

pathway along the Ten Mile creek and a vast amount of open space, the Director finds the 

Applicant’s proposal to be sufficient and approves the Alternative Compliance request as 

proposed with the condition the 7-foot wide pathway along the southern boundary of the site is 

widened to 10-feet. 

4.  For the purposes of this section, vehicular circulation areas, parking areas, and private usable 

open space shall not be considered common open space. Private usable open space areas for the 

units fronting on Wayfinder were included in the common open space calculations, which don’t 

qualify. However, the internal common open space at 2.2-acres complies with the minimum 

standard; other areas as shown on the plan that are a minimum of 400 square feet in area and 

have a minimum length and width dimension of 20’ also qualify and exceed UDC standards. 

5.  No recreational vehicles, snowmobiles, boats or other personal recreation vehicles shall be 

stored on the site unless provided for in a separate, designated and screened area. The Applicant 

shall comply with this requirement. 

6.  The parking shall meet the requirements set forth in chapter 3, "Regulations Applying to All 

Districts", of this title. The Applicant requests alternative compliance to the parking standards 

listed in UDC Table 11-3C-6, which doesn’t include a requirement for parking for studio units, 

to allow the vertically integrated standard to apply. One (1) space is required for a 1-bedroom 

unit in vertically integrated residential as opposed to a 1-bedroom apartment unit, which 

requires 1.5 spaces with at least one of the spaces being in a covered carport or garage.  

With approval of alternative compliance, a minimum of 372 parking spaces are required with 

194 of those in a covered carport or garage, for (42) studio, (120) 1-bedroom, (74) 2-bedroom 

and (2) vertically integrated residential units. A total of 379 spaces are proposed with 231 of 

those being covered (201 in a covered carport and 30 garage spaces). 

Because the proposed design includes innovative design features based on “new urbanism, “and 

promotes walkable mixed-use neighborhoods, the Director supports the requested alternative 

compliance. 

111Item 6.

https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?ft=3&find=11-5B-5
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?ft=2&find=3


 

 
Page 9 

 
  

Bicycle parking is required per the standards listed in UDC 11-3C-6G and should comply with 

the standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C. One bicycle parking space is required for every 25 

proposed vehicle parking spaces or portion thereof. Based on 379 spaces, a minimum of 15 

spaces are required; a total of 16 spaces are proposed in excess of UDC standards. 

7.  Developments with twenty (20) units or more shall provide the following: 

a.  A property management office.  

b.  A maintenance storage area. 

c.  A central mailbox location, including provisions for parcel mail, that provide safe pedestrian 

and/or vehicular access. 

d.  A directory and map of the development at an entrance or convenient location for those 

entering the development. (Ord. 18-1773, 4-24-2018) 

The site plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application should depict 

the location of these items in accord with this standard.  

C.  Common Open Space Design Requirements: 

1.  A minimum area of outdoor common open space shall be provided as follows: 

a.  One hundred fifty (150) square feet for each unit containing five hundred (500) or less 

square feet of living area. There are no units containing 500 s.f. or less of living area. 

b.  Two hundred fifty (250) square feet for each unit containing more than five hundred (500) 

square feet and up to one thousand two hundred (1,200) square feet of living area. All 238 of 

the units fall within this square footage range; therefore, a minimum of 59,500 square feet 

or 1.37-acres of common open space is required. A total of 2.51-acres (or 32.1%) is 

proposed in accord with this standard. Although some of this area does not qualify (i.e. 

private open space) and is not really usable (i.e. parking lot planters), the internal common 

open space and area along the Ten Mile creek is 2.2-acres, which exceeds UDC standards. 

c.  Three hundred fifty (350) square feet for each unit containing more than one thousand two 

hundred (1,200) square feet of living area. There are no units proposed that contain more 

than 1,200 square feet of living area. 

2.  Common open space shall be not less than four hundred (400) square feet in area, and shall have 

a minimum length and width dimension of twenty feet (20'). The common open space areas 

depicted on the open space exhibit in Section VIII.D meet this requirement. 

3.  In phased developments, common open space shall be provided in each phase of the 

development consistent with the requirements for the size and number of dwelling units. This 

project is proposed to develop in one phase. 

4.  Unless otherwise approved through the conditional use process, common open space areas shall 

not be adjacent to collector or arterial streets unless separated from the street by a berm or 

constructed barrier at least four feet (4') in height, with breaks in the berm or barrier to allow for 

pedestrian access. (Ord. 09-1394, 3-3-2009, eff. retroactive to 2-4-2009) The Applicant requests 

the street buffer along Wayfinder Ave., a collector street, is allowed to count toward the common 

open space for the development although it is not separated from the street by a berm or barrier. 

Without this area, the internal common open space along the creek corridor still meets and 

exceeds the minimum standards.  

D.  Site Development Amenities: 

112Item 6.



 

 
Page 10 

 
  

1.  All multi-family developments shall provide for quality of life, open space and recreation 

amenities to meet the particular needs of the residents as follows: 

a.  Quality of life: 

(1)  Clubhouse. 

 (2)  Fitness facilities. 

 (3)  Enclosed bike storage. 

 (4)  Public art such as a statue. 

b.  Open space: 

(1)  Open grassy area of at least fifty by one hundred feet (50 x 100') in size. 

(2)  Community garden. 

(3)  Ponds or water features. 

(4)  Plaza. 

c. Recreation: 

(1)  Pool. 

(2)  Walking trails. 

(3)  Children's play structures. 

(4)  Sports courts. 

2. The number of amenities shall depend on the size of multi-family development as follows: 

a.  For multi-family developments with less than twenty (20) units, two (2) amenities shall be 

provided from two (2) separate categories.  

b.  For multi-family development between twenty (20) and seventy-five (75) units, three (3) 

amenities shall be provided, with one from each category. 

c.  For multi-family development with seventy-five (75) units or more, four (4) amenities shall 

be provided, with at least one from each category. 

d.  For multi-family developments with more than one hundred (100) units, the decision-

making body shall require additional amenities commensurate to the size of the proposed 

development. 

3.  The decision-making body shall be authorized to consider other improvements in addition to 

those provided under this subsection D, provided that these improvements provide a similar 

level of amenity. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-15-2005) 

Based on 238 proposed units, a minimum of 5 amenities are required but the decision-making 

body is authorized to consider additional similar amenities if they believe the proposed 

amenities aren’t adequate for the size of the development.  

The following amenities are proposed from each category: a clubhouse with a fitness center, 

bike repair room and pet grooming station; swimming pool; open grassy areas at least 50’ x 

100’ in size; fireside seating; grilling area; and sports courts (snookball & ping pong). The Ten 

Mile Creek multi-use pathway also lies adjacent to the site for residents to use. 

E.  Landscaping Requirements: 

113Item 6.



 

 
Page 11 

 
  

1.  Development shall meet the minimum landscaping requirements in accord with chapter 3, 

"Regulations Applying to All Districts", of this title. 

2.  All street facing elevations shall have landscaping along their foundation. The foundation 

landscaping shall meet the following minimum standards: 

a.  The landscaped area shall be at least three feet (3') wide. 

b.  For every three (3) linear feet of foundation, an evergreen shrub having a minimum mature 

height of twenty-four inches (24") shall be planted. 

c.  Ground cover plants shall be planted in the remainder of the landscaped area.  

The landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application should 

depict landscaping along the street facing elevations adjacent to S. Wayfinder Ave. in accord 

with these standards. 

F.  Maintenance and Ownership Responsibilities: All multi-family developments shall record legally 

binding documents that state the maintenance and ownership responsibilities for the management of 

the development, including, but not limited to, structures, parking, common areas, and other 

development features. The Applicant shall comply with this requirement. 

Access: One (1) east/west private street access is proposed via S. Wayfinder Ave. for the development 

with three (3) accesses off the private street. An application for approval of the private street is 

required to be submitted that demonstrates compliance with the design and construction 

standards listed in UDC 11-3F-4.   

A cross-access easement is required to be granted between all non-residential lots in the subdivision per 

requirement of the preliminary plat in accord with UDC 11-3A-3A.2. 

Landscaping (UDC 11-3B): 

A 20-foot wide street buffer exists along S. Wayfinder Ave., a collector street, with on-street parking, 

benches, planters and tree grates in accord with UDC Table 11-2B-3, 11-3B-7C and the TMISAP.   

Landscaping is required within parking lots in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-8C. The 

“diamond” planter islands proposed along the eastern boundary of the site comply with the established 

design standards for TM Crossing.  

Landscaping is required to be provided along the pathway adjacent to the southern boundary of the site 

per the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-12C, which require a mix of trees, shrubs, lawn and/or other 

vegetative groundcover. Landscaping should be added to the landscape plan in accord with this 

standard; calculations demonstrating compliance with this standard should also be included in the 

calculations table. 

Landscaping is required within common open space areas per the standards listed in UDC 11-3G-3E. 

Calculations should be included in the calculations table demonstrating compliance with this 

standard. 

Parking: Off-street vehicle parking is required for the proposed multi-family dwellings and vertically 

integrated residential as set forth in UDC Table 11-3C-6 as discussed above.  

Alternative Compliance (ALT) is requested to UDC 11-3A-19B.3, which requires no more than 50% of 

the total off-street parking area for the site to be located between building facades and abutting streets. 

No parking is proposed between the building and Wayfinder Ave. Garages are proposed adjacent to the 

114Item 6.

https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?ft=2&find=3
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-12PALA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP


 

 
Page 12 

 
  

private street, which screen the parking between the street and the multi-family structures negating the 

need for ALT.  

Pathways: A 7-foot wide pathway is proposed along the southern boundary of the site adjacent to the 

Ten Mile Creek. Staff recommends as a condition of approval of the Applicant’s request for 

Alternative Compliance to the private open space standards in UDC 11-4-3-27B.3, the pathway is 

widened to 10-feet and a 14-foot wide public pedestrian easement is dedicated for the pathway as 

recommended by the Park’s Dept. 

Internal pedestrian walkways are required to be distinguished from the vehicular driving surfaces 

through the use of pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks per UDC 11-3A-19B.4b. 

Fencing: No fencing is depicted on the landscape plan for this development. Any fencing constructed on 

the site should comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-6 and 11-3A-7. 

Building Elevations (UDC 11-3A-19 | Architectural Standards Manual): 

Conceptual building elevations were submitted for the proposed 4-story structures as shown in Section 

VIII.E. Building materials consist of stucco and bricks in neutral colors. Final design is required to 

comply with the adopted TM Crossing Design Guidelines. 

A Certificate of Zoning Compliance application shall be submitted and compliance with the TM 

Crossing design guidelines is required as set forth in the DA prior to submittal of building permit 

applications.  

VII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed RZ and CUP and the Director has approved the requests for 

ALT per the provisions included in Section IX in accord with the Findings in Section X.  

115Item 6.

https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id=&section_id=1165306#1165306
https://meridiancity.org/designreview


 

 
Page 13 

 
  

VIII. EXHIBITS  

A. Legal Description & Exhibit Map for Proposed Rezone 

 

116Item 6.



 

 
Page 14 

 
  

 

117Item 6.



 

 
Page 15 

 
  

B. Site Plan (date: 4/30/2021) 

 

 

 

  

118Item 6.



 

 
Page 16 

 
  

C. Landscape Plan (dated: 5/3/21) 

 

 

119Item 6.



 

 
Page 17 

 
  

D. Qualified Open Space (dated: 5/3/21)  

 

  

120Item 6.



 

 
Page 18 

 
  

E. Conceptual Building Elevations & Renderings for Multi-Family Structures & Clubhouse 

 

 

 

121Item 6.



 

 
Page 19 

 
  

 

 

 

122Item 6.



 

 
Page 20 

 
  

 

 

  

123Item 6.



 

 
Page 21 

 
  

IX. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS  

A. PLANNING DIVISION 

Conditional Use Permit: 

1. The Applicant shall comply with the provisions in the existing Development Agreement (Inst. 2021-

089157) and all other previous conditions of approval. 

2. The multi-family development shall have an ongoing obligation to comply with the specific use 

standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-27.  

3. The multi-family development shall record a legally binding document that states the maintenance 

and ownership responsibilities for the management of the development, including, but not limited to, 

structures, parking, common areas, and other development features as set forth in UDC 11-4-3-27F. 

A recorded copy of said document shall be submitted to the Planning Division prior to issuance 

of the first Certificate of Occupancy for the development. 

4. The site and/or landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance shall be revised 

as follows: 

a.  Depict the locations of the property management office, maintenance storage area, central 

mailbox location (including provisions for parcel mail, that provide safe pedestrian and/or 

vehicular access), and a directory and map of the development at an entrance or convenient 

location for those entering the development in accord with UDC 11-4-3-27B.7. 

b. All transformer and utility vaults and other service areas shall be located in an area not visible 

from a public street, or shall be fully screened from view from a public street in accord with 

UDC 11-4-3-27B.2. 

c. Depict landscaping along the foundations of all street facing elevations adjacent to S. Wayfinder 

Ave. as set forth in UDC 11-4-3-27E.2. 

d. Include a detail of the proposed site amenities. 

e. Depict a gate across the emergency access driveway from W. Franklin Rd. as required by the 

Fire Dept. 

f. Depict landscaping along the pathway adjacent to the southern boundary of the site per the 

standards listed in UDC 11-3B-12C, which require a mix of trees, shrubs, lawn and/or other 

vegetative groundcover. 

g. Calculations should be included in the calculations table demonstrating compliance with the 

required landscaping in common open space areas per UDC 11-3G-3E. 

h. Widen the pathway along the southern boundary of the site to 10-feet. 

i. Internal pedestrian walkways are required to be distinguished from the vehicular driving 

surfaces through the use of pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks per UDC 11-3A-

19B.4b. 

5. Submit an application for the proposed private street that demonstrates compliance with the design 

and construction standards listed in UDC 11-3F-4. 

6. The Director approved the Applicant’s request for Alternative Compliance to the off-street parking 

standards for multi-family dwellings listed in UDC Table 11-3C-6, as follows: a total of 379 spaces 

shall be provided with 231 of those being covered (201 in a covered carport and 30 garage spaces). 

7. The Director approved the Applicant’s request for Alternative Compliance to the private usable open 

space standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-27B.3 for each dwelling unit as follows: 79.58 square feet 

124Item 6.



 

 
Page 22 

 
  

(s.f.) for 1-bedroom units; 66.84 s.f. for 2-bedroom units; 75.91 s.f. for the 1-bedroom vertically 

integrated unit; and 67.8 s.f. for the 2-bedroom vertically integrated unit. Floor plans with square 

footages noted for patios and balconies shall be submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance 

application that demonstrate compliance with the alternative compliance approval. 

8. Submit a 14-foot wide public pedestrian easement for the pathway along the southern boundary of 

the site along the north side of the Ten Mile Creek in accord with Park’s Department requirements.  

9. An application for Certificate of Zoning Compliance shall be submitted for the proposed project and 

approved prior to submittal of building permit applications. Compliance with the design guidelines 

in the Ten Mile Interchange Specific Area Plan and the design standards listed in the Architectural 

Standards Manual as applicable is required. See the Application of the Design Elements matrix on 

pg. 3-49 of the TMISAP for design elements applicable to the proposed development. 

B. PUBLIC WORKS 

No comments at this time. 

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230631&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

D. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

No comments were submitted. 

E. COMMUNITY PLANNING ASSOCIATION OF SOUTHWEST IDAHO (COMPASS) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231480&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

F. NAMPA & MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NMID) 

No comments were submitted. 

G. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT SCHOOL IMPACT TABLE 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231292&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

H. WEST ADA SCHOOL DISTRICT (WASD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231215&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

I. PARK’S DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230766&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

J. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231070&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229086&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

125Item 6.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230631&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231480&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231292&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231215&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=230766&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=231070&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229086&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 23 

 
  

X. FINDINGS  

A. Rezone (UDC 11-5B-3E) 

Upon recommendation from the commission, the council shall make a full investigation and shall at the 

public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an annexation and/or rezone, the council shall 

make the following findings: 

1. The map amendment complies with the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan; 

Staff finds the rezone of the subject site from the TN-C to the C-G zoning district is consistent with 

the associated MU-COM and HDR FLUM designations in the Comprehensive Plan for the subject 

property proposed to be rezoned. 

2. The map amendment complies with the regulations outlined for the proposed district, specifically the 

purpose statement; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment to C-G will assist in providing for the retail and service 

needs of the community consistent with the purpose statements for the district while allowing multi-

family residential uses as desired in the HDR FLUM designation. 

3. The map amendment shall not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare; 

Staff finds that the proposed rezone should not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.  

4. The map amendment shall not result in an adverse impact upon the delivery of services by any 

political subdivision providing public services within the city including, but not limited to, school 

districts; and 

Staff finds that the proposed rezone will not result in any adverse impact upon the delivery of 

services by any political subdivision providing services to this site. 

5. The annexation (as applicable) is in the best interest of city. 

Because this application is for a rezone and not an annexation, this finding is not applicable. 

B. Conditional Use Permit (UDC 11-5B-6E) 

The Commission shall base its determination on the Conditional Use Permit requests upon the following: 

 

1. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional and 

development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

Staff finds that the subject property is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and 

dimensional and development regulations of the C-G district (see Analysis, Section V for more 

information).  

 

2. That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian Comprehensive Plan and in accord with 

the requirements of this Title. 

Staff finds that the proposed use is consistent with the future land use map designations of MU-C 

and HDR and the multi-family residential use is allowed as a conditional use in UDC Table 11-2B-2 

in the C-G zoning district.  

 

3. That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other uses in the 

general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that such 

use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

126Item 6.



 

 
Page 24 

 
  

Staff finds the proposed design of the development, construction, operation and maintenance should 

be compatible with the mix of other uses planned for this area and with the intended character of the 

area and that such uses will not adversely change the character of the area.  

 

4. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not adversely 

affect other property in the vicinity. 

Staff finds that if the applicant complies with the conditions outlined in this report, the proposed use 

will not adversely affect other property in the area. The Commission should weigh any public 

testimony provided to determine if the development will adversely affect other properties in the 

vicinity. 

 

5. That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as 

highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water, 

and sewer. 

Staff finds that essential public services are available to this property and that the use will be 

adequately served by these facilities. 

C. Alternative Compliance (UDC 11-5B-5): 

In order to grant approval of an alternative compliance application, the Director shall determine the 

following: 

1. Strict adherence or application of the requirements is not feasible; OR 

The Director finds strict adherence to the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-27B.3 is feasible. 

Pertaining to the request for Alternative Compliance to UDC Table 11-3C-6, there are no parking 

standards for studio units. 

2.  The alternative compliance provides an equal or superior means for meeting the requirements; and 

The Director finds the proposed alternative compliance of providing integrated internal open space, 

a pathway creek amenity and site amenities and common open space in exess of UDC standards 

coupled with innovative, new-urban design provides a superior means for meeting the requirements 

in UDC 11-4-3-27B.3.  

The Director finds the proposed alternative for parking for studio units provides an equal means for 

meeting the requirements in UDC Table 11-3C-6. 

3. The alternative means will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or impair the intended 

uses and character of the surrounding properties. 

The Director finds that the proposed alternative means of compliance will not be detrimental to the 

public welfare or impair the intended use/character of the surrounding properties. 

127Item 6.



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing Continued from June 3, 2021 for Woodcrest Townhomes (H-
2021-0015) by Blaine A. Womer Civil Engineering, Located at 1789 N. Hickory Way
A. Request: Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map to change the future 

land use designation on 2+/- acres of land from the Commercial to the Medium High-Density 

Residential designation. 

B. Request: Rezone of 2.10 acres of land from the L-O (Limited Office) to the R-15 (Medium High-

Density Residential) zoning district.

128Item 7.



 

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION  
 

Staff Contact: Sonya Allen Meeting Date: July 1, 2021 

Topic: Public Hearing Continued from June 3, 2021 for Woodcrest Townhomes (H-2021-
0015) by Blaine A. Womer Civil Engineering, Located at 1789 N. Hickory Way 

A. Request: Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map to 
change the future land use designation on 2+/- acres of land from the 
Commercial to the Medium High-Density Residential designation.  

B. Request: Rezone of 2.10 acres of land from the L-O (Limited Office) to the R-
15 (Medium High-Density Residential) zoning district. 

 

Information Resources: 

Click Here for Application Materials 

 

Click Here to Sign Up to Testify at the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing 

129Item 7.

http://bit.ly/H-2021-0015
http://bit.ly/H-2021-0015
https://apps.meridiancity.org/SIGNINPZ/


 
 

 
Page 1 

 
  

HEARING 

DATE: 
July 1, 2021 

(Continued from: June 3, 2021) 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 

208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: H-2021-0015 

Woodcrest Townhomes – CPAM, RZ  

LOCATION: 1789 N. Hickory Way, in the SE ¼ of 

Section 5, Township 3N., Range 1E. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (CPAM) to change the future land use 

designation on 2.10-acres of land from Commercial to Medium High-Density Residential; and Rezone (RZ) 

of 2.10-acres of land from the L-O (Limited Office) to the R-15 (Medium High-Density Residential) zoning 

district. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Description Details Page 

Acreage 1.97-acres   

Future Land Use Designation Commercial  

Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped land  

Proposed Land Use(s) Residential and office  

Current Zoning Limited Office (L-O)  

Proposed Zoning R-15 (Medium High-Density Residential)  

Lots (# and type; bldg/common) NA (property is not proposed to be subdivided at this time)  

Phasing plan (# of phases) NA  

Number of Residential Units (type 

of units) 

19 units (single-family attached & townhouse dwellings)  

Density (gross & net) 10.8 units/acre (gross)/13.5 units/acre (net)  

Open Space (acres, total [%] / 

buffer / qualified) 

NA  

130Item 7.



 

 
Page 2 

 
  

 

 

B. Community Metrics 

 

Access (Arterial/Collectors/State 

Hwy/Local)(Existing and Proposed) 

Access is proposed via the existing driveway via Hickory 

Way. 

 

Proposed Road Improvements None  

Fire Service See Section IX.C  

Police Service No comment.  

 
West Ada School District   

Distance (elem, ms, hs) 

 

 

Capacity of Schools  

# of Students Enrolled  

   

Wastewater   

• Distance to Sewer Services Directly Adjacent  

• Sewer Shed Five Mile Trunkshed 

• Estimated Project Sewer 

ERU’s 

See application 

• WRRF Declining Balance 14.14 

• Project Consistent with WW 

Master Plan/Facility Plan 

Yes 

• Impacts/Concerns • Do not have services crossing private lots 

• Flow is committed. 

Amenities 10’ wide multi-use pathway along Meridian Rd./SH-69  

Physical Features (waterways, 

hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

None  

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 

attendees:  

1/28/21; 10 attendees  

 

 

History (previous approvals) Annexed & subdivided in 1992 as Angel Park Sub. (Lot 1, 

Block 1) with L-O zoning; re-subdivided in 2001 (Mallane 

Commercial Complex PP-00-021); FP-03-001 (Lot 4, Block 

1); H-2017-0165 (RZ & CUP – denied) 

 

Description Details Page 

Ada County Highway District   

 • Staff report (yes/no) Yes   

 • Requires ACHD 

Commission Action 

(yes/no) 

No  

 • Existing Conditions  Hickory Way is improved with 2-travel lanes, curb, gutter & 

5’ attached sidewalk. No additional improvements or right-of-

way dedication is required with this application. 

 

 • CIP/IFYWP NA  

131Item 7.



 

 
Page 3 

 
  

• Existing sewer not shown correctly. Missing existing manhole and shown as 

extends further into the property then existing sewer actually goes.  

• There is an existing 8" stub from existing manhole that looks like it will not be 

used. If this is the case the existing stub must be abandoned at the manhole per 

City Requirements. 

• Ensure that infiltration trenches are located so that sewer services do no pass 

through them. 

Water  

• Distance to Services Directly adjacent 

• Pressure Zone 3 

• Estimated Project Water 

ERU’s 

See application 

• Water Quality Concerns None 

• Project Consistent with 

Water Master Plan 

Yes 

• Impacts/Concerns • Do not have services crossing private lots 

 

 

 

  

132Item 7.



 

 
Page 4 

 
  

C. Project Maps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Andrew Newell, Blaine A. Womer Civil Engineering – 4355 W. Emerald St., Ste. 145, Boise, ID 83706 

B. Owner: 

Don Newell, Landmark Pacific Development, LLC – PO Box 1939, Eagle, ID 83616 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 

  
  

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

133Item 7.



 

 
Page 5 

 
  

C. Representative: 

Same as Applicant 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

City Council 

Posting Date 

Newspaper notification 

published in newspaper 5/14/2021   

Radius notification mailed to 

property owners within 300 feet 5/12/2021   

Public hearing notice sign posted 

on site 6/10/2021   

Nextdoor posting 5/11/2021   

V. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS 

LAND USE: This property is designated as Commercial on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) contained in 

the Comprehensive Plan. This designation provides for a full range of commercial uses to serve area 

residents and visitors. Desired uses may include retail, restaurants, personal and professional services, and 

office uses, as well as appropriate public and quasi-public uses. 

The Applicant proposes an amendment to the FLUM to change the existing Commercial designation to 

Medium High-Density Residential (MHDR). The MHDR designation allows for a mix of dwelling types 

including townhouses, condominiums, and apartments. Residential gross densities should range from 8 to 12 

dwelling units per acre. These areas are relatively compact within the context of larger neighborhoods and 

are typically located around or near mixed use commercial or employment areas to provide convenient 

access to services and jobs for residents. Developments need to incorporate high quality architectural design 

and materials and thoughtful site design to ensure quality of place and should also incorporate connectivity 

with adjacent uses and area pathways, attractive landscaping and a project identity.  

The Applicant proposes to develop the site with a total of 19 single-family attached and townhome dwellings 

at a gross density of 10.8 units per acre consistent with the land uses and density desired in MHDR 

designated areas; and an office building.   

This site abuts a larger residential neighborhood to the north and is located in close proximity to mixed use 

designated land and employment uses to the east and southeast, including vacant land yet to be developed, 

The Village at Meridian, Scentsy and other uses along the Eagle Road corridor, which will provide 

convenient access to services and jobs for residents. The development should incorporate high quality 

architectural and site design to ensure quality of place and incorporate connectivity with adjacent uses 

and pathways and include attractive landscaping and a project identity as desired in MHDR 

designated areas. 

Transportation: The Master Street Map (MSM) does not depict any collector streets across this property. 

Goals, Objectives, & Action Items: Staff finds the following Comprehensive Plan policies to be applicable 

to this application and apply to the proposed use of this property (staff analysis in italics): 

• “Encourage a variety of housing types that meet the needs, preferences, and financial capabilities of 

Meridian’s present and future residents.” (2.01.02D) 

134Item 7.

https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/compplan/191217%20Meridian%20Comprehensive%20Plan.pdf


 

 
Page 6 

 
  

 The proposed single-family attached dwellings and 3- and 4-unit townhomes will contribute to the 

variety of residential housing types in this area and within the City as desired. Single-family detached 

and attached homes exist to the north and northeast in Dove Meadows subdivision, zoned R-8. 

• “Permit new development only where it can be adequately served by critical public facilities and 

urban services at the time of final approval, and in accord with any adopted levels of service for 

public facilities and services.” (3.03.03F) 

 City water and sewer service is available and can be extended by the developer with development in 

accord with UDC 11-3A-21.   

• “Avoid the concentration of any one housing type or lot size in any geographical area; provide for 

diverse housing types throughout the City.” (2.01.01G) 

The proposed single-family attached and townhouse dwellings will contribute to the diversity in 

housing types in this area, which currently consist of single-family attached and detached homes.  

• “Require all new development to create a site design compatible with surrounding uses through 

buffering, screening, transitional densities, and other best site design practices.” (3.07.01A) 

The proposed residential uses will provide a transition in uses between existing single-family homes 

to the north and commercial/office uses to the south. 

• “Encourage compatible uses and site design to minimize conflicts and maximize use of land.” 

(3.07.00) 

 The proposed residential development and site design should be compatible with existing abutting 

single-family residential homes to the north.  

• “Support infill development that does not negatively impact the abutting, existing development. 

Infill projects in downtown should develop at higher densities, irrespective of existing 

development.” (2.02.02C) 

The proposed residential infill development shouldn’t negatively impact abutting development as 

existing uses are also residential in nature and the medium high-density residential uses will assist 

in providing a transition to the commercial/office uses to the south. 

• “Maintain a range of residential land use designations that allow diverse lot sizes, housing types, and 

densities.” (2.01.01C) 

The proposed MHDR FLUM designation for this property will contribute to the range of residential 

land use designations in this area of the City which mainly consists of medium density residential 

(MDR). 

• “Ensure development is connected to City of Meridian water and sanitary sewer systems and the 

extension to and through said developments are constructed in conformance with the City of 

Meridian Water and Sewer System Master Plans in effect at the time of development.” (3.03.03A) 

 The proposed development will connect to City water and sewer systems with development of the 

subdivision; services are required to be provided to and though this development in accord with 

current City plans. 

• “Require appropriate landscaping, buffers, and noise mitigation with new development along 

transportation corridors (setback, vegetation, low walls, berms, etc.).” (3.07.01C) 

A street buffer already exists along N. Hickory Way, a collector street, along the northern boundary 

of the site.  

 

135Item 7.



 

 
Page 7 

 
  

•  “Require urban infrastructure be provided for all new developments, including curb and gutter, 

sidewalks, water and sewer utilities.” (3.03.03G) 

 Urban sewer and water infrastructure and curb, gutter and sidewalks are required to be provided 

with development of the future subdivision. 

•  “Maximize public services by prioritizing infill development of vacant and underdeveloped parcels 

within the City over parcels on the fringe.” (2.02.02) 

Development of the subject infill parcel will maximize public services. 

VI. STAFF ANALYSIS 

A. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP AMENDMENT (CPAM) 

As discussed above, the Applicant requests an amendment to the FLUM to change the future land use 

designation on 2.10-acres of land from Commercial to MHDR for the development of 19 single-family 

attached and townhome dwellings at a gross density of 10.8 units per acre. An exhibit map showing the 

existing and proposed FLUM designations is included in Section VIII.A.  

Approval of the proposed amendment to MHDR will contribute to the range of residential land use 

designations and diversity in housing types and densities in this area as desired. Additionally, it will 

provide for a transition in land uses between existing medium density residential uses to the north and 

commercial/office uses to the south and east. The change to a residential designation and subsequent 

proposed development will provide for fewer vehicle trips per day than would result from commercial 

development. For these reasons, Staff is in support of the request for a map amendment to MHDR. 

B. REZONE (RZ) 

The Applicant proposes to rezone 2.10-acre of land from the L-O (Limited Office) to the R-15 (Medium 

High-Density Residential) zoning district consistent with the proposed FLUM designation of MHDR. A 

legal description and exhibit map for the rezone area is included in Section VIII.B. 

This vacant/undeveloped property is an enclave surrounded by property developed with single-family 

residential uses to the north and commercial/office uses to the south and east; only the property to the 

west is yet to develop. Developent of the subject property will provide more efficient provision of City 

services. 

A conceptual site plan and building elevations were submitted showing how the property is planned to 

develop with (19) single-family attached and townhouse dwelling units consisting of (1) single-family 

attached structure, (3) 3-unit townhouses, (2) 4-unit townhouses and a 2,500 square foot office building. 

The property is planned to be subdivided through a future application. The existing subdivision plat (i.e. 

Mallane Subdivision) requires all lots in the subdivision to obtain conditional use permit approval prior 

to construction commencing on the lots; this requirement will be removed with re-subdivision of the 

property. The existing plat also depicts a 10’ PUDI easement and 25’ wide landscape easement along the 

west and north boundaries and a sanitary sewer, water main and public utilities easement along the east 

boundary of the site. The landscape buffer easement will be removed since a landscape buffer isn’t 

required between residential uses and the PUDI easements will be replaced with new easements with the 

future plat. 

Single-family attached and townhouse dwellings are listed as a principal permitted use in the R-15 

zoning district per UDC Table 11-2A-2. Future development is subject to the dimensional standards 

listed in UDC Table 11-2A-7 for the R-15 zoning district.  

The conceptual development plan depicts access to the site via a cross-access easement from an existing 

driveway from N. Hickory Way, a collector street; no stub streets exist to this property. Direct access via 

136Item 7.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-7MEHINSREDIR-


 

 
Page 8 

 
  

N. Hickory Way is prohibited. A private street is planned to provide access to the proposed development 

and for addressing purposes; an application for such should be submitted with the preliminary plat 

application and compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-3F-4 is required. Staff recommends 

the Applicant work with the property owner to the east to extend the private street to Hickory 

Way in order to better facilitate emergency access to the site for wayfinding purposes. 

An attached sidewalk is proposed along one side of the private street for pedestrian access.  

Off-street parking is required to be provided in accord with the standards listed in UDC Table 11-3C-6. 

A minimum of 2 spaces are required per dwelling unit for 1- and 2-bedroom units, with at least one of 

those in an enclosed garage, the other space may be enclosed or a minimum 10’ x 20’ parking pad. For 

3- and 4-bedroom units, a minimum of 4 spaces are required per dwelling unit with at least 2 in an 

enclosed garage, other spaces may be enclosed or a minimum 10’ x 20’ parking pad. Garages are 

proposed for each unit with parking pads in front of the garages. Four extra spaces for guests are 

proposed in the common area near the entry.  On-street parking is not allowed due to the width of the 

private street.  

A minimum of one (1) off-street parking space is required for ever 500 square feet (s.f.) of gross floor 

area for non-residential uses (i.e. the office). Based on 2,500 s.f. for the office, a minimum of (5) spaces 

are required. A total of (9) spaces are proposed, exceeding the minimum standards. Most of the parking 

spaces for the office encroach within the required 20-foot wide buffer to residential uses, which is not 

allowed.  

Because the site is below 5-acres in size, qualified open space and site amenities are not required by the 

UDC per UDC 11-3G-2. A total of 0.29-acre of open space is proposed as shown on the concept plan.  

A 20-foot wide landscaped street buffer and attached sidewalk exists on this site along N. Hickory Way 

that was installed with the subdivision improvements that is proposed (and required) to remain. 

Conceptual building elevations were submitted for the single-family attached and 3-unit and 4-unit 

townhouse structures as shown in Section VIII.D. Building elevations consist of a mix of materials 

including horizontal wood siding, vertical board and batten siding, wood shake siding and cement plaster 

with stone veneer accents and architectural asphalt roofing. Conceptual building elevations were also 

submitted for the office with building materials consisting of cement plaster with stone veneer and 

decorative wood timber accents and architectural asphalt roofing consistent with the residential 

structures. Final design of all structures is required to comply with the design standards in the 

Architectural Standards Manual. Detailed review of the elevations for compliance with these standards 

will take place with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Design Review application prior to 

application for building permits.  

The City may require a development agreement (DA) in conjunction with a rezone pursuant to Idaho 

Code section 67-6511A. To ensure the site develops as proposed with this application, Staff 

recommends a DA is required with the provisions discussed above and included in Section IX.A. 

Staff Recommendation: Because this is an infill property and has an irregular configuration, 

development of this site is difficult. The proposed concept plan with an office at the southeast 

corner with parking that encroaches within the required land use buffer does not comply with 

UDC standards as noted above and is constricted. The Comprehensive Plan states development in 

MHDR designated areas should incorporate high quality architectural and site design to ensure 

quality of place and incorporate connectivity with adjacent uses and pathways and include 

attractive landscaping and a project identity. To achieve this goal and alleviate some of the spacial 

constrictions on the site, Staff recommends as a provision of the rezone that the office building is 

removed from the plan and open space with quality landscaping and some parking is provided 

instead with pathways along the south and east sides of the development and a gazebo with a 

137Item 7.

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTFPRSTRE_11-3F-4ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/Architectural%20Standards%20160802.pdf


 

 
Page 9 

 
  

seating area as an amenity which can be shared between the residential and commercial 

development. Prior to the City Council hearing, the Applicant should revise the concept plan 

accordingly. 

VII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed amendment to the Future Land Use Map and Rezone with 

the requirement of a Development Agreement per the provisions in Section IX in accord with the 

Findings in Section X. 

  

138Item 7.



 

 
Page 10 

 
  

VIII. EXHIBITS  

A. Future Land Use Map – Adopted & Proposed Land Uses 

 

139Item 7.



 

 
Page 11 

 
  

 

B. Rezone Legal Description and Exhibit Map 

 

 

 

140Item 7.



 

 
Page 12 

 
  

 

141Item 7.



 

 
Page 13 

 
  

 

 

142Item 7.



 

 
Page 14 

 
  

C. Conceptual Development Plan (NOT APPROVED) 

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

  

143Item 7.



 

 
Page 15 

 
  

D. Conceptual Building Elevations 

 

 

144Item 7.



 

 
Page 16 

 
  

 

 

145Item 7.



 

 
Page 17 

 
  

 

 

146Item 7.



 

 
Page 18 

 
  

 

  

147Item 7.



 

 
Page 19 

 
  

IX. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS  

A. PLANNING DIVISION 

Prior to the City Council hearing, Staff recommends the conceptual development plan is revised to 

remove the office building and replace it with common open space with quality landscaping that 

incorporates the following: parking, pedestrian pathways along the south and east sides of the 

development, and a gazebo with a seating area which can be shared between the residential and 

commercial development. 

1. A Development Agreement (DA) is required as a provision of annexation of this property. Prior to 

approval of the annexation ordinance, a DA shall be entered into between the City of Meridian, the 

property owner(s) at the time of annexation ordinance adoption, and the developer.   

Currently, a fee of $303.00 shall be paid by the Applicant to the Planning Division prior to 

commencement of the DA. The DA shall be signed by the property owner and returned to the 

Planning Division within six (6) months of the City Council granting the annexation. The DA shall, 

at minimum, incorporate the following provisions:  

a. Future development of this site shall be generally consistent with the conceptual development 

plan and building elevations included in Section VIII and the provisions contained herein. 

b. Future development shall comply with the design standards listed in the Architectural Standards 

Manual. An application for Design Review shall be submitted and approved for the single-

family attached and townhouse structures prior to submittal of building permit applications.  

c. Direct access via Hickory Way is prohibited. 

d. The proposed development shall incorporate high quality architectural design and materials and 

thoughtful site design to ensure quality of place and also incorporate connectivity with adjacent 

uses and area pathways, attractive landscaping and a project identity consistent with the Medium 

High-Density Residential Future Land Use Map designation in the Comprehensive Plan. 

e. The subject property shall be subdivided prior to submittal of a Certificate of Zoning 

Compliance and Design Review application(s) for the site. 

f. The Applicant shall work with the property owner to the east to extend the private street to 

Hickory Way if possible in order to better facilitate emergency access to the site for wayfinding 

purposes. 

 

B. PUBLIC WORKS 

Site Specific Conditions of Approval 

1.1 No Permanent structures (buildings, carports, trash receptacle walls, fences, infiltration trenches, 

lightpoles, etc.) can be built within the utility easement. 

1.2 Do not have water and/or sewer services crossing private lots. 

1.3 The existing sewer is not shown correctly. Missing existing manhole and shown as extending 

further into the property then existing sewer actually goes. 

1.4 There is an existing 8" sewer stub from existing manhole that looks like it will not be used. If 

this is the case the existing stub must be abandoned at the manhole per City Requirements. 

1.5 Ensure that infiltration trenches are located so that sewer services do no pass through them. 

148Item 7.



 

 
Page 20 

 
  

General Conditions of Approval  

2.1 Applicant shall coordinate water and sewer main size and routing with the Public Works 

Department, and execute standard forms of easements for any mains that are required to provide 

service outside of a public right-of-way.  Minimum cover over sewer mains is three feet, if cover 

from top of pipe to sub-grade is less than three feet than alternate materials shall be used in 

conformance of City of Meridian Public Works Departments Standard Specifications. 

2.2 Per Meridian City Code (MCC), the applicant shall be responsible to install sewer and water 

mains to and through this development.  Applicant may be eligible for a reimbursement 

agreement for infrastructure enhancement per MCC 8-6-5.  

2.3 The applicant shall provide easement(s) for all public water/sewer mains outside of public right 

of way (include all water services and hydrants).  The easement widths shall be 20-feet wide for 

a single utility, or 30-feet wide for two.  The easements shall not be dedicated via the plat, but 

rather dedicated outside the plat process using the City of Meridian’s standard forms. The 

easement shall be graphically depicted on the plat for reference purposes. Submit an executed 

easement (on the form available from Public Works), a legal description prepared by an Idaho 

Licensed Professional Land Surveyor, which must include the area of the easement (marked 

EXHIBIT A) and an 81/2” x 11” map with bearings and distances (marked EXHIBIT B) for 

review. Both exhibits must be sealed, signed and dated by a Professional Land Surveyor. DO 

NOT RECORD.  Add a note to the plat referencing this document.  All easements must be 

submitted, reviewed, and approved prior to development plan approval.  

2.4 The City of Meridian requires that pressurized irrigation systems be supplied by a year-round 

source of water (MCC 12-13-8.3). The applicant should be required to use any existing surface 

or well water for the primary source.  If a surface or well source is not available, a single-point 

connection to the culinary water system shall be required. If a single-point connection is utilized, 

the developer will be responsible for the payment of assessments for the common areas prior to 

prior to receiving development plan approval.  

2.5 All existing structures that are required to be removed shall be prior to signature on the final plat 

by the City Engineer.  Any structures that are allowed to remain shall be subject to evaluation 

and possible reassignment of street addressing to be in compliance with MCC. 

2.6 All irrigation ditches, canals, laterals, or drains, exclusive of natural waterways, intersecting, 

crossing or laying adjacent and contiguous to the area being subdivided shall be addressed per 

UDC 11-3A-6.  In performing such work, the applicant shall comply with Idaho Code 42-1207 

and any other applicable law or regulation. 

2.7 Any existing domestic well system within this project shall be removed from domestic service 

per City Ordinance Section 9-1-4 and 9 4 8 contact the City of Meridian Engineering 

Department at (208)898-5500 for inspections of disconnection of services. Wells may be used 

for non-domestic purposes such as landscape irrigation if approved by Idaho Department of 

Water Resources Contact Robert B. Whitney at (208)334-2190.   

2.8 Any existing septic systems within this project shall be removed from service per City 

Ordinance Section 9-1-4 and 9 4 8.  Contact Central District Health for abandonment procedures 

and inspections (208)375-5211.  

2.9 Street signs are to be in place, sanitary sewer and water system shall be approved and activated, 

road base approved by the Ada County Highway District and the Final Plat for this subdivision 

shall be recorded, prior to applying for building permits. 

2.10 A letter of credit or cash surety in the amount of 110% will be required for all uncompleted 

fencing, landscaping, amenities, etc., prior to signature on the final plat. 

149Item 7.



 

 
Page 21 

 
  

2.11 All improvements related to public life, safety and health shall be completed prior to occupancy 

of the structures. Where approved by the City Engineer, an owner may post a performance 

surety for such improvements in order to obtain City Engineer signature on the final plat as set 

forth in UDC 11-5C-3B. 

2.12 Applicant shall be required to pay Public Works development plan review, and construction 

inspection fees, as determined during the plan review process, prior to the issuance of a plan 

approval letter.  

2.13 It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that all development features comply with 

the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Fair Housing Act. 

2.14 Applicant shall be responsible for application and compliance with any Section 404 Permitting 

that may be required by the Army Corps of Engineers. 

2.15 Developer shall coordinate mailbox locations with the Meridian Post Office. 

2.16 All grading of the site shall be performed in conformance with MCC 11-12-3H. 

2.17 Compaction test results shall be submitted to the Meridian Building Department for all building 

pads receiving engineered backfill, where footing would sit atop fill material. 

2.18 The design engineer shall be required to certify that the street centerline elevations are set a 

minimum of 3-feet above the highest established peak groundwater elevation.  This is to ensure 

that the bottom elevation of the crawl spaces of homes is at least 1-foot above. 

2.19 The applicants design engineer shall be responsible for inspection of all irrigation and/or    

drainage facility within this project that do not fall under the jurisdiction of an irrigation district 

or ACHD. The design engineer shall provide certification that the facilities have been installed 

in accordance with the approved design plans. This certification will be required before a 

certificate of occupancy is issued for any structures within the project.  

2.20 At the completion of the project, the applicant shall be responsible to submit record drawings per 

the City of Meridian AutoCAD standards.  These record drawings must be received and 

approved prior to the issuance of a certification of occupancy for any structures within the 

project.  

2.21 A street light plan will need to be included in the civil construction plans. Street light plan 

requirements are listed in section 6-5 of the Improvement Standards for Street Lighting. A copy 

of the standards can be found at http://www.meridiancity.org/public_works.aspx?id=272. 

2.22 The City of Meridian requires that the owner post to the City a performance surety in the amount 

of 125% of the total construction cost for all incomplete sewer, water and reuse infrastructure 

prior to final plat signature. This surety will be verified by a line item cost estimate provided by 

the owner to the City. The surety can be posted in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit, cash 

deposit or bond. Applicant must file an application for surety, which can be found on the 

Community Development Department website.  Please contact Land Development Service for 

more information at 887-2211. 

2.23 The City of Meridian requires that the owner post to the City a warranty surety in the amount of 

20% of the total construction cost for all completed sewer, water and reuse infrastructure for 

duration of two years. This surety will be verified by a line item cost estimate provided by the 

owner to the City. The surety can be posted in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit, cash 

deposit or bond. Applicant must file an application for surety, which can be found on the 

Community Development Department website.  Please contact Land Development Service for 

more information at 887-2211.. 

150Item 7.



 

 
Page 22 

 
  

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

1. Roadways: When required by the Fire Marshall, “No Parking Fire Lane” signs shall be used per 

appendix D of the 2018 IFC. No other signs shall be approved: 

Roadways: All entrances, internal roads, drive aisles, and alleys shall have a turning radius of 28’ 

inside and 48’ outside, per International Fire Code Section 503.2.4. 

Roadways: All common driveways and alleys shall be maintained at all times for access by fire, 

police and EMS at all times of the year. 

D. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

No comments at this time. 

E. NAMPA & MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NMID) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228988&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr

=1   

F. CENTRAL DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT (CDHD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228242&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity   

G. WEST ADA SCHOOL DISTRICT (WASD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229685&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

H. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD)  

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228193&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

X. FINDINGS 

A. Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment  

Upon recommendation from the Commission, the Council shall make a full investigation and shall, at the 

public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, the 

Council shall make the following findings: 

1. The proposed amendment is consistent with the other elements of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Staff finds the proposed amendment to MHDR is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan in that the 

proposed infill development will provide a transiton in uses from single-family residential to 

commercial uses to the south and contribute to the diversity in housing types in this area as desired.  

2. The proposed amendment provides an improved guide to future growth and development of 

the city. 

Staff finds that the proposal to change the FLUM designation from Commercial to MHDR will allow 

a transition in uses between existing medium density residential homes and commercial uses and 

will provide an improved guide to future growth and development of the City. 

3. The proposed amendment is internally consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

Staff finds that the proposed amendment is consistent with the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan as noted in Section V.  

4. The proposed amendment is consistent with the Unified Development Code.  

151Item 7.

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228988&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228988&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228242&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=229685&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=228193&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 
Page 23 

 
  

Staff finds that the proposed amendment is consistent with the Unified Development Code.  

5. The amendment will be compatible with existing and planned surrounding land uses. 

Staff finds the proposed amendment will be compatible with abutting existing residential uses and 

existing commercial land uses in the near vicinity.  

6. The proposed amendment will not burden existing and planned service capabilities. 

Staff finds that the proposed amendment will not burden existing and planned service capabilities in 

this portion of the city. Sewer and water services are available to be extended to this site. 

 

7. The proposed map amendment (as applicable) provides a logical juxtaposition of uses that 

allows sufficient area to mitigate any anticipated impact associated with the development of 

the area. 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment provides a logical juxtaposition of uses and sufficient area 

to mitigate any development impacts to adjacent properties.  

8. The proposed amendment is in the best interest of the City of Meridian. 

For the reasons stated in Section V and the subject findings above, Staff finds that the proposed 

amendment is in the best interest of the City. 

B. Annexation and/or Rezone (UDC 11-5B-3E) 

Required Findings: Upon recommendation from the commission, the council shall make a full 

investigation and shall, at the public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an annexation 

and/or rezone, the council shall make the following findings: 

1. The map amendment complies with the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan; 

The Applicant is proposing to rezone the subject property with R-15 zoning and develop single-family 

attached and townhouse dwellings on the site at a gross density of 9.64 units per acre consistent with 

the proposed MHDR FLUM designation for this property. (See section V above for more information.) 

2. The map amendment complies with the regulations outlined for the proposed district, 

specifically the purpose statement; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment to R-15 and development generally complies with the 

purpose statement of the residential districts in that it will contribute to the range of housing 

opportunities available in the City consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

3. The map amendment shall not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, and 

welfare; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment should not be detrimental to the public health, safety and 

welfare as the proposed residential uses should be compatible with adjacent single-family 

residential homes/uses in the area. 

4. The map amendment shall not result in an adverse impact upon the delivery of services by any 

political subdivision providing public services within the city including, but not limited to, 

school districts; and 

Staff finds City services are available to be provided to this development.  

152Item 7.



 

 
Page 24 

 
  

5. The annexation (as applicable) is in the best interest of city. 

This findings is not applicable as a rezone, not an annexation, is proposed. 

153Item 7.


	Top
	Item 1.	MIN 2021-06-17 Planning and Zoning Commission
	Meeting Minutes

	Item 2.	FFCL H-2021-0030 Popeyes Drive-Through
	Findings
	Exhibit A

	Item 3.	FFCL H-2021-0033 Topgolf
	Findings
	Exhibit A

	Item 4.	PHPZ H-2021-0039 Orchard Park Pad C Drive-Through
	Memo
	Staff Report

	Item 5.	PHPZ H-2021-0037 DaVinci Park Drive-Through
	Memo
	Staff Report

	Item 6.	PHPZ H-2021-0035 TM Creek Apartments Phase 3
	Memo
	Staff Report

	Item 7.	PHPZ Contd from 6/3/2021 H-2021-0015 Woodcrest Townhomes
	Memo
	Staff Report (Revised)

	Bottom

